Document:-A/CN.4/199

Report of the International Law Commission on the work of its nineteenth session, 8 May -14 July 1967, Official Records of the General Assembly, Twenty-second Session, Supplement No. 9 (A/6709/Rev.1and Corr.1)

Topic: <multiple topics>

Extract from the Yearbook of the International Law Commission:-1967, vol. II

Downloaded from the web site of the International Law Commission (http://www.un.org/law/ilc/index.htm)

Copyright © United Nations

REPORT OF THE COMMISSION TO THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY

DOCUMENTS A/6709/REV.1 AND REV.1/CORR.1

Report of the International Law Commission on the work of its nineteenth session 8 May-14 July 1967

CONTENTS		
	aragraphs Pe	age
CHAPTER I: ORGANIZATION OF THE SESSION	1-8 3	44
A. Membership and attendance	2-3 3	44
B. Officers	4-6 3	44
C. Agenda	7-8 3	44
CHAPTER II: SPECIAL MISSIONS	9-35 3-	45
A. Historical background	9-32 3-	45
B. Recommendation of the Commission	33-34 3	47
C. Resolution adopted by the Commission	35 34	47
D. Draft articles on special missions with commentaries	-	47 47
Part II. — Facilities, privileges and immunities (Articles 21 to 47)	3:	58
Part III. — General provisions (Articles 48 to 50)	- 30	67
Annex: Draft preamble for a Convention on special missions	30	67
CHAPTER III: OTHER DECISIONS AND CONCLUSIONS OF THE COMMISSION	36-64 30	68
A. Organization of future work	36-49 30	68
1. Succession of States and Governments		68
2. State responsibility		68
3. Relations between States and inter-governmental organizations		69
4. Additional topics suggested for inclusion in the programme of work		69 60
5. Review of the Commission's programme and methods of work	49 30	69
B. Date and place of the twentieth session	50 30	69
C. Co-operation with other bodies \ldots	51-58 37	70
1. Asian-African Legal Consultative Committee		70
2. European Committee on Legal Co-operation		70
3. Inter-American Juridical Committee	57-58 37	70
D. Representation at the twenty-second session of the General Assembly	59 37	70
E. Preparations for the Conference on the Law of Treaties	60 37	70
F. Seminar on International Law	61-64 37	71

ANNEXES

1.	Comments by (Governments	on	the	draft	articles	on	special	missions	adopted	by	the	Com-	
	mission in	1965	•	•••			• •	• • • •				• •		371

ANNEXES (continued)

CHAPTER I

Organization of the session

1. The International Law Commission, established in pursuance of General Assembly resolution 174 (II) of 21 November 1947 and in accordance with its Statute annexed thereto, as subsequently amended, held its nineteenth session at the United Nations Office at Geneva from 8 May to 14 July 1967. The work of the Commission during that session is described in this report. Chapter II of the report, on special missions, contains a description of the Commission's work on that topic, together with fifty draft articles and commentaries thereon, as finally approved by the Commission. Chapter III relates to the organization of the Commission's future work and to a number of administrative and other questions.

A. MEMBERSHIP AND ATTENDANCE

- 2. The Commission consists of the following members: Mr. Roberto Ago (Italy)
 - Mr. Fernando Albónico (Chile)
 - Mr. Gilberto AMADO (Brazil)
 - Mr. Milan BARTOŠ (Yugoslavia)
 - Mr. Mohammed BEDJAOUI (Algeria)
 - Mr. Jorge CASTAÑEDA (Mexico)
 - Mr. Erik CASTREN (Finland)
 - Mr. Abdullah EL-ERIAN (United Arab Republic)
 - Mr. Taslim O. ELIAS (Nigeria)
 - Mr. Constantin Th. EUSTATHIADES (Greece)
 - Mr. Louis IGNACIO-PINTO (Dahomey)
 - Mr. Eduardo JIMÉNEZ DE ARÉCHAGA (Uruguay)
 - Mr. Richard D. KEARNEY (United States of America)
 - Mr. NAGENDRA SINGH (India)
 - Mr. Alfred RAMANGASOAVINA (Madagascar)
 - Mr. Paul REUTER (France)
 - Mr. Shabtai ROSENNE (Israel)
 - Mr. José María Ruda (Argentina)
 - Mr. Abdul Hakim TABIBI (Afghanistan)
 - Mr. Arnold J. P. TAMMES (Netherlands)
 - Mr. Senjin TSURUOKA (Japan)
 - Mr. Nikolai USHAKOV (Union of Soviet Socialist Republics)
 - Mr. Endre Ustor (Hungary)
 - Sir Humphrey WALDOCK (United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland)
 - Mr. Mustafa Kamil YASSEEN (Iraq).

3. Except for Mr. Gilberto Amado, Mr. Taslim O. Elias and Mr. José María Ruda, who were unable to be present, all members attended the nineteenth session.

B. Officers

4. At its 895th meeting, held on 8 May 1967, the Commission elected the following officers:

Chairman: Sir Humphrey Waldock

First Vice-Chairman: Mr. José María Ruda

Second Vice-Chairman: Mr. Endre Ustor

Rapporteur: Mr. Abdullah El-Erian.

5. At its 908th meeting, held on 26 May 1967, the Commission appointed a Drafting Committee composed as follows:

Chairman: Mr. José María Ruda (in whose absence the Committee was presided over by Mr. Roberto Ago or Mr. Endre Ustor)

Members: Mr. Roberto Ago; Mr. Fernando Albónico; Mr. Milan Bartoš; Mr. Abdullah El-Erian; Mr. Richard D. Kearney; Mr. Alfred Ramangasoavina; Mr. Paul Reuter; Mr. Shabtai Rosenne; Mr. Nikolai Ushakov; Mr. Endre Ustor; and Mr. Mustafa Kamil Yasseen.

Mr. Albónico was replaced in his absence by Mr. Jorge Castañeda or Mr. Eduardo Jiménez de Aréchaga.

6. Mr. Constantin A. Stavropoulos, Legal Counsel, attended the 941st meeting, held on 14 July 1967, and represented the Secretary-General on that occasion. Mr. Anatoly P. Movchan, Director of the Codification Division of the Office of Legal Affairs, represented the Secretary-General at the other meetings of the session, and acted as Secretary to the Commission.

C. Agenda

7. The Commission adopted an agenda for the nineteenth session, consisting of the following items:

- 1. Special missions
- 2. Relations between States and inter-governmental organizations
- 3. State responsibility
- 4. Succession of States and Governments
- 5. Co-operation with other bodies
- 6. Organization of future work
- 7. Date and place of the twentieth session
- 8. Other business

8. In the course of the session, the Commission held forty-seven public meetings. In addition, the Drafting

Committee held eleven meetings. The Commission considered all the items on its agenda except item 2—Relations between States and inter-governmental organizations which it was unable to discuss because Mr. Abdullah El-Erian, the Special Rapporteur on that topic, was obliged to leave Geneva.

CHAPTER II

Special missions

A. HISTORICAL BACKGROUND

9. At its tenth session, in 1958, the International Law Commission adopted a set of draft articles on diplomatic intercourse and immunities. The Commission observed, however, that the draft dealt only with permanent diplomatic missions. Diplomatic relations between States also assumed other forms that might be placed under the heading of "ad hoc diplomacy", covering itinerant envoys, diplomatic conferences and special missions sent to a State for limited purposes. The Commission considered that these forms of diplomacy should also be studied, in order to bring out the rules of law governing them, and requested the Special Rapporteur to make a study of the question and to submit his report at a future session.¹ The Commission decided at its eleventh session (1959) to place the question of *ad hoc* diplomacy as a special topic on the agenda for its twelfth session (1960).

10. Mr. A. E. F. Sandström was appointed Special Rapporteur. He submitted his report² to the twelfth session, and on the basis of this report the Commission took decisions and drew up recommendations on the rules concerning special missions.³ The Commission's draft was very brief. It was based on the idea that the rules on diplomatic intercourse and immunities in general prepared by the Commission should, on the whole, be applied to special missions by analogy. The Commission expressed the opinion that this brief draft should be referred to the Conference on Diplomatic Intercourse and Immunities convened at Vienna in the spring of 1961. But it stressed that it had not been able to give this draft the thorough study it would normally have done. For that reason, the Commission regarded its draft as only a preliminary survey, carried out in order to put forward certain ideas and suggestions which should be taken into account at the Vienna Conference.⁴

11. At its 943rd plenary meeting on 12 December 1960, the General Assembly decided, on the recommendation of the Sixth Committee, that these draft articles should be referred to the Vienna Conference with the recommendation that the Conference should consider them together with the draft articles on diplomatic intercourse and immunities.⁵ The Vienna Conference placed this question on its agenda and appointed a special Sub-Committee to study it.⁶

12. The Sub-Committee noted that the draft articles did little more than indicate which of the rules on permanent missions applied to special missions and which did not. The Sub-Committee took the view that the draft articles were unsuitable for inclusion in the final convention without long and detailed study, which could take place only after a set of rules on permanent missions had been finally adopted. The Sub-Committee therefore recommended that the Conference should refer this question back to the General Assembly so that the Assembly could recommend the International Law Commission to make a further study of the topic, i.e., to continue to study the topic in the light of the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations which was then drawn up. At its fourth plenary meeting, on 10 April 1961, the Conference adopted the Sub-Committee's recommendations.7

13. Consequently, the matter was again submitted to the General Assembly. On 18 December 1961, the General Assembly, on the recommendation of the Sixth Committee, adopted resolution 1687 (XVI), in which it requested the International Law Commission to study the subject further and to report thereon to the General Assembly.

14. In pursuance of that resolution, the question was referred back to the International Law Commission, which decided, at its 669th meeting, on 27 June 1962, to place it on the agenda for its fifteenth session. The Commission also requested the Secretariat to prepare a working paper on the subject.

15. During its fifteenth session (1963), at the 712th meeting, the Commission appointed Mr. Milan Bartoš as Special Rapporteur for the topic of special missions.

16. On that occasion, the Commission took the following decision:

With regard to the approach to the codification of the topic, the Commission decided that the Special Rapporteur should prepare a draft of articles. These articles should be based on the provisions of the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations, 1961, but the Special Rapporteur should keep in mind that special missions are, both by virtue of their functions and by their nature, an institution distinct from permanent missions. In addition, the Commission thought that the time was not yet ripe for deciding whether the draft articles on special missions should be in the form of an additional protocol to the Vienna Convention, 1961, or should be embodied in a separate convention or in any other appropriate form, and that the Commission should await the Special Rapporteur's recommendations on that subject.⁸

17. In addition, the Commission considered again whether the topic of special missions should also cover the status of government delegates to congresses and

¹ Yearbook of the International Law Commission, 1958, vol. II, p. 89, para. 51.

² Yearbook of the International Law Commission, 1960, vol. II, p. 108.

⁸ Ibid., pp. 179 and 180.

⁴ Ibid., p. 179.

⁵ Resolution 1504 (XV).

⁶ The Sub-Committee was composed of the representatives of Ecuador, Iraq, Italy, Japan, Senegal, the USSR, the United Kingdom, the United States of America and Yugoslavia.

⁷ Yearbook of the International Law Commission, 1963, vol. II, p. 157, paras. 44-45.

⁸ Ibid., p. 225, para. 64.

conferences. In this connexion, at its fifteenth session, the Commission inserted the following paragraph in its annual report to the General Assembly:

With regard to the scope of the topic, the members agreed that the topic of special missions should also cover itinerant envoys, in accordance with its decision at its 1960 session.⁹ At that session the Commission had also decided ¹⁰ not to deal with the privileges and immunities of delegates to congresses and conferences as part of the study of special missions, because the topic of diplomatic conferences was connected with that of relations between States and inter-governmental organizations. At the present session, the question was raised again, with particular reference to conferences convened by States. Most of the members expressed the opinion, however, that for the time being the terms of reference of the Special Rapporteur should not cover the question of delegates to congresses and conferences.¹¹

18. The Special Rapporteur submitted his report,¹² which was placed on the agenda for the Commission's sixteenth session (1964).

19. The Commission considered the report twice. First, at the 723rd, 724th and 725th meetings, it engaged in a general discussion and gave the Special Rapporteur general instructions for continuing his study and submitting the continuation of his report at the following session. Secondly, at the 757th, 758th, 760th-763rd and 768th-770th meetings, it examined a number of draft articles and adopted sixteen articles subject to their being supplemented, if necessary, during its seventeenth session. These articles were submitted to the General Assembly and to the Governments of Member States for information.

20. Owing to the circumstances prevailing at the time of its regular session in 1964, the General Assembly did not discuss the report and consequently did not express its opinion to the Commission. Hence, the Commission had to resume its work on the topic at the point it had reached at its sixteenth session in 1964. The Special Rapporteur expressed the hope that the reports on this topic submitted at the 1964 and 1965 sessions would be consolidated in a single report.

21. The topic of special missions was placed on the agenda for the first part of the Commission's seventeenth session (1965) at which the Special Rapporteur submitted his second report.¹³ The Commission considered that report at its 804th-809th, 817th, 819th and 820th meetings.

22. The Commission considered all the articles proposed in the Special Rapporteur's second report. It adopted 28 articles of the draft, which follow on from the 16 articles adopted at the sixteenth session. The Commission requested that the General Assembly should consider all the articles adopted at the sixteenth and the first part of the seventeenth sessions as a single draft.¹⁴

¹⁴ Ibid., p. 165, para. 42.

23. In preparing the draft articles, the Commission has sought to codify the modern rules of international law concerning special missions, and the articles formulated by the Commission contain elements of progressive development as well as of codification of the law.

24. In conformity with articles 16 and 21 of its Statute, the Commission decided to comunicate its draft articles on special missions to Governments through the Secretary-General, inviting their comments. The Governments were asked to submit their comments by 1 May 1966.

25. The Commission decided to submit to the General Assembly and to the Governments of Member States, in addition to the draft articles in chapter III, section B, of its report on the work of the first part of its seventeenth session, certain other decisions, suggestions and observations set forth in section C of that chapter, on which the Commission requested any comments likely to facilitate its subsequent work on special missions.¹⁵ In conformity with a decision taken by the Commission, the draft articles on special missions were transmitted by the Secretary-General to the Governments of Member States for comment.

26. In 1965, the General Assembly discussed the draft articles at its twentieth session and, on the proposal of the Sixth Committee, recommended, in its resolution 2045 (XX), of 8 December 1965, that the International Law Commission should continue the work of codification and progressive development of international law relating to special missions, taking into account the views expressed on the draft in the General Assembly and the comments which might be submitted by Governments.

27. At its eighteenth session (1966), the Special Rapporteur submitted a third report¹⁶ to the Commission, which also had before it the comments received from Governments on the draft articles on special missions.¹⁷ However, as it had decided to complete the study of its draft on the law of treaties, the Commission was able to devote only a limited amount of time to the draft articles on special missions during that session. It did, however, consider, at its 877th, 878th and 881st to 883rd meetings, certain questions of a general nature affecting special missions, which had arisen out of the comments by the Governments of Member States and the views expressed by their representatives in the Sixth Committee at the twentieth session of the General Assembly.

28. The general questions considered by the Commission were: the nature of the provisions relating to special missions; the distinction between the different kinds of special missions; the question of introducing into the

⁹ Yearbook of the International Law Commission, 1960, vol. I, 565th meeting, para. 26.

¹⁰ *Ibid.*, para. 25.

¹¹ Yearbook of the International Law Commission, 1963, vol. II, p. 225, para. 63.

¹² Yearbook of the International Law Commission, 1964, vol. II, p. 67.

¹³ Yearbook of the International Law Commission, 1965, vol. II, p. 109.

¹⁵ Draft provisions concerning so-called high-level special missions prepared by the Special Rapporteur, but not discussed by the Commission, were annexed to chapter III of the report of the Commission on the work of the first part of its seventeenth session (*Yearbook of the International Law Commission*, 1965, vol. II, p. 192).

¹⁶ Yearbook of the International Law Commission, 1966, vol. II, documents A/CN.4/189 and Add.1 and 2.

 $^{^{17}}$ A/CN.4/188 and Add.1-4. The second part of this document reproduces extracts from the summary records of the meetings of the Sixth Committee containing the views expressed on the draft articles on special missions.

draft articles a provision prohibiting discrimination; reciprocity in the application of the rules on special missions; the relationship of those rules with other international agreements; the form of the instrument relating to special missions; the adoption of the instrument relating to special missions; the drafting of a preamble and an introductory article; the arrangement of the articles of the draft; and the question of drafting provisions concerning the legal status of so-called highlevel special missions.

29. The Commission took certain decisions of principle concerning the questions mentioned above and invited the Special Rapporteur to take into consideration in continuing his work, a number of recommendations and directives. The report of the Commission on its eighteenth session records those recommendations and directives.¹⁸ Furthermore, as the Commission did not have time to consider the comments of Governments on the draft articles, and as only a small number of Governments had communicated their comments, the Commission asked the Secretary-General again to request Member States to forward their comments on the subject before 1 March 1967.¹⁹

30. In 1966, during its twenty-first session, the General Assembly considered the Commission's report and certain representatives in the Sixth Committee expressed views on the chapter on special missions. In its resolution 2167 (XXI), of 5 December 1966, the General Assembly requested the International Law Commission to continue its work of codification and progressive development of the international Iaw relating to special missions and to present a final draft on the topic in its report on the work of its nineteenth session, taking into account the views expressed by representatives of Member States at the twenty-first session of the General Assembly and any comments which might be submitted by Governments.

31. At its eighteenth session, the International Law Commission asked Mr. Milan Bartoš, the Special Rapporteur, whose term of office as member of the Commission was to expire on 31 December 1966, to continue his work on the rules concerning special missions if he was re-elected a member of the Commission. As he was in fact re-elected by the General Assembly, on 10 November 1966, the Special Rapporteur continued his work.

32. At its nineteenth session (1967), the Commission had before it the Special Rapporteur's fourth report ²⁰ and the written comments received from Governments in response to the renewed request made at its eighteenth session.²¹ At its 897th to 910th and 912th to 927th meetings, the Commission re-examined the whole draft on the basis of the fourth report submitted by the Special Rapporteur, taking into account the written comments received from Governments and the views expressed in the Sixth Committee of the General Assembly. The Commission settled certain questions of terminology, revised the draft articles, fixed their order and recast the commentaries. It also adopted a draft preamble for a convention on special missions, which is annexed to this chapter of the report. When it had concluded its work, the Commission adopted the final text in English, French and Spanish of its draft articles on special missions, which, in conformity with its Statute, it submits to the General Assembly in section D of this chapter of its report, together with the recommendation in section B below.

B. RECOMMENDATION OF THE COMMISSION

33. At the 941st meeting on 14 July 1967, the Commission decided, in conformity with article 23 of its Statute, to recommend to the General Assembly that appropriate measures be taken for the conclusion of a convention on special missions.

34. The Commission wishes to refer to the titles given to parts and articles of its draft which it considers helpful for an understanding of the structure of the draft and for promoting ease of reference. It expresses the hope, as it did in regard to its draft articles on consular relations and on the law of treaties, that these titles, subject to any appropriate changes, will be retained in any convention which may be concluded in the future on the basis of the Commission's draft articles.

C. RESOLUTION ADOPTED BY THE COMMISSION

35. The Commission, at its 940th meeting on 13 July 1967, after adopting the text of the articles on special missions, unanimously adopted the following resolution:

The International Law Commission

Having adopted the draft articles on special missions,

Desires to express to the Special Rapporteur, Mr. Milan Bartoš, its deep appreciation of the outstanding contribution he has made to the treatment of the topic during the past four years by his tireless devotion and scholarly research, thus enabling the Commission to bring to a successful conclusion the important task of completing, with this draft, the work on codification already carried out in connexion with diplomatic and consular relations.

D. DRAFT ARTICLES ON SPECIAL MISSIONS WITH COMMENTARIES

Part I.—Sending and conduct of special missions

Article 1.²²—Use of terms

For the purposes of the present articles:

(a) A "special mission" is a mission of a representative and temporary character sent by one State to another State to deal with that State on specific questions or to perform in relation to the latter State a specific task;

¹⁸ Yearbook of the International Law Commission, 1966, vol. II, document A/6309/Rev.1, part II, chapter III, section 13, paras. 57-70.

¹⁹ Ibid., section C, para. 71.

²⁰ See p. 1 above. (A/CN.4/194 and Add.1-5.)

 $^{^{21}}$ A/CN.4/193 and Add.1-5. These written comments, together with those previously received from Governments (A/CN.4/188 and Add.1-4), are reproduced in the annex to this report.

 $^{^{22}}$ Proposed by the Special Rapporteur as an introductory article, or article O, in his fourth report. See p. 38 above. (A/CN.4/194 and Add.1-5).

(b) A "permanent diplomatic mission" is a diplomatic mission sent by one State to another State and having the characteristics specified in the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations;

(c) A "consular post" is any consulate-general, consultate, vice-consulate or consularagency;

(d) The "head of a special mission" is the person charged by the sending State with the duty of acting in that capacity;

(e) A "representative of the sending State in the special mission" is any person on whom the sending State has conferred that capacity;

(f) The "members of a special mission" are the head of the special mission, the representatives of the sending State in the special mission and the members of the staff of the special mission;

(g) The "members of the staff of the special mission" are the members of the diplomatic staff, the administrative and technical staff and the service staff of the special mission;

(h) The "members of the diplomatic staff" are the members of the staff of the special mission who have diplomatic status;

(i) The "members of the administrative and technical staff" are the members of the staff of the special mission employed in the administrative and technical service of the special mission;

(j) The "members of the service staff" are the members of the staff of the special mission employed by it as household workers or for similar tasks;

(k) The "private staff" are persons employed exclusively in the private service of the members of the special mission.

Commentary

(1) Following the example of many conventions concluded under the auspices of the United Nations, the Commission has specified in article 1 of the draft the meaning of the expressions most frequently used in it.

Sub-paragraph (a)

(2) Sub-paragraph (a) of article 1 defines the subject of the draft: special missions. It lays down the necessary minimum conditions which a mission must fulfil in order to be regarded as a special mission in the sense used in the draft.

(3) Under the terms of sub-paragraph (a) of article 1, a special mission must possess the following characteristics:

(i) It must be sent by a State to another State. Special missions in the sense in which the term is used in the draft cannot be considered to include missions sent by political movements to establish contact with a particular State, or missions sent by States to establish contact with a political movement. Consequently, the Commission did not consider that it should deal in its draft with the question of missions sent to, or received by, insurgent movements or parties to a civil war;

(ii) It must represent the sending State. In the Commission's view this is an essential distinguishing characteristic of special missions in the sense used in the draft, by which a special mission can be distinguished from other official missions or visits;

(iii) It must not have the character of a mission responsible for maintaining general diplomatic relations between States and its task must be specified. In practice, some special missions are given very extensive tasks, including the examination and even the laying down of the general lines to be followed in relations between the States concerned. But the task of a special mission is specified in every case and thereby differs from the functions of a permanent diplomatic mission, which acts as general representative of the sending State (article 3, paragraph 1 (a) of the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations);

(iv) Unlike a regular diplomatic mission, a special mission must be of a temporary nature, which may manifest itself in the assignment either of a limited duration or of a specific task. The mission usually ends either on the expiry of its term or on the completion of its task (see article 20). Consequently, a permanent specialized mission which has a specific sphere of competence and may exist side by side with the regular permanent diplomatic mission is not a special mission and does not possess the characteristics of a special mission. Examples of permanent specialized missions are permanent missions for assistance or for economic and industrial cooperation, immigration missions and trade missions or delegations of a diplomatic nature.

Sub-paragraph (b)

(4) In the absence of a definition of permanent diplomatic missions in the 1961 Vienna Convention, sub-paragraph (b) describes them as missions sent by one State to another State and having the characteristics specified in that Convention.

Sub-paragraph (e)

(5) Among the conditions laid down in sub-paragraph (a) of article 1 which a mission must fulfil in order to be regarded as a special mission is the necessity of representing the sending State. It follows that at least one member of every special mission must be a "representative of the sending State in the special mission", an expression defined in sub-paragraph (e) of article 1.

Sub-paragraphs (c), (d), (f), (g), (h), (i), (j) and (k)

(6) Sub-paragraph (c) of article 1 is drafted in the same terms as article 1 (a) of the Vienna Convention on Consular Relations. Sub-paragraphs (d), (f), (g), (h), (i), (j) and (k) are based, with a few changes in terminology, on the definitions in sub-paragraphs (a), (b), (c), (d), (f), (g) and (h) of article 1 of the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations.

Article 2.²³—Sending of special missions

A State may, for the performance of a specific task, send a special mission to another State with the consent of the latter.

 $^{^{23}}$ Article 1, paragraph 1, of the draft adopted by the Commission in 1965. This draft will be found in the Commission's report on the work of its seventeenth session (Yearbook of the International Law Commission, 1965, vol. II, p. 165).

Commentary

(1) Article 2 makes it clear that a State is under no obligation to receive a special mission from another State unless it has undertaken in advance to do so. Here, the draft follows the principle stated in article 2 of the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations.

(2) In practice, there are differences in the form given to the consent required for the sending of a mission, according to whether it is a permanent diplomatic mission or a special mission. For a permanent diplomatic mission the consent is formal, whereas for special missions it takes extremely diverse forms, ranging from a formal treaty to tacit consent.

Article 3. 24—Field of activity of a special mission

The field of activity of a special mission shall be determined by the mutual consent of the sending and the receiving State.

Commentary

(1) Article 3 of the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations enumerates the principal functions of permanent diplomatic missions. In view of the diversity of special missions, the Commission did not consider it possible to enumerate their functions. It has simply stated in article 3 that their field of activity is determined by the mutual consent of the sending and the receiving State. This field determined the limits of the special mission's activities, and sometimes also the means it must use to perform its task.

(2) The field of activity of a special mission is sometimes fixed by a prior treaty. This is so, for instance, in the case of commissions appointed to draw up trading plans for a specific period under a trade treaty. But such cases must be regarded as exceptional; for the field of activity is usually determined by an informal *ad hoc* agreement.

(3) A number of Governments raised the question of a possible conflict of competence between a special mission and the permanent diplomatic mission of the sending State accredited to the receiving State. The Commission considered that this was a matter for the sending State, which alone was competent to settle such a conflict.

Article 4.²⁵—Sending of the same special mission to two or more States

A State may send the same special mission to two or more States after having consulted all of them beforehand. Any of those States may refuse to receive that special mission.

Commentary

(1) This article deals with a situation similar to that referred to in article 5 of the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations.

(2) In 1960, the International Law Commission scarcely considered this question, and it has been given scant attention in the literature. At that time, the majority of the Commission thought it need not be taken into consideration, for according to Mr. Sandström, the first Special Rapporteur, it did not arise in practice.²⁶ In a memorandum, dated 15 June 1960, Mr. Jiménez de Aréchaga pointed out, however, that the same special mission is quite frequently sent to neighbouring States when there has been a change of government in the sending State, or on ceremonial occasions.²⁷ Subsequent studies of the practice have provided other instances of special missions being sent to several States.

(3) These studies have also brought to light certain special problems raised by the sending of special missions to several States.

(i) The sending of the same special mission, with the same membership and the same task, to several States, which are usually adjacent or situated in the same geographical region, has given rise to certain difficulties in practice. In the case of political missions (for example, goodwill missions), there have been several instances of States refusing to enter into contact with the special mission in question because it was also being sent to other States with which they did not enjoy good relations. Thus it is not only a question of relations between the sending State and the State receiving the mission, but also of relations between the States to which the special mission is being sent. The question that arises in this case is mainly a political one; for from the legal standpoint it comes down to the essential condition that, where special missions are sent, simultaneously or successively, to more than one State, the consent of each of those States is required;

(ii) Although the rule is that a special mission is sent separately to each of the States with which the sending State wishes to make contact, whether this is done simultaneously or successively, there are certain exceptions in practice;

(iii) It sometimes happens in practice that a special mission of the kind referred to in paragraph 3 (i) above, which has been accepted in principle by all the States concerned, is requested by one of these States not to enter into relations with it because of the mission's activities during its contacts with the representatives of a State previously visited. Such a situation arises, in particular, when a State learns that a special mission has granted a previously visited State certain advantages contrary to its own interests, and consequently takes the view that, the matter to be negotiated having been prejudged, a visit by the special mission would be pointless. This example shows what awkward situations can arise as a result of sending the same special mission to several States.

(4) The Commission considered that the sending State is required to give prior notice to all the States concerned of its intention to send a special mission to them. This

⁸⁴ Article 2 of the draft adopted by the Commission in 1965.

³⁶ Article 5 of the draft adopted by the Commission in 1965.

³⁴ Yearbook of the International Law Commission, 1960, vol. II, p. 109, para. 12.

²⁷ Ibid., p. 116, para. 8.

prior notice is necessary in order to inform the States concerned in good time not only of the task of the mission, but also of its itinerary, so that they can decide, in full knowledge of the facts, whether they wish to receive the mission and, if so, on what conditions.

Article 5.—Sending of a joint special mission by two or more States

Two or more States may send a joint special mission to another State unless that State, which shall be consulted beforehand, objects thereto.

Commentary

(1) The draft articles approved by the Commission at its seventeenth session contained no provision on joint special missions. Article 5 was inserted in the present draft as the result of a proposal made by a government, and supported by a number of developing countries which believe that the institution of joint missions has certain advantages for them.

(2) Article 5 is based on the provisions of article 6 of the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations.

(3) Under the terms of article 5, States intending to send a joint special mission to another State must all consult that State beforehand. It is not enough to consult it before sending the mission; the consultation must take place sufficiently far in advance to give the future receiving State time to object if it so desires. The future receiving State can either refuse outright to receive a joint special mission or object to a particular State participating in the mission.

(4) If the future receiving State agrees to receive the joint special mission, the sending States are obliged to appoint the members of the mission jointly and to comply with the provisions of article 8 of this draft concerning the obligation to inform the receiving State in advance.

(5) One government proposed that the draft article should also deal with joint special missions consisting of representatives of States and representatives of international organizations. The Commission took the view that that was a matter which belonged essentially to the topic of relations between States and inter-governmental organizations and should be dealt with in that context.

Article 6.²⁸—Sending of special missions by two or more States in order to deal with a question of common interest

Two or more States may each send a special mission at the same time to another State in order to deal, with the agreement of all of them, with a question of common interest.

Commentary

(1) There is no provision corresponding to this article in the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations. (2) Cases occur in practice in which three or more States wish to deal jointly with a question of common interest. After choosing the State in whose territory the question is to be discussed, each of them sends a special mission for that purpose to the chosen State, which thus becomes the receiving State. These missions work jointly with the representatives of the receiving State.

Article 7.²⁹—Non-existence of diplomatic or consular relations and non-recognition

1. The existence of diplomatic or consular relations is not necessary for the sending or reception of a special mission.

2. A State may send a special mission to a State, or receive one from a State, which it does not recognize.

Commentary

(1) The sending and reception of special missions may—and most frequently does—occur between States which maintain regular diplomatic or consular relations with each other, but the existence of such relations is not an essential prerequisite. The Commission wishes to stress in this connexion that experience shows that special missions can be particularly useful where no diplomatic relations exist.

(2) The question was raised whether special missions can be used between States which do not recognize each other. The Commission considered that non-recognition was not a bar to the sending of a special mission, and it dealt with this point in paragraph 2 of article 7. The Commission did not, however, decide the question whether the sending or reception of a special mission prejudges the solution of the problem of recognition, as that problem lies outside the scope of the topic of special missions.

Article 8.³⁰—Appointment of the members of the special mission

Subject to the provisions of articles 10 and 12, the sending State may freely appoint the members of the special mission after having informed the receiving State of its size and of the persons it intends to appoint.

Commentary

(1) The Commission has based article 8 on article 7 of the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations, but there are two important differences between these provisions. In the first place, the rule laid down in article 8 applies to all the members of the special mission, including the head of the special mission if there is one, whereas article 4 of the Vienna Convention requires the *agrément* of the receiving State for the appointment of the head of a permanent diplomatic mission. Secondly, article 8, unlike article 7 of the Vienna Convention, requires the sending State, before appointing the members

²⁸ Proposed by the Drafting Committee as article 5 ter at the Commission's nineteeenth session.

 $^{^{29}}$ Article 1, paragraph 2, of the draft adopted by the Commission in 1965.

³⁰ Article 3 of the draft adopted by the Commission in 1965.

of the mission, to inform the receiving State of the size of the mission and of the identity of the persons it intends to appoint.

(2) The Commission notes that, in State practice, consent to the sending and receiving of a special mission does not generally imply acceptance of its members. Hence, the Commission does not share the view that a clause concerning acceptance of the persons forming the special mission should be included in the agreement by which the receiving State accepts the mission; it considers that consent to receive a special mission and acceptance of the persons forming it are two distinct matters. Nevertheless, in order to facilitate friendly relations between States, the Commission inserted in article 8 the obligation to provide prior information, so as to give the receiving State an opportunity of raising objections concerning the identity and the number of the members of the special mission.

(3) The solution adopted by the Commission, which requires no agrément or prior consent for the appointment of the members and staff of the special mission, in no way infringes the sovereign rights of the receiving State. These rights are fully safeguarded by the opportunity given to that State to raise objections, after receiving the information provided for in article 8, to the size of the special mission and to the persons selected to serve on it. The Commission did not include any express provision on the right of the receiving State to raise such objections, for it considered that this right necessarily derives both from the terms of article 8 and from the legal principles underlying the draft articles. The sovereign rights of the receiving State are further safeguarded by the provisions of article 12, under which it may at any time declare that a member of a special mission is persona non grata or not acceptable.

(4) In practice there are several ways in which the receiving State can limit the sending State's freedom of choice. The following examples may be quoted:

(i) The receiving State can refuse an entry visa to a member of a special mission;

(ii) It can express its wishes with regard to the level of the delegation;

(iii) The agreement on the sending and receiving of a special mission sometimes specifies the persons who will form it, either by designating them by name or, more frequently, by stating the rank or qualifications they must have. When the persons composing the special mission have been designated by name in the agreement, the sending State cannot change the composition of the mission without the prior consent of the State to which it is being sent. In practice all that is done is to send notice of any proposed change in good time and, in the absence of any reply, the other party is presumed to have accepted the notice without reservation;

(iv) In certain admittedly infrequent cases, the freedom of choice of the sending State is expressly limited by a prior agreement between the two States, stipulating that the appointment of the members of the special mission shall be subject to the consent of the receiving State. This practice is primarily followed where important and delicate contacts are to be established through the special mission, and in particular where it is to be composed of important political personages.

(5) The Commission also took note of the practice whereby certain States require prior consent for the appointment of military, naval or air attachés to a special mission, by analogy with the final provision of article 7 of the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations. The Commission considered, however, that this practice is not a general custom.

Article 9.³¹—Composition of the special mission

1. A special mission consists of one or more representatives of the sending State from among whom the sending State may appoint a head. It may also include diplomatic staff, administrative and technical staff and service staff.

2. Members of a permanent diplomatic mission accredited to the receiving State may be included in the composition of the special mission while retaining their privileges and immunities as members of the diplomatic mission.

Commentary

(1) Paragraph 1 of article 9 is based on article 1 of the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations. Paragraph 2 deals with a situation which frequently arises in practice in connexion with special missions and which has sometimes given rise to difficulties of interpretation.

(2) Every special mission must include at least one representative of the sending State, that is to say, a person to whom that State has assigned the task of being its representative in the special mission. If the special mission comprises two or more representatives, the sending State may appoint one of them to be head of the mission. The person appointed is sometimes called the "Chairman of the Delegation", "First Delegate", or the like.

(3) In practice, the sending State often appoints a head of the special mission and a deputy head. The Commission considers that the composition of the special mission and the titles of its members are matters within the exclusive competence of the sending State and that they are not governed by any international rule unless the parties have agreed on such a rule. Consequently, the Commission did not think it necessary to include a rule on the subject in article 9.

(4) Whether a special mission is composed of a single representative or of several representatives, it may be accompanied by whatever staff it considers necessary to carry out its task. In referring to such staff, the Commission has adopted the terminology used in article 1 (c) of the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations.

(5) In recent practice sending States have often appointed members of their permanent diplomatic mission to the receiving State as members of a special mission. The

³¹ Article 6 of the draft adopted by the Commission in 1965.

question arose whether these two functions are incompatible and whether a member of a diplomatic mission can retain the privileges and immunities which that status confers on him while serving on a special mission. Opinions differ on this point. After considering the matter, the Commission came to the conclusion that the two functions are not incompatible and can be performed simultaneously by a member of the permanent diplomatic mission without losing the privileges and immunities he enjoys as such.

(6) The problem of limiting the size of the mission, which is dealt with in article 11 of the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations, also arose with regard to special missions. In view of the obligation of the sending State, under the terms of article 8, to inform the receiving State in advance of the number of persons it intends to appoint to the special mission, the Commission decided that there was no need to include in the present draft the rules stated in article 11 of the Vienna Convention.

Article 10.³²—Nationality of the members of the special mission

1. The representatives of the sending State in the special mission and the members of its diplomatic staff should in principle be of the nationality of the sending State.

2. Nationals of the receiving State may not be appointed to a special mission except with the consent of that State, which may be withdrawn at any time.

3. The receiving State may reserve the right provided for in paragraph 2 with regard to nationals of a third State who are not also nationals of the sending State.

Commentary

(1) This article corresponds to article 8 of the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations.

(2) In 1960 the Commission did not consider it necessary to express an opinion on the general question whether the rules concerning the nationality of diplomatic agents serving on permanent missions also applied to the members of special missions. It merely decided that the principle stated in article 7 of its 1958 draft on diplomatic intercourse and immunities ³³ does not necessarily apply to the members of special missions.³⁴

(3) The question which has arisen most frequently in practice is that of the employment by the sending State, in its special missions, of nationals of the receiving States. Most writers consider that there are no legal obstacles to such employment, but stress that the problem has been dealt with differently by different countries at various times. The Commission took the view that nationals of the receiving State may not be members of a special mission without that State's consent.

(4) Another question which has arisen in practice is whether the members of a special mission can have the nationality of a third State. In 1960 the Commission expressed no opinion on this subject. In 1964 it adopted a rule for special missions modelled on article 8, paragraph 3 of the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations.³⁵ Under this rule the receiving State may reserve the right to make its consent a condition for the employment in a special mission of nationals of a third State who are not also nationals of the sending State.

(5) Several governments asked the Commission to assimilate aliens having their permanent residence in the receiving State to nationals of that State. The Commission decided that this should only be done so far as the system of privileges and immunities is concerned (article 40).

(6) The Commission also considered the question of the employment in special missions of persons having the status of refugees or stateless persons. It concluded that, as in cases coming under the two Vienna Conventions, this matter should be settled according to the relevant rules of international law.

(7) Like the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations, the French version of this draft uses the term "*ressortissant*". Several members of the Commission criticized this term and stated that they preferred the term "national", which is used in the English and Spanish versions of the draft. The Commission considered, however, that in this case the terminology of the Vienna Convention should be retained.

Article 11. ³⁶—Notifications

1. The Ministry of Foreign Affairs, or such other organ of the receiving State as may be agreed, shall be notified of:

(a) The composition of the special mission and any subsequent changes therein;

(b) The arrival and final departure of members of the mission and the termination of their functions with the mission;

(c) The arrival and final departure of any person accompanying a member of the mission;

(d) The engagement and discharge of persons residing in the receiving State as members of the mission or as private staff;

(e) The appointment of the head of the special mission or, if there is none, of the representative referred to in paragraph 1 of article 14, and of any substitute for them;

(f) The site of the premises occupied by the special mission and any information that may be necessary to identify them.

2. Whenever possible, notification of arrival and final departure must be given in advance.

Commentary

(1) Article 11 is modelled on article 10 of the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations, with the changes required by the particular nature of special missions.

³² Article 14 of the draft adopted by the Commission in 1965.

³³ Yearbook of the International Law Commission, 1958, vol. II, p. 91.

³⁴ Ibid., 1960, vol. II, p. 179, article 2.

³⁵ Ibid., 1964, vol. II, p. 224, article 14, para. 3.

³⁶ Article 8 of the draft adopted by the Commission in 1965.

(2) The question to what extent the sending State is obliged to notify the receiving State of the composition of the mission and the arrival and departure of its head, its members and its staff, arises with regard to special missions just as it does with regard to permanent diplomatic missions. As early as 1960, the International Law Commission took the position that in this matter the general rules on notification relating to permanent diplomatic missions are valid for special missions.³⁷

(3) The notifications referred to in this article should not be confused with the prior notice provided for in article 3. They are usually sent to the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the receiving State. Nevertheless, in order to take account of the fact that in several States certain branches of foreign relations are handled by departments other than that of foreign affairs, the Commission has specified in article 11 that these notifications may be sent to such other organ as may be agreed.

(4) In many cases, notice of the departure of the special mission is not given, as the members of the mission merely communicate verbally and informally to the persons with whom they are in contact in the receiving State, the date and hour of their departure and the means of transport they intend to use. The Commission never-theless considers that even after the special mission has completed its task, official and regular notification of the final departure of its members must be given.

(5) The local recruitment of staff required for special missions is in practice limited to the recruitment of auxiliary staff who are not qualified diplomats or experts, and persons performing certain strictly technical or service duties. A rule frequently observed in practice is that the receiving State must ensure the possibility of such recruitment, which is often essential for the performance of the special mission's functions. In 1960 the Commission inclined to the view that this rule conferred a genuine privilege on the special mission. In the light of the two Vienna Conventions, however, the Commission changed its opinion and in 1965 adopted the principle stated in article 10, paragraph 2 of this draft. It accordingly considers that the receiving State is entitled to be informed of local recruitment by special missions and that they are obliged to inform it regularly of the engagement and discharge of local staff, although all such engagements, like the special mission itself, are of limited duration.

Article 12. ³⁸—Persons declared non grata or not acceptable

1. The receiving State may, at any time and without having to explain its decision, notify the sending State that any representative of the sending State in the special mission or any member of its diplomatic staff is *persona non grata* or that any other member of the staff of the mission is not acceptable. In any such case, the sending State shall, as appropriate, either recall the person concerned or terminate his functions with the mission. A person may be declared *non grata* or not acceptable before arriving in the territory of the receiving State.

2. If the sending State refuses or fails within a reasonable period to carry out its obligations under paragraph 1 of this article, the receiving State may refuse to recognize the person concerned as a member of the special mission.

Commentary

(1) The text of article 12 follows article 9 of the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations.

(2) Even when the receiving State has raised no objection to the membership of the special mission, it unquestionably has the right to declare any member of the mission *persona non grata* or not acceptable at any time. It is not obliged to state its reasons for this decision.

(3) It must be added that in fact a person is very seldom declared *non grata* or not acceptable after the receiving State has accepted him, but the Commission is convinced that even then, the receiving State is entitled to make such a declaration.

(4) Even apart from such cases, it is rather rare for a member of a special mission to be declared *persona* non grata or not acceptable, for special missions are of short duration and generally have a limited field of activity; nevertheless several instances have occurred in practice.

(5) Although the Commission did not find it necessary to mention the matter expressly in the text of the article, it considers it advisable to point out that, in accordance with a well-established practice, the procedure of declaring persons *non grata* does not apply to such persons as a Head of State, Head of Government or Minister for Foreign Affairs, when they participate in a special mission.

Article 13.³⁹—Commencement of the functions of a special mission

1. The functions of a special mission shall commence as soon as the mission enters into official contact with the Ministry of Foreign Affairs or with such other organ of the receiving State as may be agreed.

2. The commencement of the functions of a special mission shall not depend upon representation of the mission by the permanent diplomatic mission of the sending State or upon the submission of letters of credence or full powers.

Commentary

(1) There are certain rules of international law governing the commencement of the functions of a permanent diplomatic mission, though the matter was not dealt with in the 1961 Vienna Convention. The Commission noted, however, that in practice these rules are not applied to the commencement of the functions of special missions.

(2) In modern practice the functions of a special mission, unlike those of a permanent diplomatic mission, commence as soon as it makes official contact with a competent organ of the receiving State. This organ is usually

³⁷ Yearbook of the International Law Commission, 1960, vol. II, p. 179, article 2.

³⁸ Article 4 of the draft adopted by the Commission in 1965.

³⁹ Article 11 of the draft adopted by the Commission in 1965.

the Ministry of Foreign Affairs, but the parties may choose another; it may, indeed, be necessary to do so if, in the receiving State, certain branches of foreign relations are handled by departments other than the Ministry of Foreign Affairs.

(3) The ceremonial reception of a special mission and the ceremony of presenting its full powers are no longer considered obligatory in practice. It is customary, however, to make an introductory visit or, if the parties already know each other, a visit establishing the first contact. The custom that the head of the special mission is accompanied on the introductory visit by the head or by some member of the permanent diplomatic mission accredited to the receiving State, if he was of lower rank than the head of the permanent mission, is obsolescent.

(4) The problem of the commencement of the functions of a special mission is not so important for those members of the mission who are also members of the permanent diplomatic mission of the sending State accredited to the receiving State. They keep their status as members of the permanent diplomatic mission for the period during which they are members of the special mission.

(5) Certain States have sometimes been accused of discriminating between the special missions of other States as regards their reception and the commencement of their functions. The Commission considers that discrimination in this respect would be contrary to the general principles governing international relations and would come within the scope of the provisions of article 50 of this draft.

(6) It should be noted that the commencement of the functions of a special mission does not necessarily coincide with the entry into force of the régime of privileges and immunities of its members for, so far as the receiving State is concerned, this régime enters into force as soon as the person in question arrives in its territory, or, in the case of a person who is already there, as soon as he is appointed to the special mission (article 44).

Article 14.⁴⁰—Authority to act on behalf of the special mission

1. The head of the special mission or, if the sending State has not appointed a head, one of the representatives of the sending State designated by the latter, is authorized to act on behalf of the special mission and to address communications to the receiving State. The receiving State shall address communications concerning the special mission to the head of the mission or, if there is none, to the representative referred to above, either direct or through the permanent diplomatic mission.

2. A member of the special mission may be authorized by the sending State, by the head of the special mission or, if there is none, by the representative referred to in paragraph 1 above, either to substitute for the head of the special mission or for the aforesaid representative, or to perform particular acts on behalf of the mission.

Commentary

(1) The text of article 14 is not derived direct from the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations, but is based on contemporary international practice.

(2) The main legal question here is that of the rules concerning authority to act on behalf of the special mission.

(3) Normally, only the head of a special mission is authorized to act on its behalf and to address communications to the receiving State. If the sending State does not appoint a head, it designates one of its representatives on the special mission to act on behalf of the mission. The legal status of this representative is similar to that of a head of special mission. (4) In default of a head, or in the absence of the head or of the representative designated by the sending State to act on behalf of the special mission, a member of the mission may be authorized either to act as deputy for the head or representative in question or to perform specified acts on behalf of the mission. The necessary authorization is given by the sending State, by the head of the special mission or by the representative designated to act on behalf of the mission.

(5) In practice, a special mission sometimes arrives in the receiving State without its head or a deputy, and contact has to be established and business transacted before they arrive. It may also happen that both the head and his deputy absent themselves during a special mission. In both of these cases, a member of the mission temporarily assumes the duties of head of the special mission. Some States assimilate this member to a *chargé d'affaires ad interim*. But as this practice is not universal, the Commission has not adopted any rule on it.

(6) Even when the head of the special mission or the representative designated to act on its behalf are present, one or more members of the mission are often authorized to perform certain specified acts on its behalf. This is a very common practice, since in most cases special missions divide up the work assigned to them among their members. The legal validity of acts thus performed depends on the scope of the authority given to those who perform them.

(7) The receiving State addresses communications concerning the special mission either direct to the head of the mission, or to the representative designated to act on its behalf, or indirectly through the permanent diplomatic mission of the sending State accredited to the receiving State.

Article 15.⁴¹—Organ of the receiving State with which official business is conducted

All official business with the receiving State entrusted to the special mission by the sending State shall be conducted with or through the Ministry of Foreign Affairs or with such other organ of the receiving State as may be agreed.

⁴⁰ Article 7 of the draft adopted by the Commission in 1965.

⁴¹ Article 41 of the draft adopted by the Commission in 1965.

Commentary

This article reproduces, with the necessary drafting changes, the provisions of article 41, paragraph 2, of the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations. The word "ministry" in the expression "such other ministry as may be agreed" has, however, been replaced by the word "organ", in order to take account of the practice and laws of a number of States which entrust certain branches of their foreign relations to departments other than the Ministry of Foreign Affairs.

Article 16.⁴² — Rules concerning precedence

1. Where two or more special missions meet on the territory of the receiving State or of a third State, precedence among the missions shall be determined, in the absence of a special agreement, according to the alphabetical order of the names of the States used by the protocol of the State on whose territory the missions are meeting.

2. Precedence among two or more special missions which meet on a ceremonial or formal occasion shall be governed by the protocol in force in the receiving State.

3. Precedence among the members of the same special mission shall be that which is notified to the receiving State or to the third State on whose territory two or more special missions are meeting.

Commentary

(1) The question of precedence arises only when two or more special missions are together on the territory of a receiving State or of a third State.

(2) In relations between a single special mission and the representatives of the receiving State there is no question of precedence and the rules of courtesy suffice to solve any problems which arise. The Commission has therefore not dealt with the matter in its draft articles.

(3) The Commission considers that it is impossible to take the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations as a basis for determining precedence between special missions meeting on the territory of a receiving State or of a third State.

(4) It must not be forgotten that many heads of special missions do not have diplomatic rank, although some of them are eminent persons such as cabinet ministers, who, under the rules of precedence of their own States, rank above ambassadors. In this connexion, the Commission considers that it is wrong to maintain that the head of a special mission of a diplomatic or political character is always, in practice, a person holding diplomatic rank.

(5) The Commission considered that even where heads of mission hold diplomatic rank, it would not be right to base the order of precedence on that rank. It noted in this connexion that in the practice which has grown up since the establishment of the United Nations, missions are not classified according to the rank of their heads, except in the case of ceremonial missions. (6) All heads of mission, whether or not they hold diplomatic rank and whatever their position in the internal hierarchy of their countries, alike represent States that are recognized by the United Nations Charter as having the right to sovereign equality. In order to ensure respect for this right, the Commission decided that, in the absence of a special agreement, precedence among special missions should be determined by the alphabetical order of the names of the sending States. As there is no universally recognized alphabetical order, the Commission chose the alphabetical order used by the protocol of the State on whose territory the missions meet.

(7) The Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations confines itself to provisions concerning permanent diplomatic missions and does not deal with missions which meet on ceremonial or formal occasions, although they continued to exist in practice even after the establishment of permanent resident diplomacy, and still exist today.

(8) The Commission noted that the customs governing precedence among special missions which meet on ceremonial or formal occasions vary from State to State. Instead of selecting some of these different customs, the Commission adopted the rule, which is everywhere observed in practice, that it is for the receiving State to determine precedence among special missions of this kind.

(9) In 1965, the Commission devoted a separate article (article 10) to precedence among missions which meet on ceremonial or formal occasions. In 1967, it decided that all the provisions of the draft articles dealing with precedence should be placed in a single article.

(10) The Commission did not go into the question of precedence among members of the same special mission, for it believes that this is a matter for the sending State alone. In practice, the sending State communicates to the receiving State or, where applicable, the third State, a list showing the order of precedence of the members of its special mission.

(11) The Commission also believes that there are no rules of law of universal application for determining precedence, either among the members of special missions from different States or between them and the members of permanent diplomatic missions or officials of the receiving State.

Article 17.⁴³—Seat of the special mission

1. A special mission shall have its seat in the locality agreed by the States concerned.

2. In the absence of agreement, the special mission shall have its seat in the locality where the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the receiving State is situated.

3. If the special mission's functions are performed in different localities, the special mission may have more than one seat; one of such seats may be chosen as its principal seat.

 $^{^{42}}$ Articles 9 and 10 of the draft adopted by the Commission in 1965.

⁴³ Article 13 of the draft adopted by the Commission in 1965.

Commentary

(1) The provisions of this article differ substantially from those of the corresponding article (article 12) of the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations. For whereas a permanent diplomatic mission performs its essential functions in the capital of the State to which it is accredited, a special mission often has to work at some other place and will in many cases have its seat there. Furthermore, the work of a special mission often obliges it to move frequently or to divide up into groups or sections, and it may then have several seats.

(2) Very little has been written on the question of the seat of a special mission, and in 1960 the Commission did not find it necessary to deal with the matter. It considered that the rules applicable to permanent missions were not relevant to special missions and that no specific rules on the subject were needed.⁴⁴ Some members of the Commission, however, drew attention to the fact that the absence of such rules might encourage special missions to choose their seat at will, without consulting the receiving State, and to claim the right to open offices in any part of that State's territory.

(3) Article 17 of this draft provides that a special mission shall have its seat in the locality agreed upon by the sending State and the receiving State. In practice, this agreement is often verbal and sometimes even tacit. The special mission generally establishes its offices near the place where it is to perform its functions. If that place is the capital of the receiving State and there are regular diplomatic relations between the two States, the special mission is usually lodged in the premises of the sending State's permanent diplomatic mission, which, unless otherwise indicated, thus becomes its official address for notifications. This customary practice is not, however, obligatory, and a special mission lodged in the capital city of the receiving State may have a seat other than the embassy of the sending State.

(4) If no seat has been agreed upon, the practice of certain receiving States is to propose a suitable locality for the seat of the special mission, taking account of all the circumstances which may affect the efficiency of its work. Opinion is divided on whether the sending State is bound to accept the choice of the receiving State. Some have maintained that an affirmative reply to this question would conflict with the principle of the sovereign equality of States. In 1964, the Commission suggested a compromise, namely, that the receiving State should have the right to propose the locality, but that to become effective that choice must be approved by the sending State.45 This solution had the disadvantages of not specifying what would happen if the sending State refused to accept the locality offered by the receiving State. In 1965, the Commission left this question in abeyance. (5) In 1967, the Commission adopted the solution embodied in article 17, paragraph 2. This paragraph

establishes the presumption that the seat of the special

mission will be in the locality where the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the receiving State is situated unless — and until — the parties agree otherwise.

(6) The Commission did not draw up any rule for determining which should be the main seat when a special mission has more than one seat. Usage varies in practice. One opinion expressed was that the main seat should always be in the locality in which the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the receiving State is situated, or in some other locality agreed upon, and that the other seats are established only to facilitate the mission's work. The Commission preferred to leave it to the parties to settle this question by agreement.

Article 18.⁴⁶—Activities of special missions on the territory of a third State

1. Special missions from two or more States may meet on the territory of a third State only after obtaining the express consent of that State, which retains the right to withdraw it.

2. In giving its consent, the third State may impose conditions which shall be observed by the sending States.

3. The third State shall assume in respect of the sending State the rights and obligations of a receiving State only to the extent that it so indicates.

Commentary

(1) A provision corresponding to this article is to be found, not in the Convention on Diplomatic Relations, but in article 7 of the Convention on Consular Relations, entitled "Exercise of consular functions in a third State".

(2) The meeting of special missions of different States on the territory of a third State is already a long-standing practice and has been useful especially in cases of armed conflict between the States concerned. The Commission did not consider this practice in 1960 and there is little reference to it in the literature. Only a few writers mention it, mainly in connexion with cases in which the first contacts have been made through the third State.

(3) No matter whether the third State is asked to mediate, to provide its good offices or merely to offer hospitality, it is undoubtedly entitled to be informed in advance of the intention to use its territory for a meeting of special missions, so that it may object if it sees fit to do so. Such a meeting can, indeed, only take place with its consent. Practice does not require the consent to be formal, but the Commission took the view that, in order to avoid any possibility of misunderstanding, it should be express.

(4) The Commission regards as correct the practice of some third States of laying down special conditions which must be satisfied by parties sending special missions, in addition to a general obligation to abstain from any action harmful to the interests of the third State.

(5) Contacts between a special mission of one State and the permanent diplomatic mission of another State

⁴⁴ Yearbook of the International Law Commission, 1960, vol. II, p. 179, article 2.

⁴⁵ Yearbook of the International Law Commission, 1964, vol. II, p. 223, article 13.

⁴⁶ Article 16 of the draft adopted by the Commission in 1965.

accredited to a third State must be assimilated to relations between the special missions of two States on the territory of a third State. Such contacts frequently occur in practice and some writers describe them as exceptional means of diplomatic communication. They are especially useful where States do not maintain diplomatic relations or are engaged in armed conflict (for instance, when the possibility of an armistice is being explored).

(6) The third State has the right, at any time and without being obliged to give any reason, to withdraw its consent from special missions meeting on its territory and to prohibit them from engaging in any activity. In such cases, the sending States are obliged to recall their special missions immediately, and the missions are required to cease all activities as soon as they learn that hospitality has been withdrawn. The exercise of this right by the third State does not mean that diplomatic relations with the sending States are broken off or that the members of the special missions are declared *persona non grata*; it merely means that the consent previously given has been revoked. In 1965, the Commission held that this right was clearly established by the term "consent" used in its draft and that it was therefore unnecessary to make an express reference to it. In 1967, however, at the request of several governments, the Commission specified in the text of article 18 of the present draft that the third State retains the right to withdraw its consent.

(7) Several governments wished to know whether the third State should be placed on the same footing as a receiving State as regards rights and obligations. The Commission has answered this question in paragraph 3 of article 18, which provides that the third State shall assume in respect of the sending States the rights and obligations of a receiving State only to the extent that it so indicates.

(8) The Commission believes that, whatever the attitude adopted by the third State, the sending States are under an obligation to communicate to it all the notifications and all the information which a receiving State is entitled to receive, so that it may be kept fully informed of the activities of foreign special missions on its territory.

Article 19.⁴⁷—Right of special missions to use the flag and emblem of the sending State

1. A special mission shall have the right to use the flag and emblem of the sending State on the premises occupied by the mission, and on its means of transport when used on official business.

2. In the exercise of the right accorded by this article, regard shall be had to the laws, regulations and usages of the receiving State.

Commentary

(1) Paragraph 1 of this article is based on article 20 of the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations and

paragraph 2 on article 29, paragraph 3 of the Vienna Convention on Consular Relations.

(2) There are two differences of substance between paragraph 1 of this article and article 20 of the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations: both of them are due to the difference in nature between special missions and permanent diplomatic missions.

(i) The first difference relates to the residence of the head of the special mission. Unlike article 20 of the Vienna Convention, paragraph 1 of this article does not confer the right to display the flag and emblem of the sending State on the residence. If the head of the special mission considers that the task or nature of the mission makes it necessary for his residence to display these distinguishing signs, he must rely on the courtesy of the receiving State;

(ii) The second difference relates to the means of transport. Paragraph 1 of article 19 restricts the right to display the flag and emblem of the sending State on the mission's means of transport to occasions when the vehicles are being used on official business. This restriction is not imposed by the Convention on Diplomatic Relations but it is imposed by the Convention on Consular Relations. On the other hand, paragraph 1 of article 19 grants this right for all the special mission's means of transport, not, like article 20 of the Convention on Diplomatic Relations, only for that of the head of the mission. The Commission took the view that the task of certain special missions, such as those concerned with frontier demarcation, might in fact make it necessary for the flag and emblem of the sending State to be displayed on all means of transport used on official business, irrespective of the rank of the member of the mission using it.

(3) The Commission thought it useful to add to article 19 a provision similar to article 29, paragraph 3 of the Convention on Consular Relations. This paragraph provides that in the exercise of the right to use the national flag and coat of arms, regard shall be had to the laws, regulations and usages of the receiving State. By including this provision, the Commission has sought to give greater flexibility to a rule which it should be possible to apply to a very wide variety of special missions and to prevent certain abuses, to the danger of which several governments have drawn attention.

Article 20. 48—End of the functions of a special mission

1. The functions of a special mission shall come to an end, *inter alia*, upon:

(a) The agreement of the States concerned;

(b) The completion of the task of the special mission;

(c) The expiry of the duration assigned for the special mission, unless it is expressly extended;

(d) Notification by the sending State that it is terminating or recalling the special mission;

(e) Notification by the receiving State that it considers the special mission terminated.

⁴⁷ Article 15 of the draft adopted by the Commission in 1965.

 $^{^{48}}$ Article 12 and article 44, para. 2 of the draft adopted by the Commission in 1965.

2. The severance of diplomatic or consular relations between the sending State and the receiving State shall not of itself have the effect of terminating special missions existing at the time of such severance.

Commentary

(1) The Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations contains provisions relating to the end of the functions of diplomatic agents (article 43), to the breaking off of diplomatic relations and to the recall of permanent missions (article 45). It does not, however, state any rule expressly concerning the end of the functions of these missions.

(2) In 1960, the Commission decided that, in addition to the modes of termination of the functions of a diplomatic agent given in article 41 of its 1958 draft on diplomatic intercourse and immunities, the functions of a special mission come to an end when the tasks entrusted to it have been carried out.⁴⁹ In 1967 the Commission completed and revised the list of reasons for termination of the functions of special missions.

(3) The Commission considers that it is for the States concerned to note that a special mission has ceased to exist or to decide that it should be brought to an end. This decision may be taken by mutual agreement or by the unilateral will of one of these States. In the latter case, the State which takes the decision unilaterally must notify the other States concerned.

(4) The question was raised whether the expiry of the duration assigned for a special mission automatically brought it to an end. This is a question which has caused difficulties in practice and sometimes even disputes, certain States having maintained that a special mission continued to exist in law as long as it carried on any activity, even after the expiry of the duration assigned for it. The Commission recognizes that the duration assigned for a special mission may be extended by the mutual consent of the sending State and the receiving State, but it considers that such an extension must be express.

(5) In the report he submitted in 1960, Mr. Sandström, the Special Rapporteur at that time, took the view that it was desirable also to consider the functions of a special mission ended when the transactions which had been its aim had been brought to an end or interrupted.⁵⁰ Any resumption of the negotiations would then be regarded as the commencement of the functions of another special mission. Some governments and some writers take the same view as Mr. Sandström. The Commission recognizes that the functions of a special mission are ended, for all practical purposes, by the interruption or suspension sine die of negotiations and all other activities. It considers, however, that it is for the sending State and the receiving State to decide whether they deem it necessary in such cases to bring the mission to an end by application of the provisions of article 20, paragraph 1 (d) or (e).

(6) Article 7 of this draft provides that the existence of diplomatic or consular relations is not necessary for the sending or reception of a special mission. In consequence, article 20, paragraph 2 specifies that the severance of these relations shall not of itself have the effect of terminating special missions existing at the time of such severance.

Part II.-Facilities, privileges and immunities

General considerations

(1) Before the Second World War, the question whether the facilities, privileges and immunities of special missions have a basis in law or whether they are accorded merely as a matter of courtesy was discussed in the literature and raised in practice. Since the War, the view that there is a legal basis has prevailed. It is now generally recognized that States are under an obligation to accord the facilities, privileges and immunities in question to special missions and their members. Such is also the opinion expressed by the Commission on several occasions between 1958 and 1965 ⁵¹ and confirmed by it in 1967.

(2) In 1958 and in 1960 several members of the Commission held that every special mission is entitled to the facilities, privileges and immunities accorded to permanent diplomatic missions and, in addition, to any further facilities, privileges and immunities necessary for the performance of the particular task entrusted to it.

(3) Other members of the Commission and some governments maintained that, on the contrary, the facilities, privileges and immunities of special missions should be less extensive than those accorded to permanent diplomatic missions and that they must be limited to what is strictly necessary for the performance of a special mission's task. Those who held this opinion were opposed to the Commission's taking the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations as the basis for its draft on special missions.

(4) In 1967, the Commission decided that every special mission should be granted everything that is essential for the regular performance of its functions, having regard to its nature and task. The Commission concluded that under those conditions, there were grounds for granting special missions, subject to some restrictions, privileges and immunities similar to those accorded to permanent diplomatic missions.

(5) The Commission took the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations as the basis for the provisions of its draft relating to facilities, privileges and immunities. It has departed from that Convention only on particular points for which a different solution was required.

⁴⁹ Yearbook of the International Law Commission, 1960, vol. II, p. 180, article 3, para. 2.

⁵⁰ Ibid., p. 113, article 15.

⁵¹ See the draft articles adopted by the Commission in 1965, and Yearbook of the International Law Commission, 1960, vol. II, pp. 179 and 180, draft articles on special missions; Yearbook of the International Law Commission, 1963, vol. II, p. 225, paras. 62-65; Yearbook of the International Law Commission, 1964, vol. II, pp. 210 et seq., draft articles on special missions.

Article 21.⁵²—Status of the Head of State and persons of high rank

1. The Head of the sending State, when he leads a special mission, shall enjoy in the receiving State or in a third State, in addition to what is granted by these articles, the facilities, privileges and immunities accorded by international law to Heads of State on an official visit.

2. The Head of the Government, the Minister for Foreign Affairs and other persons of high rank, when they take part in a special mission of the sending State, shall enjoy, in the receiving State or in a third State, in addition to what is granted by these articles, the facilities, privileges and immunities accorded by international law.

Commentary

(1) The Commission considered on several occasions whether there should not be a special régime for so-called "high-level" missions, i.e., missions whose members include persons of high rank such as a Head of State, a Head of Government or a Minister for Foreign Affairs. After a careful study of the matter, the Commission concluded that the rank of the head or members of a special mission does not give the mission any special status. In international law, however, rank may confer on the person holding it exceptional facilities, privileges and immunities which he retains on becoming a member of a special mission.

(2) Consequently, the Commission specified in paragraph 1 of article 21 that, when the Head of the sending State leads a special mission, he shall enjoy in the receiving State or in a third State all the facilities, privileges and immunities accorded by international law to a Head of State on an official visit, in addition to those conferred on him by the other articles of the draft. (3) Paragraph 2 lays down a similar rule for occasions when the Head of a Government, the Minister for Foreign Affairs or "other persons of high rank" lead a special mission or are members of it. The Commission did not specify the titles and ranks which these "other persons" must hold in order to enjoy additional facilities, privileges and immunities, since such titles and ranks would vary from one State to another according to the constitutional law and protocol in force.

Article 22. 53—General Facilities

The receiving State shall accord to the special mission the facilities required for the performance of its functions, having regard to the nature and task of the special mission.

Commentary

(1) Article 22 is based on article 25 of the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations.

(2) Article 22 states the receiving State's obligation to accord to the special mission the facilities required for the performance of its functions, having regard to its nature and task. The reference in the text of article 22 to the nature and task of the mission — a reference which does not appear in article 25 of the Vienna Convention — makes the extent of the sending State's obligation depend on the individual characteristics of special missions.

(3) The Commission believes that many of the difficulties which have arisen in practice have been due to the tendency of certain special missions to consider the receiving State obliged to provide them with all the facilities normally accorded to permanent diplomatic missions. In fact, the receiving State cannot be required to provide a special mission with facilities which are not in keeping with the characteristics of the mission.

Article 23.⁵⁴—Accommodation of the special mission and its members

The receiving State shall assist the special mission if it so requests in procuring the necessary premises and obtaining suitable accommodation for its members.

Commentary

(1) This article is based on article 21 of the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations.

(2) The essential difference between article 23 of the present draft and article 21 of the Vienna Convention is due to the temporary nature of special missions. In view of this temporary nature the Commission considered that it is not necessary to grant the sending State — as article 21 does in the case of permanent missions — the right to acquire the premises necessary for the special mission. It is sufficient for the receiving State to assist the special mission to procure the necessary premises by means other than acquisition.

(3) The receiving State must take into account the fact that a special mission may be obliged by the nature of its task to have several seats and to move quickly as and when necessary. Where this is so, the receiving State is obliged to provide the mission and its members with additional assistance.

(4) As article 23 of the draft expressly provides, the receiving State is not required to furnish assistance in obtaining premises and accommodation *ex officio*, but only if the special mission so requests.

(5) The Commission wishes to make it clear that article 23 in no way obliges the receiving State to defray any of the expenses incurred by a special mission for its premises or by its members for their accommodation.

Article 24.⁵⁵—Exemption of the premises of the special mission from taxation

1. The sending State and the members of the special mission acting on behalf of the mission shall be exempt from all national, regional or municipal dues and taxes in respect of the premises occupied by the special mission, other than such as represent payment for specific services rendered.

 $^{^{52}}$ Proposed as article 17 quater by the Special Rapporteur in his fourth report. See p. 75 above (A/CN.4/194 and Add.1-5).

⁵³ Article 17 of the draft adopted by the Commission in 1965.

⁵⁴ Article 18 of the draft adopted by the Commission in 1965.

⁵⁵ Article 23 of the draft adopted by the Commission in 1965.

2. The exemption from taxation referred to in this article shall not apply to such dues and taxes payable under the law of the receiving State by persons contracting with the sending State or with a member of the special mission.

Commentary

(1) This article reproduces, with the necessary drafting changes, the provisions of article 23 of the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations.

(2) As the legal content of the two articles is the same, the Commission has only one comment to make on the question of exemption from taxation.

(3) Article 28 of the Vienna Convention provides that the fees and charges levied by a permanent diplomatic mission in the course of its official duties shall be exempt from all dues and taxes. The Commission considered that such a provision would be superfluous in the case of special missions because they are not, as a rule, permitted to levy any fees or charges on the territory of the receiving State. Consequently, no rule corresponding to article 28 has been included in the draft.

Article 25.⁵⁶—Inviolability of the premises

1. The premises of the special mission shall be inviolable. The agents of the receiving State may not enter the premises of the special mission, except with the consent of the head of the special mission or, if appropriate, of the head of the permanent diplomatic mission of the sending State accredited to the receiving State. Such consent may be assumed in case of fire or other disaster requiring prompt protective action.

2. The receiving State is under a special duty to take all appropriate steps to protect the premises of the special mission against any intrusion or damage and to prevent any disturbance of the peace of the mission or impairment of its dignity.

3. The premises of the special mission, their furnishings, other property used in the operation of the special mission and its means of transport shall be immune from search, requisition, attachment or execution.

Commentary

(1) The last sentence of paragraph 1 of this article reproduces, with the necessary drafting changes, the last sentence of article 31, paragraph 2 of the Vienna Convention on Consular Relations. The other provisions of article 25 are based on article 22 of the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations.

(2) The offices of special missions are quite often established in premises which already enjoy the privilege of inviolability. This is so if they are in the building occupied by the permanent diplomatic mission of the sending State. But if the special mission occupies premises of its own they must, of course, enjoy inviolability.

(3) The Commission discussed the — no doubt rather exceptional — case of a dispute between the head of the special mission and the authorities of the receiving State concerning access by those authorities to the

premises of the special mission. Article 25 provides that in such a situation the receiving State may apply to the head of the permanent diplomatic mission, as the general and political representative of the sending State, for permission to enter the premises occupied by the special mission.

(4) The last sentence of paragraph 1 of article 25 provides that the necessary consent to enter the premises protected by inviolability may be assumed in case of fire or other disaster requiring prompt protective action. The Commission added this provision to the draft on the proposal of certain governments, although it was opposed by several members of the Commission as they considered that it might lead to abuses.

Article 26.⁵⁷—Inviolability of archives and documents

The archives and documents of the special mission shall be inviolable at any time and wherever they may be.

Commentary

(1) This article is identical with article 24 of the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations.

(2) Because of the controversies which have arisen in practice, the Commission considers it necessary to lay particular stress on the inviolability of documents carried on the persons or in the baggage of members of a special mission, especially when the mission is travelling or has no premises of its own. The inviolability of these documents is clearly established by the concluding words of article 26.

Article 27.⁵⁸—Freedom of movement

Subject to its laws and regulations concerning zones entry into which is prohibited or regulated for reasons of national security, the receiving State shall ensure to all members of the special mission such freedom of movement and travel on its territory as is necessary for the performance of the functions of the special mission.

Commentary

(1) This article is based on article 26 of the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations.

(2) The only difference of substance between these two articles is the addition to article 27 of the words "as is necessary for the performance of the functions of the special mission". The Commission wished to take account of the fact that, as special missions only have specific and temporary tasks, they do not need freedom of movement and travel as wide as that accorded to permanent diplomatic missions.

Article 28.⁵⁹—Freedom of communication

1. The receiving State shall permit and protect free communication on the part of the special mission for all official purposes. In communicating with the Government

⁵⁶ Article 19 of the draft adopted by the Commission in 1965.

⁵⁷ Article 20 of the draft adopted by the Commission in 1965.

⁵⁸ Article 21 of the draft adopted by the Commission in 1965.

⁵⁹ Article 22 of the draft adopted by the Commission in 1965.

of the sending State, its diplomatic missions, its consular posts and its other special missions, or with sections of the same mission, wherever situated, the special mission may employ all appropriate means, including couriers and messages in code or cipher. However, the special mission may install and use a wireless transmitter only with the consent of the receiving State.

2. The official correspondence of the special mission shall be inviolable. Official correspondence means all correspondence relating to the special mission and its functions.

3. The bag of the special mission shall not be opened or detained.

4. The packages constituting the bag of the special mission must bear visible external marks of their character and may contain only documents or articles intended for the official use of the special mission.

5. The courier of the special mission, who shall be provided with an official document indicating his status and the number of packages constituting the bag, shall be protected by the receiving State in the performance of his functions. He shall enjoy personal inviolability and shall not be liable to any form of arrest or detention.

6. The sending State or the special mission may designate couriers *ad hoc* of the special mission. In such cases the provisions of paragraph 5 of this article shall also apply, except that the immunities therein mentioned shall cease to apply when the courier *ad hoc* has delivered to the consignee the special mission's bag in his charge.

7. The bag of the special mission may be entrusted to the captain of a ship or of a commercial aircraft scheduled to land at an authorized port of entry. He shall be provided with an official document indicating the number of packages constituting the bag, but he shall not be considered to be a courier of the special mission. By arrangement with the appropriate authorities, the special mission may send one of its members to take possession of the bag directly and freely from the captain of the ship or of the aircraft.

Commentary

(1) This article is based on article 27 of the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations.

(2) There are two differences of substance between these two articles:

(i) The words "[with] its other special missions, or with sections of the same mission", have been added in paragraph 1 of article 28, because a special mission frequently needs to communicate with other special missions of the same sending State or with sections of the same mission which are elsewhere;

(ii) Paragraph 7 of article 28 provides that the bag of the special mission may be entrusted not only to the captain of a commercial aircraft, as provided for the diplomatic bag, in article 27 of the Convention on Diplomatic Relations, but also to the captain of a merchant ship. This additional provision is taken from article 35 of the Convention on Consular Relations.

(3) As to terminology, the Commission had a choice between two sets of expressions to designate the bag and courier of a special mission. It could have referred to them as "the diplomatic bag of the special mission" and "the diplomatic courier of the special mission" or, more simply, as "the bag of the special mission" and "the courier of the special mission". The Commission chose the second alternative in order to prevent any possibility of confusion with the bag and courier of the permanent diplomatic mission.

(4) The Commission wishes to stress that by the expression "diplomatic missions", used in the second sentence of paragraph 1, it means either a permanent diplomatic mission, or a mission to an international organization, or a specialized diplomatic mission of a permanent character.

Article 29. 60—Personal inviolability

The persons of the representatives of the sending State in the special mission and of the members of its diplomatic staff shall be inviolable. They shall not be liable to any form of arrest or detention. The receiving State shall treat them with due respect and shall take all appropriate steps to prevent any attack on their persons, freedom or dignity.

Commentary

(1) This article reproduces, with the necessary drafting changes, the provisions of article 29 of the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations.

(2) The Commission considered that, except in certain exceptional situations such as that contemplated in article 40, personal inviolability should, by its very nature, be deemed to be indivisible. The Commission therefore decided to follow article 29 of the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations, which makes no distinction between proceedings instituted against a person enjoying inviolability on account of acts committed by him in the exercise of his official functions and proceedings instituted against him on account of acts committed in his private capacity.

Article 30.⁶¹—Inviolability of the private accommodation

1. The private accommodation of the representatives of the sending State in the special mission and of the members of its diplomatic staff shall enjoy the same inviolability and protection as the premises of the special mission.

2. Their papers, correspondence and, except as provided in paragraph 4 of article 31, their property, shall likewise enjoy inviolability.

Commentary

(1) This article reproduces, without any change of substance, the provisions of article 30 of the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations.

(2) As regards drafting, in view of the temporary character of special missions the Commission has replaced the word "residence", used in article 30 of the Vienna Convention, by the word "accommodation".

⁶⁰ Article 24 of the draft adopted by the Commission in 1965.

⁶¹ Article 25 of the draft adopted by the Commission in 1965.

(3) Draft article 30 makes no distinction as to the nature of the private accommodation. It applies equally to rooms in hotels and rooms in other buildings open to the public, to private houses and to rented apartments. The Commission considers it necessary to emphasize this point because receiving States have sometimes claimed that persons living in a hotel or in some other building open to the public are not entitled to invoke the inviolability of private accommodation.

Article 31 62—Immunity from jurisdiction

1. The representatives of the sending State in the special mission and the members of its diplomatic staff shall enjoy immunity from the criminal jurisdiction of the receiving State.

2. They shall also enjoy immunity from the civil and administrative jurisdiction of the receiving State, except in the case of:

(a) A real action relating to private immovable property situated in the territory of the receiving State, unless the person in question holds it on behalf of the sending State for the purposes of the mission;

(b) An action relating to succession in which the person in question is involved as executor, administrator, heir or legatee as a private person and not on behalf of the sending State;

(c) An action relating to any professional or commercial activity exercised by the person in question in the receiving State outside his official functions;

(d) An action for damages arising out of an accident caused by a vehicle used outside the official functions of the person in question.

3. The representatives of the sending State in the special mission and the members of its diplomatic staff are not obliged to give evidence as witnesses.

4. No measures of execution may be taken in respect of a representative of the sending State in the special mission or a member of its diplomatic staff except in the cases coming under sub paragraphs (a), (b), (c) and (d)of paragraph 2 of this article, and provided that the measures concerned can be taken without infringing the inviolability of his person or his accommodation.

5. The immunity from jurisdiction of the representatives of the sending State in the special mission and of the members of its diplomatic staff does not exempt them from the jurisdiction of the sending State.

Commentary

(1) This article is based on article 31 of the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations.

(2) During the discussion in the Commission, several members maintained that, in the case of special missions, immunity from civil and administrative jurisdiction should be limited to acts performed in the exercise of official functions. The Commission decided, however, to follow the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations in this matter with one exception, which is provided for in paragraph 2 (d) of article 31 of this draft.

(3) The provisions of paragraph 2 (d), which do not appear in article 31 of the Vienna Convention, were included in the draft at the request of several governments. Their effect is to except from immunity from civil and administrative jurisdiction any action for damages arising out of an accident caused by a vehicle used outside official functions.

Article 32.⁶³—Exemption from social security legislation

1. Subject to the provisions of paragraph 2 of this article, representatives of the sending State in the special mission and members of its diplomatic staff shall with respect to services rendered for the sending State be exempt from social security provisions which may be in force in the receiving State.

2. The exemption provided for in paragraph 1 of this article shall also apply to persons who are in the sole private employ of a representative of the sending State in the special mission or of a member of its diplomatic staff, on condition:

(a) That such employed persons are not nationals of or permanently resident in the receiving State; and

(b) That they are covered by the social security provisions which may be in force in the sending State or a third State.

3. Representatives of the sending State in the special mission and members of its diplomatic staff who employ persons to whom the exemption provided for in paragraph 2 of this article does not apply shall observe the obligations which the social security provisions of the receiving State impose upon employers.

4. The exemption provided for in paragraphs 1 and 2 of this article does not exclude voluntary participation in the social security system of the receiving State where such participation is permitted by that State.

5. The provisions of the present article do not affect bilateral and multilateral agreements on social security which have been previously concluded and do not preclude the subsequent conclusion of such agreements.

Commentary

(1) This article is based on article 33 of the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations.

(2) As regards terminology, the Commission decided to substitute the expression "persons who are in the sole private employ" for the expression "private servants", which is used in article 33 of the Vienna Convention. Article 32 of the draft applies not only to servants in the strict sense of the term, but also to other persons in the private employ of members of the special mission such as children's tutors and nurses.

Article 33.⁶⁴ — Exemption from dues and taxes

The representatives of the sending State in the special mission and the members of its diplomatic staff shall be

⁶² Article 26 of the draft adopted by the Commission in 1965.

⁶³ Article 28 of the draft adopted by the Commission in 1965.

⁶⁴ Article 29 of the draft adopted by the Commission in 1965.

exempt from all dues and taxes, personal or real, national, regional or municipal, except:

(a) Indirect taxes of a kind which are normally incorporated in the price of goods or services;

(b) Dues and taxes on private immovable property situated in the territory of the receiving State, unless the person concerned holds it on behalf of the sending State for the purposes of the mission;

(c) Estate, succession or inheritance duties levied by the receiving State, subject to the provisions of article 45;

(d) Dues and taxes on private income having its source in the receiving State and capital taxes on investments made in commercial undertakings in the receiving State;

(e) Charges levied for specific services rendered;

(f) Registration, court or record fees, mortgage dues and stamp duty, with respect to immovable property, subject to the provisions of article 24.

Commentary

(1) This article reproduces, without any substantive change, the provisions of article 34 of the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations.

(2) In their comments, some governments held that the Commission should adopt, in its draft on special missions, rules on tax exemption less liberal than those laid down for permanent diplomatic missions in article 34 of the Vienna Convention. The Special Rapporteur himself considered that the tax exemption granted to representatives of the sending State in a special mission and to members of the diplomatic staff of the mission should apply only to salaries and emoluments received in respect of functions performed in the mission. After studying the question thoroughly, however, the Commission decided to place special missions on the same footing as permanent diplomatic missions in this respect.

Article 34. 65—Exemption from personal services

The receiving State shall exempt the representatives of the sending State in the special mission and the members of its diplomatic staff from all personal services, from all public service of any kind whatsoever, and from military obligations such as those connected with requisitioning, military contributions and billeting.

Commentary

The provisions of this article are identical in substance with those of article 35 of the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations. The Commission considers that they call for no comment.

Article 35.⁶⁶—Exemptions from customs duties and inspection

1. Within the limits of such laws and regulations as it may adopt, the receiving State shall permit entry of and grant exemption from all customs duties, taxes, and related charges other than charges for storage, cartage and similar services, on:

(a) Articles for the official use of the special mission;

(b) Articles for the personal use of the representatives of the sending State in the special mission and the members of its diplomatic staff or of the members of their family who accompany them.

2. The personal baggage of the representatives of the sending State in the special mission and of the members of its diplomatic staff shall be exempt from inspection, unless there are serious grounds for presuming that it contains articles not covered by the exemptions mentioned in paragraph 1 of this article, or articles the import or export of which is prohibited by the law or controlled by the quarantine regulations of the receiving State. Such inspection shall be conducted only in the presence of the person concerned, or of his authorized representative.

Commentary

(1) This article is based on article 36 of the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations.

(2) In paragraph 1 (b), the Commission has used the expression: "[members of their family] who accompany them" instead of the corresponding expression in article 36 of the Vienna Convention: "[members of his family] forming part of his household". It considered that, in view of the characteristics of special missions, it should be possible for members to be accompanied by persons of their family who do not normally form part of their household.

(3) The Commission did not insert in paragraph 1(b) a clause corresponding to that in article 36 of the Vienna Convention, which specifies that exemption from customs duties covers articles intended for the establishment of a diplomatic agent. Such a clause would hardly be justified in a draft dealing with special missions, whose members generally spend too short a time in the receiving State to warrant establishment.

(4) In practice, special missions have sometimes claimed, for themselves or for their members, exemption from the payment of customs duties on consumer goods such as alcoholic beverages and cigarettes. Several governments asked the Commission expressly to exclude such goods from the scope of article 35. The Commission noted, however, that these goods are subject to complicated customs regulations which vary from State to State and that there does not appear to be any universal legal rule on the subject. It therefore refrained from dealing with the matter in the text of article 35, as it considered that the reservation at the beginning of the article gives the receiving State enough latitude for a solution taking into account both its own interests and the nature of the special mission concerned.

Article 36. 67—Administrative and technical staff

Members of the administrative and technical staff of the special mission shall enjoy the privileges and immunities specified in articles 29 to 34, except that the immunity

⁶⁵ Article 30 of the draft adopted by the Commission in 1965.

⁶⁶ Article 31 of the draft adopted by the Commission in 1965.

⁶⁷ Article 32 of the draft adopted by the Commission in 1965.

from civil and administrative jurisdiction of the receiving State specified in paragraph 2 of article 31 shall not extend to acts performed outside the course of their duties. They shall also enjoy the privileges mentioned in paragraph 1 of article 35 in respect of articles imported at the time of their first entry into the receiving State.

Commentary

(1) With three exceptions, this article reproduces the provisions of article 37, paragraph 2 of the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations, with the necessary drafting changes.

(2) The first exception relates to the clause concerning members of the families of administrative and technical staff in article 37, paragraph 2 of the Vienna Convention. This clause was omitted from article 36 of the draft because the Commission has devoted a separate article to members of the family (article 39).

(3) The second exception relates to the clause in article 37, paragraph 2 of the Vienna Convention, excluding from the scope of that article persons who are nationals of or permanently resident in the receiving State. Here, too, no corresponding clause has been inserted in article 36 of the draft, because the Commission has devoted a separate article to persons who are nationals of or permanently resident in the receiving State (article 40).

(4) The third exception relates to the expression "articles imported at the time of first installation", which appears at the end of article 37, paragraph 2, of the Vienna Convention. For the reasons stated in the commentary on article 35, the Commission has replaced this expression by the words "articles imported at the time of their first entry into the receiving State".

Article 37.⁶⁸—Members of the service staff

Members of the service staff of the special mission shall enjoy immunity from the jurisdiction of the receiving State in respect of acts performed in the course of their duties, exemption from dues and taxes on the emoluments they receive by reason of their employment, and exemption from social security legislation as provided in article 32.

Commentary

This article reproduces, with the necessary drafting changes, the provisions of article 37, paragraph 3 of the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations, except for the clause excluding persons who are nationals of or permanently resident in the receiving State. The reasons for the omission of this clause are explained in the commentary on article 36.

Article 38. 69—Private staff

Private staff of the members of the special mission shall be exempt from dues and taxes on the emoluments they receive by reason of their employment. In all other respects, they may enjoy privileges and immunities only to the extent admitted by the receiving State. However, the receiving State must exercise its jurisdiction over those persons in such a manner as not to interfere unduly with the performance of the functions of the special mission.

Commentary

(1) With two exceptions, this article reproduces, with the necessary drafting changes, the provisions of article 37, paragraph 4 of the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations.

(2) The first exception relates to the expression "private servants", for which the Commission has substituted the expression "private staff", for the reasons stated in the commentary on article 32 of this draft.

(3) The second exception is the omission, for the reasons stated in the commentary on article 36, of the clause excluding persons who are nationals of or permanently resident in the receiving State.

Article 39.⁷⁰—Members of the family

1. The members of the families of representatives of the sending State in the special mission and of members of its diplomatic staff shall, if they are not nationals of or permanently resident in the receiving State, enjoy the privileges and immunities specified in articles 29 to 35.

2. Members of the families of the administrative and technical staff of the special mission shall, if they are not nationals of or permanently resident in the receiving State, enjoy the privileges and immunities specified in article 36.

Commentary

As stated above, the Commission wished to place together in a separate article, in so far as that was possible, the provisions of the draft relating to members of the family. Article 39 accordingly reproduces, with the necessary drafting changes, the appropriate provisions of article 37, paragraphs 1 and 2 of the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations. The omission of the expression "forming part of his household" is explained in the commentary on article 35.

Article 40.⁷¹—Nationals of the receiving State and persons permanently resident in the receiving State

1. Except in so far as additional privileges and immunities may be granted by the receiving State, the representatives of the sending State in the special mission and the members of its diplomatic staff who are nationals of or permanently resident in that State shall enjoy immunity from jurisdiction and inviolability only in respect of official acts performed in the exercise of their functions.

2. Other members of the special mission and private staff who are nationals of or permanently resident in the receiving State shall enjoy privileges and immunities only to the extent granted to them by the receiving State. However, the receiving State must exercise its jurisdiction

⁶⁸ Article 33 of the draft adopted by the Commission in 1965.

⁶⁹ Article 34 of the draft adopted by the Commission in 1965.

⁷⁰ Article 35 of the draft adopted by the Commission in 1965.

⁷¹ Article 36 of the draft adopted by the Commission in 1965.

over those persons in such a manner as not to interfere unduly with the performance of the functions of the special mission.

Commentary

(1) This article reproduces, with the necessary drafting changes, article 38 of the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations. Here, too, the expression "private servants" has been replaced by "private staff".

(2) Although the Commission considers that, in principle, personal inviolability should be indivisible, it has inserted in article 40 of its draft a clause corresponding to that in article 38, paragraph 1 of the Vienna Convention, which limits the inviolability of persons who are nationals of or permanently resident in the receiving State to official acts performed in the exercise of their functions.

Article 41.72—Waiver of immunity

1. The sending State may waive the immunity from jurisdiction of its representatives in the special mission, of the members of its diplomatic staff, and of other persons enjoying immunity under articles 36 to 40.

2. Waiver must always be express.

3. The initiation of proceedings by one of the persons referred to in paragraph 1 of this article shall preclude him from invoking immunity from jurisdiction in respect of any counter-claim directly connected with the principal claim.

4. Waiver of immunity from jurisdiction in respect of civil or administrative proceedings shall not be held to imply waiver of immunity in respect of the execution of the judgement, for which a separate waiver shall be necessary.

Commentary

This article reproduces, with the necessary drafting changes, the provisions of article 32 of the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations. It calls for no comment by the Commission.

Article 42. 73-Settlement of civil claims

The sending State shall waive the immunity of any of the persons mentioned in paragraph 1 of article 41 in respect of civil claims in the receiving State when this can be done without impeding the performance of the functions of the special mission, and when immunity is not waived, the sending State shall use its best endeavours to bring about a just settlement of the claims.

Commentary

This article is based on the important principle stated in Resolution II adopted on 14 April 1961 by the United Nations Conference on Diplomatic Intercourse and Immunities. The Commission embodied this principle in an article of its draft because the purpose of immunities is to protect the interests of one sending State, not those of the persons concerned, and in order to facilitate, as far as possible, the satisfactory settlement of civil claims made in the receiving State against members of special missions. This principle is also referred to in the draft preamble drawn up by the Commission.

Article 43.⁷⁴—Transit through the territory of a third State

1. If a representative of the sending State in the special mission or a member of its diplomatic staff passes through or is in the territory of a third State, while proceeding to take up his functions or returning to the sending State, the third State shall accord him inviolability and such other immunities as may be required to ensure his transit or return. The same shall apply in the case of any members of his family enjoying privileges or immunities who are accompanying the person referred to in this paragraph, or travelling separately to join him or to return to their country.

2. In circumstances similar to those specified in paragraph 1 of this article, third States shall not hinder the transit of members of the administrative and technical or service staff of the special mission, or of members of their families, through their territories.

3. Third States shall accord to official correspondence and other official communications in transit, including messages in code or cipher, the same freedom and protection as is accorded by the receiving State. Subject to the provisions of paragraph 4, they shall accord to the couriers and bags of the special mission in transit the same inviolability and protection as the receiving State is bound to accord.

4. The third State shall be bound to comply with the obligations with respect to the persons mentioned in the foregoing three paragraphs only if it has been informed in advance, either in the visa application or by notification, of the transit of those persons as members of the special mission, and has raised no objection to it.

5. The obligation of third States under paragraphs 1, 2 and 3 of this article shall also apply to the persons mentioned respectively in these paragraphs, and to the official communications and the bags of the special mission, when the use of the territory of the third State is due to force majeure.

Commentary

(1) The provisions of paragraphs 1, 2, 3 and 5 of this article are taken from article 40 of the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations.

(2) The provisions of paragraph 4 are not in the Vienna Convention. They make the existence of the obligations of a third State with respect to persons in transit subject to two conditions: the first is that the third State shall have been informed in advance of the transit; the second is that it shall have raised no objection. By including the second condition, the Commission wished to show that a third State is not obliged to give its consent to the transit of special missions and their members through its territory.

⁷² Article 27 of the draft adopted by the Commission in 1965.

 $^{^{73}}$ Proposed by the Drafting Committee during the nineteenth session as article 27 *bis*.

⁷⁴ Article 39 of the draft adopted by the Commission in 1965.

Article 44.⁷⁵—Duration of privileges and immunities

1. Every person entitled to privileges and immunities shall enjoy them from the moment he enters the territory of the receiving State for the purpose of performing his functions in the special mission, or, if already in its territory, from the moment when his appointment is notified to the Ministry of Foreign Affairs or such other organ of the receiving State as may be agreed.

2. When the functions of a person enjoying privileges and immunities have come to an end, such privileges and immunities shall normally cease at the moment when he leaves the country, or on expiry of a reasonable period in which to do so, but shall subsist until that time, even in the case of armed conflict. However, with respect to acts performed by such a person in the exercise of his functions as a member of the special mission, immunity shall continue to subsist.

3. In the event of the death of a member of the special mission, the members of his family shall continue to enjoy the privileges and immunities to which they are entitled until the expiry of a reasonable period in which to leave the country.

Commentary

This article reproduces, with the necessary drafting changes, the provisions of the first three paragraphs of article 39 of the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations. The Commission has placed the provisions of article 39, paragraph 4 of the Vienna Convention in a separate article in the draft — article 45 — as they deal with another question, namely, that of the treatment of the property of a person enjoying privileges and immunities in the event of that person's death.

Article 45.⁷⁶—Property of a member of the special mission or of a member of his family in the event of death

1. In the event of the death of a member of the special mission or of a member of his family, if the deceased was not a national of or permanently resident in the receiving State, the receiving State shall permit the withdrawal of the movable property of the deceased, with the exception of any property acquired in the country the export of which was prohibited at the time of his death.

2. Estate, succession and inheritance duties shall not be levied on movable property which is in the receiving State solely because of the presence there of the deceased as a member of the special mission or as one of the family of a member of the mission.

Commentary

As explained in the commentary on article 44, the source of article 45 is the provisions of article 39, paragraph 4 of the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations. For the sake of clarity, the Commission has divided these provisions into two separate paragraphs.

Article 46.⁷⁷—Right to leave the territory of the receiving State

1. The receiving State must, even in the case of armed conflict, grant facilities to enable persons enjoying privileges and immunities, other than nationals of the receiving State, and members of the families of such persons irrespective of their nationality, to leave at the earliest possible moment. In particular it must, in case of need, place at their disposal the necessary means of transport for themselves and their property.

2. The receiving State is required to grant the sending State facilities for removing the archives of the special mission from the territory of the receiving State.

Commentary

(1) Paragraph 1 of this article reproduces, with the necessary drafting changes, the provisions of article 44 of the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations.

(2) Paragraph 2 contains a provision which is not in the Vienna Convention and which the Commission inserted in the draft on the proposal of several Governments.

Article 47.⁷⁸—Consequences of the cessation of the functions of the special mission

1. When the functions of a special mission come to an end, the receiving State must respect and protect the premises of the special mission so long as they are allocated to it, as well as the property and archives of the special mission. The sending State must withdraw that property and those archives within a reasonable time.

2. In case of absence or breach of diplomatic or consular relations between the sending State and the receiving State and if the functions of the special mission have come to an end, the sending State, even if there is an armed conflict, may entrust the custody of the property and archives of the special mission to a third State acceptable to the receiving State.

Commentary

 This article corresponds to article 45 of the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations. There are, however, several substantive differences between the two articles.
Whereas article 45 of the Vienna Convention necessarily contemplates only the case of recall of a permanent diplomatic mission or breach of diplomatic relations, article 47, paragraph 1, of the draft covers both the existence and the absence or breach of diplomatic relations between the sending State and the receiving State. It specifies two obligations when the functions of a special mission come to an end. The first devolves on the receiving State and the second on the sending State. The receiving State is required to respect and protect the premises

⁷⁵ Article 37 and article 38, para. 1 of the draft adopted by the Commission in 1965.

⁷⁶ Article 38, paras. 2 and 3, of the draft adopted by the Commission in 1965.

⁷⁷ Article 43 of the draft adopted by the Commission in 1965.

 $^{^{78}}$ Article 44, paras. 1 and 3, of the draft adopted by the Commission in 1965.

of the special mission so long as they are allocated to it, as well as the property and archives of the special mission. The sending State is required to withdraw that property and those archives within a reasonable time after the functions of the special mission have come to an end. (3) Paragraph 2 of article 47 deals with the case of absence or breach of diplomatic or consular relations between the sending State and the receiving State. It provides that if the functions of the special mission come to an end in these circumstances, the sending State, even if there is an armed conflict, may entrust the custody of the property and archives of the special mission to a third State acceptable to the receiving State.

Part III.—General provisions

Article 48.⁷⁹—Obligation to respect the laws and regulations of the receiving State

1. Without prejudice to their privileges and immunities, it is the duty of all persons enjoying these privileges and immunities under the present articles to respect the laws and regulations of the receiving State. They also have a duty not to interfere in the internal affairs of that State.

2. The premises of the special mission must not be used in any manner incompatible with the functions of the special mission, as envisaged in the present articles or in other rules of general international law or in any special agreements in force between the sending and the receiving States.

Commentary'

(1) This article is based on the provisions of article 41, paragraphs 1 and 3, of the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations.

(2) The words "laid down" in the expression "the functions of the mission as laid down in the present Convention" in article 41, paragraph 3 of the Vienna Convention, have been replaced by the word "envisaged" in the corresponding expression in article 48, paragraph 2 of the draft. For the draft does not lay down the functions of special missions, but leaves the field of activity of each mission to be determined by the mutual consent of the sending and receiving States (article 3).

(3) The question of asylum in the premises of the special mission is not dealt with in the draft. In order to avoid any misunderstanding, the Commission wishes to point out that among the special agreements referred to in article 48, paragraph 2, there are certain treaties governing the right to grant asylum in mission premises, which are valid as between the parties that concluded them.

Article 49.⁸⁰—Professional activity

The representatives of the sending State in the special mission and the members of its diplomatic staff shall not practise for personal profit any professional or commercial activity in the receiving State.

Commentary

(1) This article reproduces, with the necessary drafting changes, the provisions of article 42 of the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations.

(2) Some Governments proposed the addition of a clause providing that the receiving State may permit the persons referred to in article 49 of the draft to practise a professional or commercial activity on its territory. The Commission took the view that the right of the receiving State to grant such permission is self-evident. It therefore preferred to make no substantive departure from the text of the Vienna Convention on this point.

Article 50.⁸¹—Non-discrimination

1. In the application of the provisions of the present articles, no discrimination shall be made as between States.

2. However, discrimination shall not be regarded as taking place:

(a) Where the receiving State applies any of the provisions of the present articles restrictively because of a restrictive application of that provision to its special mission in the sending State;

(b) Where by custom or agreement States extend to each other more favourable treatment than is required by the provision of the present articles;

(c) Where States agree among themselves to reduce reciprocally the extent of facilities, privileges and immunities for their special missions, although such a limitation has not been agreed with other States.

Commentary

(1) Paragraphs 1 and 2 (a) and (b) of this article reproduce, with the necessary drafting changes, the provisions of article 72 of the Vienna Convention on Consular Relations.

(2) Paragraph 2 (c) contains a provision which is not in the Vienna Convention on Consular Relations. Under the terms of this provision it is not regarded as discrimination if two or more States agree among themselves to reduce reciprocally the extent of the facilities, privileges and immunities of their special missions, although such a limitation has not been agreed on with other States. The Commission wishes to stress that agreements limiting the extent of facilities, privileges and immunities, concluded in accordance with this sub-paragraph, can produce effects only as between the parties thereto.

ANNEX

Draft preamble for a Convention on special missions The States parties to the present Convention,

Recalling that the need to accord a particular status to special missions of States has always been recognized.

⁷⁹ Article 40 of the draft adopted by the Commission in 1965.

⁸⁰ Article 42 of the draft adopted by the Commission in 1965.

⁸¹ Proposed by the Special Rapporteur as article 40 bis in his fourth report. See p. 103 above (A/CN.4/194 and Add.1-5).

Having in mind the Purposes and Principles of the Charter of the United Nations concerning the sovereign equality of States, the maintenance of international peace and security and the development of friendly relations and co-operation among States,

Recalling the resolution of the United Nations Conference on Diplomatic Intercourse and Immunities (1961) relating to the importance of special missions,

Believing that the Vienna Conventions on Diplomatic and Consular Relations have contributed to the fostering of friendly relations among nations, irrespective of their differing constitutional and social systems, and that they should be completed by a convention on special missions and their privileges and immunities,

Realizing that the purpose of such privileges and immunities is not to benefit individuals but to ensure the efficient performance of the functions of special missions as representing States,

Affirming that the rules of customary international law should continue to govern questions not expressly regulated by the provisions of the present Convention, *Have agreed* as follows

CHAPTER III

Other decisions and conclusions of the Commission

A. ORGANIZATION OF FUTURE WORK

36. The Commission discussed this item at its 917th, 928th, 929th, 938th and 939th meetings. At its 928th meeting it received an oral report from the two officers of the current session then present in Geneva (Sir Humphrey Waldock, Chairman, and Mr. Endre Ustor, Second Vice-Chairman) and four former Chairmen of the Commission (Mr. Roberto Ago, Mr. Milan Bartoš, Mr. Eduardo Jiménez de Aréchaga and Mr. Mustafa Kamil Yasseen), who had been asked to consider the matter.

37. It was noted that after the completion of the draft articles on special missions, the following three topics already taken up by the Commission remained on its programme of work:

- 1. Succession of States and Governments;
- 2. State responsibility;

3. Relations between States and inter-governmental organizations.

The Commission considered how and when these three topics could best be dealt with, as well as various suggestions by members of additional topics for inclusion in the programme of work.

1. Succession of States and Governments

38. As the former Special Rapporteur on this topic, Mr. Manfred Lachs, was elected to the International Court of Justice during the last regular session of the General Assembly, the Commission considered new arrangements for dealing with the topic. In doing so it took account of the broad outline of the subject laid down in the report of a Sub-Committee of the Commission in 1963,⁸² which was agreed to by the Commission in the same year.⁸³ That outline divided the topic into three main headings, as follows:

(a) Succession in respect of treaties;

(b) Succession in respect of rights and duties resulting from sources other than treaties;

(c) Succession in respect of membership of international organizations.

In connexion with this outline, the Commission considered a suggestion by Mr. Lachs that the topic should be divided among more than one Special Rapporteur, in order to advance its study more rapidly.

39. This suggestion won the support of the Commission. It had already decided in 1963 to give priority to succession in respect of treaties, and that aspect of the topic had, in its opinion, become more urgent in view of the convocation by the General Assembly, in its resolution 2166 (XXI) of 5 December 1966, of a Conference on the Law of Treaties in 1968 and 1969, and of views expressed in the Sixth Committee at the last session of the General Assembly. The Commission therefore decided to advance the work on that aspect as rapidly as possible at its twentieth session in 1968. Sir Humphrey Waldock, the Commission's former Special Rapporteur on the law of treaties, was appointed Special Rapporteur to deal with succession in respect of treaties.

40. The Commission considered that the second aspect of the topic, namely, succession in respect of rights and duties resulting from sources other than treaties, was a diverse and complex matter, which would require some preparatory study. It entrusted that aspect to Mr. Mohammed Bedjaoui as Special Rapporteur, and requested him to present an introductory report which would enable the Commission to decide what parts of the subject should be dealt with, the priorities to be given to them, and the general manner of treatment.

41. The third aspect of the topic, succession in respect of membership of international organizations, was considered to be related both to succession in respect of treaties and to relations between States and intergovernmental organizations. It was therefore left aside for the time being, without being assigned to a Special Rapporteur.

2. State responsibility

42. Mr. Roberto Ago, Special Rapporteur on State responsibility, submitted a note on this topic (A/CN.4/196) to the Commission, which discussed it at its 935th meeting. The Commission confirmed the instructions given to the Special Rapporteur at the fifteenth session in 1963 as set forth in his paper. The Commission noted with satisfaction that Mr. Ago will submit a substantive report on the topic at the twenty-first session of the Commission.

⁸² Yearbook of the International Law Commission, 1963, vol. II, p. 261, para. 13.

⁸³ Ibid., p. 224, para. 60.

3. Relations between States and inter-governmental organizations

43. Mr. Abdullah El-Erian, Special Rapporteur on relations between States and inter-governmental organizations, submitted a report on this topic (A/CN.4/195 and Add.1) to the Commission at its nineteenth session, but the Commission was unable to discuss it owing to the pressure of other work and to the unavoidable absence of Mr. El-Erian. That report, together with the report which Mr. El-Erian intends to submit at the next session, will contain a full set of draft articles on the privileges and immunities of representatives of States to inter-governmental organizations, and both reports will be submitted for discussion in 1968.

4. Additional topics suggested for inclusion in the programme of work

44. Apart from expressing their views in regard to the method of treatment of topics on the present programme of work, several members suggested additional topics for consideration by the Commission in the future when its other work might permit.

The Commission considered in the first place 45. two topics which the General Assembly had requested it to take up as soon as it considered advisable, and which had been included in its programme of work, though no Special Rapporteur had ever been appointed to deal with them. These were the right of asylum, referred to the Commission by General Assembly resolution 1400 (XIV) of 21 November 1959, and historic waters, including historic bays, referred by General Assembly resolution 1453 (XIV) of 7 December 1959. Most members doubted whether the time had yet come to proceed actively with either of these topics. Both were of considerable scope and raised some political problems, and to undertake either of them at the present time might seriously delay the completion of work on the important topics already under study, on which several resolutions of the General Assembly had recommended that the Commission should continue its work.

46. Among the other topics mentioned were the effect of unilateral acts; the use of international rivers; and international bays and international straits. The possibility was also mentioned that the Commission might return to some of the topics it dealt with in its early years, such as the draft Declaration on the Rights and Duties of States, and the question of international criminal jurisdiction and related matters. Other members thought that the Commission should envisage work on questions of international legal procedure, such as model rules for conciliation, arrangements to enable international organizations to be parties to cases before the International Court of Justice, or drawing up the statute of a new United Nations body for fact-finding in order to assist the General Assembly in its consideration of that question.

47. While some members felt that several of these topics, and in particular unilateral acts and international rivers, were suitable for work by the Commission in

the future, it was believed that their wide scope precluded their being taken up at the present time, when the Commission was preparing to deal with the major topics of State succession and State responsibility. The most that could be done would be to add to the programme a topic of limited scope, which could be taken up when, during a session, the broader topics had temporarily to be laid aside to allow time for the work of a Special Rapporteur or of the Drafting Committee.

It was recalled that, in dealing with the law of treaties, the Commission had laid aside one aspect of that topic — the "most-favoured-nation" clause which it had not considered indispensable to deal with in its codification of the general law of treaties, although, as was said in its report on the work of its eighteenth session, "it felt that such clauses might at some future time appropriately form the subject of a special study".84 The Commission noted that several representatives in the Sixth Committee at the twenty-first session of the General Assembly had urged that the Commission should deal with this aspect.85 In view of the more manageable scope of the topic, of the interest expressed in it, and of the fact that clarification of its legal aspects might be of assistance to the United Nations Commission on International Trade Law (UNCITRAL), which will begin its work in 1968, the Commission unanimously decided to place on its programme the topic of most-favoured-nation clauses in the law of treaties. It also unanimously decided to appoint Mr. Endre Ustor as Special Rapporteur on that topic.

5. Review of the Commission's programme and methods of work

49. The Commission, having in mind that next year it will hold its twentieth session, considered that that session would be an appropriate time for a general review of the topics which had been suggested for codification and progressive development, of the relation between its work and that of other United Nations organs engaged in development of the law, and of its procedures and methods of work under its Statute. It therefore unanimously decided to place on the provisional agenda for its twentieth session an item on review of the Commission's programme and methods of work.

B. DATE AND PLACE OF THE TWENTIETH SESSION

50. In view of the fact that the dates of the first session of the United Nations Conference on the Law of Treaties have been tentatively set at 26 March to 24 May 1968, the Commission decided to hold its next session for ten weeks from 27 May to 2 August 1968, at the United Nations Office at Geneva. If, however, other dates are finally set for the Conference, the Commission would prefer to begin its session earlier in May.

⁸⁴ See Yearbook of the International Law Commission, 1966, vol. II, document A/6309/Rev.1, part II, para. 32.

⁸⁵ See Official Records of the General Assembly, Twenty-first Session, Annexes, agenda item 84, A/6516, para. 47.

C. CO-OPERATION WITH OTHER BODIES

1. Asian-African Legal Consultative Committee

51. Mr. Mustafa Kamil Yasseen reported orally at the 932nd meeting, and later in writing (A/CN.4/197), on his attendance as an observer on behalf of the Commission at the Asian-African Legal Consultative Committee during its eighth session, held in Bangkok from 8 to 17 August 1966.

52. The Asian-African Legal Consultative Committee was represented before the Commission by Mr. J. H. Rizvi, who addressed the Commission at its 932nd meeting. He commented on the importance of the Commission's draft articles on special missions for Asian and African countries, on the use of the expression "special mission", and on the work of the Committee at its last session, at which a final draft on the rights of refugees had been adopted, including the right of asylum, the right to compensation and the right of repatriation. He stated that at its next session the Committee would examine a report on the draft articles on the law of treaties adopted by the Commission.

53. The Commission was informed that the next session of the Committee, to which it has a standing invitation to send an observer, would be held at Karachi during the second half of December 1967 or during January 1968. In view of the agenda for that session, the Commission requested its Chairman, Sir Humphrey Waldock, to attend the session, or, if he were unable to do so, to appoint another member of the Commission for the purpose.

2. European Committee on Legal Co-operation

54. Mr. Milan Bartoš reported orally at the 898th meeting on his attendance as an observer on behalf of the Commission at meetings of the European Committee on Legal Co-operation at Strasbourg between 14 and 18 November 1966. Mr. Mustafa Kamil Yasseen also reported (A/CN.4/198) on his attendance at meetings of the Committee, also held at Strasbourg, between 10 and 14 April 1967.

55. The European Committee on Legal Co-operation was represented by Mr. H. Golsong, who addressed the Commission at its 898th meeting. He referred to the work of the Committee on a European Convention on Consular Functions, to be opened for signature later in 1967, intended to supplement the Vienna Convention on Consular Relations of 1963. He stated that the Committee was continuing work on the immunity of States from jurisdiction and on the privileges and immunities of international organizations; on the latter topic he hoped to be able to present the results of the Committee's work to the Commission in 1968 for consideration in connexion with the latter's work on relations between States and inter-governmental organizations.

56. The Commission was informed that the next session of the Committee, to which it has a standing invitation to send an observer, would be held at Strasbourg 4 to 8 December 1967. In view of the agenda for

that session, the Commission requested its Chairman, Sir Humphrey Waldock, to attend the session, or, if he were unable to do so, to appoint another member of the Commission for the purpose.

3. Inter-American Juridical Committee

57. The Inter-American Juridical Committee was represented by Mr. José Joaquín Caicedo Castilla, who addressed the Commission at its 911th meeting.

58. Mr. Caicedo Castilla referred in his statement to a Protocol adopted by the Third Special Inter-American Conference held at Buenos Aires in April 1967, which would amend the 1948 Charter of the Organization of American States. While under the Charter as amended the Inter-American Juridical Committee will be increased from nine to eleven members and will be the main legal organ of the Organization, the Inter-American Council of Jurists, to which the Commission has in the past sent observers, will no longer exist. Mr. Caicedo Castilla, as Observer for the Juridical Committee, said that it was desirable to strengthen the co-operation between the Commission and inter-American juridical organs, and invited the Commission to be represented by an observer at the next session of the Committee, to be held at Rio de Janeiro from 10 July to 9 October 1967. The Commission recalled article 26, paragraph 4 of its Statute, which recognizes the advisability of consultation by the Commission with inter-governmental organizations whose task is the codification of international law, such as those of the American States, and decided in principle to send observers to future sessions of the Juridical Committee when items related to those on the programme of the Commission are under discussion. It also requested its secretariat to explore with the secretariat of the Juridical Committee the various means of establishing closer co-operation. The Commission regretted, however, that in view of the dates of the Committee's session in 1967 and of the fact that the items on its agenda for that session are unrelated to the present programme of the Commission, it would be unable to send an observer this year.

D. REPRESENTATION AT THE TWENTY-SECOND SESSION OF THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY

59. The Commission decided that it would be represented at the twenty-second session of the General Assembly by its Chairman, Sir Humphrey Waldock.

E. PREPARATIONS FOR THE CONFERENCE ON THE LAW OF TREATIES

60. At the 939th meeting, the Secretary of the Commission made a report on the programme of the Office of Legal Affairs in regard to publications of interest to the Commission. In this connexion the Commission recalls that by General Assembly resolution 2166 (XXI) of 5 December 1966 the Secretary-General is requested to present all relevant documentation to the forthcoming Conference on the Law of Treaties. The Commission recommends that as part of such documentation the Secretary-General should publish revised editions of the Handbook of Final Clauses (ST/LEG/6) and the Summary of Practice of the Secretary-General as Depositary of Multilateral Conventions (ST/LEG/7). These documents, which were last published in 1957 and 1959, respectively, furnish summaries of practice which will be of use not only to the Conference on the Law of Treaties but also to future United Nations conferences engaged in drafting multilateral conventions. It would be desirable, if feasible, to publish those documents before the discussion of the law of treaties by the General Assembly at its twenty-second session.

F. SEMINAR ON INTERNATIONAL LAW

61. In pursuance of General Assembly resolutions 2045 (XX) of 8 December 1965 and 2167 (XXI) of 5 December 1966, the United Nations Office at Geneva organized a third session of the seminar on International Law for advanced students of the subject and young government officials responsible in their respective countries for dealing with questions of international law, to take place during the nineteenth session of the Commission. The Seminar, which held eleven meetings between 22 May and 9 June 1967, was attended by twenty-three students, all from different countries. Participants also attended meetings of the Commission during that period. They heard lectures by eight members of the Commission (Mr. Ago, Mr. Bartoš, Mr. Reuter, Mr. Tammes, Mr. Tsuruoka, Mr. Ustor, Mr. Yasseen and Sir Humphrey Waldock), two members of the Secretariat (Mr. G. Wattles and Mr. P. Raton) and Professor Virally of Geneva University. Lectures were given on various subjects, such as the problem of codification and development of international law in general, in the United Nations, in the Commission or in the General Assembly. The codification of the law of treaties and the draft convention prepared by the Commission on that subject were also discussed. Other topics included the question of special missions and recent problems of the law of the sea. Two lectures were devoted to two subjects dealt with by the Sixth Committee of the General Assembly: the question of methods of fact finding and that of International Trade Law and UNCITRAL.

62. The Seminar was held without cost to the United Nations, which undertook no responsibility for the travel or living expenses of the participants. However, the Governments of Denmark, the Federal Republic of Germany, Israel, Norway and Sweden offered scholarships for participants from developing countries. Eight candidates were chosen to be beneficiaries of the scholarships. The Government of Finland also offered a scholarship, but the conditions under which it was to be granted could not be met at the present session.

63. Due consideration was given to remarks made by members of the International Law Commission at preceding sessions and by representatives in the Sixth Committee of the General Assembly, and to parts of General Assembly resolutions 2045 (XX) and 2167 (XXI) calling for the participation of a reasonable number of nationals from developing countries. The scholarships granted by the countries mentioned in the preceding paragraph made it possible this year to further the aim of admitting a larger number of nationals from developing countries. It is hoped that scholarships will also be granted next year.

64. On behalf of the Commission, the Chairman expressed appreciation of the way in which the Seminar was organized, the high level of the debates in the Seminar and the results achieved. The Commission recommended that further Seminars should be held in conjunction with its sessions.

ANNEXES

ANNEX I

Comments a by Governments b on the draft articles on special missions adopted by the Commission in 1965 c

CONTENTS

Sect	ion									_		_											Page
1.	Australia	L	•		•		•		•	•	•	•					•		•			•	371
2.	Austria	•				•	•					•		•	•		•	•	•			•	373
3.	Belgium			•		•	•		•		•	•				•	•	•			•		373
4.	Canada	•	•	•	•			•		•		•	•	•			•	•	•	•	٠	•	377
	Chile .																						378
6.	Czechosl	٥v	al	cia	•	•	•		•	•	•	•	٠	•	•		•	•	•	•			380
7.	Finland	•			•		•		•		•	•		•				•	•	•	•	•	380
8.	Gabon	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•		•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•		•	•	•	382
9.	Greece	•	•	•	•	•	•		•	٠						•		•	•	•		•	383
10.	Guatema	ıla	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•		•	•		•	•	٠		•	•	384
11.	Israel.	•	•	٠	·	•	·	·	٠	٠	٠	•	٠	•	•	·	•	•	•	•	٠	٠	385

^a Originally circulated as documents A/CN.4/188 and A/ CN.4/188/Add.1-4; A/CN.4/193 and A/CN.4/193/Add.1-5. ^b See General Assembly resolution 2045 (XX).

^c Yearbook of the International Law Commission, 1965, vol. II, document A/CN.4/179, chapter III, section B.

Section																	
2. Jamaica			•	•		•				•				•	•		•
13. Japan .				•		•	•				•		•		•		
14. Malawi																	
15. Malta.																	
6. Netherla																	
7. Pakistan																	
8. Sweden																	
9. Ukrainia	in S	ovi	et	S	oc	ia	lis	t)	Re	pu	bli	ic					
0. Union c	of Se	ovie	et	Sc	oci	ali	ist	R	ler	but	olie	cs					
1. United I																	
2. United	State	es o	of	A	m	eri	ica										
3. Upper V	/olta	ì.															
24. Yugosla																	

1. Australia

Transmitted by a note verbale of 24 April 1967 from the Permanent Representative to the United Nations

[Original: English]

1. The Australian Government has studied with interest the draft articles on temporary missions drawn up by the International Law Commission and wishes to express its appreciation of the detailed and careful work of the Commission in drafting these articles.

2. The Australian Government, while agreeing with the desirability of codifying the modern rules of international law on this subject, feels obliged to express its concern at, and opposition to, the apparent intention not only to apply these articles to a wide range of persons, but also to accord to those persons privileges and immunities which could well go beyond the bounds of functional necessity. At this stage the Australian Government wishes to make the following general comments directed to these two points and to several other aspects of the draft.

WHAT CONSTITUTES A "SPECIAL MISSION"?

3. The draft articles do not provide any substantive definition of what constitutes a temporary "special mission" for the purpose of the articles, nor is any such substantive definition given in the draft introductory article that has been prepared by the Special Rapporteur.^d The commentaries on the draft articles indicate that the intention is to give the term a very broad interpretation indeed, covering all temporary missions sent by one State to perform specific tasks, irrespective of whether that task is dominantly political or of a purely technical character. The Special Rapporteur in his first report on the subject ^e gave as instances of different kinds of missions that would come under the proposed new régime: political, military, police, transport, water supply, economic, veterinary, humanitarian and labour recruiting.

4. The Australian Government shares the concern that has been expressed by some other Governments at the wide range of persons that appear to come within the scope of the draft articles. In its view there are many kinds of bilateral intercourse of a technical or administrative nature between States in which flexibility of procedure is of considerable importance and it would not be advantageous to apply to such cases the formal régime proposed in the draft articles.

5. In view of its concern on these points, the Australian Government wishes to refer to the following comments on the scope of the draft articles made by the Special Rapporteur in addendum 2 of his third report (A/CN.4/189/Add.2):

"In the first place, no State is obliged to receive a special mission from another State without its consent. Secondly, in the Commission's draft, the task of a special mission is determined by mutual consent of the sending State and of the receiving State; on receiving a visiting foreign mission, the receiving State is entitled to make it clear that it is not considered as a special mission; and finally, the existence and extent of privileges and immunities can also be determined by mutual consent of the States concerned. It is very difficult to make reservations in the text of the article with regard to certain categories of special mission. For that reason, the Commission left it to States themselves to determine what they would regard as a special mission."

6. While noting these comments, the Australian Government considers that as presently drafted, the draft articles and the commentaries do not adequately reflect the idea that States may themselves determine what they should regard as a special mission.

7. The Australian Government appreciates that it is very difficult to make reservations in the text as to certain types of special missions — e.g. to make a distinction between special missions of a political nature and those of a technical nature. Nevertheless,

the Australian Government believes that a further attempt should be made to clarify, and clearly limit, the range of special missions to which the draft articles are to apply.

8. The lines of a practical solution may possibly be found by singling out those cases that are generally agreed as having the attributes of special missions to which the régime laid down in the draft articles should apply, and leaving the application of the draft articles to other cases to be dealt with by mutual agreement between the States concerned. The following are cases that might be considered for inclusion in the first suggested category:

- (a) Special missions led by Heads of State;
- (b) Special missions led by Heads of Government;
- (c) Special missions led by Ministers for Foreign Affairs;
- (d) Special missions led by other Cabinet Ministers;
- (e) Diplomatic ceremonial and formal missions;
- (f) Itinerant envoys.

PRIVILEGES AND IMMUNITIES

9. The wide scope of the draft articles also causes the Australian Government particular concern because of the intention to extend to all missions that come within the articles a range of privileges and immunities based on those contained in the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations, which deals of course with permanent diplomatic missions. The Australian Government does not believe that the extension of this wide range of privileges and immunities to all types of special missions would be justified. It considers that the grant of privileges and immunities should be determined by functional necessity; i.e., they should be limited strictly to those required to ensure the efficient discharge of the functions of the special mission and should have regard to the temporary nature of the mission in that connexion. It is also necessary to have regard to the status of the person who is the head of the special mission. Standards of privileges and immunities that would be appropriate in the case of high level missions, whose heads hold high offices of State, should not be made automatically applicable to other cases.

10. The Australian Government appreciates the proposal made by the Special Rapporteur to insert a new paragraph 2 in article 17 reading as follows:

"2. The facilities, privileges and immunities provided for in Part II of these articles shall be granted to the extent required by these articles, unless the receiving State and the sending State agree otherwise."

The Australian Government considers, however, that this proposal would not allay the anxieties already expressed by some Governments about the extension of a wide range of privileges and immunities to all types of special missions. In the absence of agreement between both parties the receiving State would be obliged to accord the range of privileges and immunities set out in the draft — or not receive the mission at all.

DELEGATIONS TO INTERNATIONAL CONFERENCES CONVENED BY STATES

11. The Australian Government is of the opinion that the draft articles could usefully cover the situation of representatives to congresses and conferences other than congresses and conferences convened within the framework of an international organization. In this connexion it has noted that the Commission at its fifteenth session decided that, for the time being, the terms of reference of the Special Rapporteur should not cover the question of delegates to congresses and conferences. The Australian Government believes that the time is opportune to take up this matter again and notes with interest the statement of the Special Rapporteur in his third report (A/CN.4/189) that it will be necessary for the Commission to revert to this question, which will be studied jointly by two Special Rapporteurs (the Special Rapporteur on

^d Yearbook of the International Law Commission, 1966, vol. II, (document A/CN.4/189/Add.1).

[•] Yearbook of the International Law Commission, 1964, vol. II, pp. 83-84, para. 86.

special missions and a Special Rapporteur on relations between States and international organizations).

NATURE OF THE PROVISIONS RELATING TO SPECIAL MISSIONS

12. The Australian Government supports the decision of the Commission at its eighteenth session to ask the Special Rapporteur to base his draft on the view that the provisions of the draft articles could not in principle constitute rules from which parties would be unable to derogate by mutual agreement.

RELATION BETWEEN SPECIAL MISSION AND PERMANENT DIPLOMATIC MISSION

13. In the report of its seventeenth session,^f the Commission requested views on whether a rule should be included in the final text of the articles on the relation between a special mission and the permanent diplomatic mission, and if so to what effect. The Australian Government considers that there is no need for an express rule on this point. In its view, any question of division of functions is basically for the sending State to determine and further it doubts whether the matter is likely to cause difficulties in practice.

PROVISION PROHIBITING DISCRIMINATION

14. Because of the diverse character of special missions the Australian Government doubts whether it would be practical to include in the final text an article prohibiting discrimination. It will, however, study with interest the proposed article on this matter to be submitted by the Special Rapporteur.

2. Austria

Transmitted by a note verbale of 2 June 1966 from the Permanent Representative to the United Nations

[Original: German]

In the opinion of the Austrian Government, the draft articles on special missions prepared by the International Law Commission constitute a useful contribution to the progressive development of international law, especially so as the increasingly close relations between States make it desirable to define and delimit the rights of the numerous organs of which States make use in their relations with one another.

However, in the opinion of the Austrian Government, the privileges and immunities of such non-diplomatic officials should be codified in such a way that the rights of these officials do not go beyond what is unavoidably necessary for the functioning of special missions, since, even in the case of diplomats and consuls, the principle holds that they enjoy privileges not in their personal interest, but only to facilitate their work.

Moreover, in the further elaboration of the draft articles, care should be taken that their provisions impair the position of traditional diplomacy as little as possible.

Accordingly, it is essential that the relationship between permanent representative authorities (diplomatic missions and consulates) and special missions should be expressly regulated, so as to avoid overlapping and conflicts in the matter of privileges. This would appear to be especially necessary in dealing with the immunities granted under article 26 *et seq*.

A noticeable feature in the Commission's draft is that, unlike the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations and the Vienna Convention on Consular Relations, it contains no definitions of the various categories of members of special missions; in addition, it would seem necessary to define the possible tasks and functions of special missions more specifically than has so far been done in the introduction to the draft articles.

The following observations relate to individual articles.

Article 9

Paragraph 1. It would seem desirable to render the provision more precise by showing in what language the alphabetical order is to be determined, especially as no unambiguous conclusions on this point can be drawn from the commentary.

Article 19

Paragraph 1. This paragraph states that the agents of the receiving State may be allowed access to the premises (including grounds) of the special mission both by the head of the special mission and by the head of the permanent diplomatic mission. This suggests the conclusion that, by analogy, the question raised in paragraph (5) of the commentary to article 2 as to the relationship between the permanent diplomatic mission and the special mission should be settled by recognizing the continuing competence of the former.

Article 32

Article 36, paragraph 2 of the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations contains a limitation in time of the customs exemptions granted to members of the administrative and technical staff. The omission of this limitation in the present draft articles would place the administrative and technical staff of a special mission in a substantially more favourable position than the corresponding staff members of a permanent mission.

In article 32, moreover, instead of referring to article 31 as a whole, reference should be made to article 31, paragraph 1 (b), since it can hardly be intended to grant to administrative and technical staff the same rights as are granted to diplomats in article 31, paragraph 2, which would be going beyond the corresponding provision in the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations. Accordingly, in article 32 of the draft either the same time-limitation to "articles imported at the time of first installation" should be inserted and, in addition, the reference limited to "article 31, paragraph 1 (b)", or the reference to article 31 should be omitted altogether.

Article 35

Paragraph 2. This paragraph should, in the manner already explained in connexion with article 32, and in the light of the wording ultimately adopted for that article, be limited to the privilege set forth in article 31, paragraph 1 (b) and to articles imported at the time of first installation, unless this paragraph is omitted altogether.

3. Belgium

Transmitted by a letter of 25 April 1966 from the Permanent Representative to the United Nations

[Original: French

The Belgian Government wishes first of all to congratulate the International Law Commission of the United Nations on the considerable amount of work it has done on special missions. The draft convention it has transmitted indubitably signifies an appreciable progress in the efforts to codify and develop international law.

A. GENERAL COMMENTS

1. The Belgian authorities are of the opinion that the privileges and immunities provided for in the draft convention should be granted for strictly functional reasons and restrictively. To treat special missions in the same way as permanent diplomatic

^t Yearbook of the International Law Commission, 1965, vol. II, p. 167, para. (5) of the commentary on article 2.

missions seems excessive. There would therefore seem grounds for considering the possibility of regulating privileges and immunities in the first place by bilateral agreement and of making provision in the present draft only for the strict minimum required for the performance of the special mission's functions.

2. With regard to the scope of the draft convention, Belgium is of the opinion that it should cover the situation of representatives to congresses and conferences, with the sole exception of congresses and conferences convened within the framework of an international organization whose statutes incorporate provisions on this subject (specialia derogant generalibus).

3. In the case of so-called high level missions,^g the question arises whether an attempt to define their limits in an instrument may not lead to serious omissions.

In practice, moreover, the rules to be applied to such missions are always established by agreement and in respect of the particular case. That being so, it may be asked whether the rules of protocol in force in each State do not amply suffice.

4. The draft suffers greatly from the absence of a definitions article, which makes the drafting imprecise and clumsy. The Belgian authorities have no wish to press for any particular wording, but, solely for the purpose of making their comments, they have adopted the following definition as a working hypothesis: "The term 'special mission' shall be deemed to mean a temporary official delegation sent by one State to another State for the performance of a specific task."

Moreover, the classification of the categories of persons likely to be included in a special mission is open to criticism and gives rise to ambiguities which appear throughout the text.

This question of the internal organization of special missions will be taken up again in detail under article 6 of the draft.

B. COMMENTS ON THE ARTICLES

Article 1

Paragraph 1. The words "for the performance of specific tasks" and "temporary" should be deleted because they denote characteristics of a special mission which should be stated in the definitions.

The word "consent" does not seem to correspond with the facts of international life. It connotes tolerance rather than approval, whereas what happens in practice is that a proposal is made which is followed by an invitation.

Paragraph 2. Belgium endorses the Commission's opinion that special missions may be sent between States or Governments which do not recognize each other, but wishes to make it clear that this in no way prejudges subsequent recognition.

Article 2

With regard to paragraph 5 of the commentary on this article, Belgium does not believe that the division of competence between a special mission and a permanent diplomatic mission is likely to give rise to difficulties, at any rate for the receiving State, for it is for the sending State to determine the methods of contact among its various missions and to intervene should there be any overlapping of authority. Moreover, it will frequently be the case that a member of the diplomatic mission will be attached to a special mission; he may even lead it as its *ad hoc* head.

Article 4

Paragraph 2. To make the alternative stated at the end of the first sentence clearer, it would be advisable to add the words

"as appropriate", as in article 9, paragraph 2 of the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations.

Article 5

This article is unilateral; the converse situation is also conceivable, i.e., the sending of the same mission by two or more States. Belgium therefore proposes the addition of a new article, which might be drafted as follows:

"Article 5 bis. A special mission may be sent by two or more States. In that case, the sending States shall give the receiving State prior notice of the sending of that mission. Any State may refuse to receive such a mission."

Article 6

Paragraph 1. In order to prevent any confusion with diplomatic terminology, the word "delegate" should be substituted for the word "representative". What should be made quite explicit in the definition of a special mission is its official character, i.e., the fact that it is composed of persons designated by a State to negotiate on its behalf. Consequently, it seems excessive to confer on them automatically a representative character, as that term is construed in diplomacy and politics.

The expression "other members" causes many ambiguities in the articles of the present draft. In the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations, the term "members of the mission" is entirely general and means the head of the mission and the members of the staff, the latter being subdivided into members of the diplomatic staff, members of the administrative and technical staff, and members of the service staff.

The introduction into the present project of a new specific concept without giving it a specific name considerably impairs the intelligibility of the text.

Paragraph 2. A similar confusion is caused by the use of the term "diplomatic staff". If these words apply to advisers and experts, as stated in paragraph 5 of the commentary on the article, there is no reason for not saying so explicitly. Besides, it is to be presumed that the "other members" also enjoy diplomatic status.

Article 7

In order to make the article correspond better with the idea expressed in paragraph 2 of the commentary, it would be better to say "unless otherwise agreed" and to delete the word "normally".

Article 8

Paragraph 1. It should be noted that the difficulties caused by the vagueness of the terminology are particularly marked in sub-paragraph (d).

As to the substance, it should be specified that there must be prior notification, which would avoid having to resort where necessary to the *non grata* procedure, which is always unpleasant for all parties concerned. The text of this paragraph should therefore read as follows: "The sending State shall notify the receiving State in advance..."

Paragraph 2. In this context, the notifications to be made when the special mission has already commenced its functions would concern only persons subsequently called upon to participate in the special mission's work, which would be more in line with the usual practice.

Article 9

Paragraph 1. Belgium is of the opinion that the choice of the language determining the alphabetical order should be made in accordance with the rules of protocol of the receiving State. The end of the paragraph should therefore read "... in comformity with the protocol in force in the receiving State."

⁸ See the "Draft provisions concerning so-called high-level special missions, prepared by the Special Rapporteur", Yearbook of the International Law Commission, 1965, vol. II, p. 192,

New paragraph. It is considered that it would be useful to lead up to the exception which is stated in the following article; there should accordingly be a new paragraph 3 stipulating that "the present article shall not affect the provisions of article 10 relating to special ceremonial and formal missions".

Article 10

This article is ambiguous. It refers to special missions which meet on a ceremonial occasion; but, taken literally, it seems to refer to special missions of all kinds.

It would be both clearer and simpler to state that "precedence among special ceremonial and formal missions shall be governed by the protocol in force in the receiving State".

In that case, Belgium would not wish this article to be regulated by a detailed text such as proposed in paragraph 4 of the commentary.

Article 11

The usefulness of the first sentence of the article is open to question, as the commencement of privileges and immunities is governed by article 37. Furthermore, the present wording may lead to confusion in connexion with protocol, which is precisely where letters of credence may be required.

Lastly, a diplomatic mission should not be qualified as regular, but as permanent. The article might therefore be drafted as follows:

"Where no other provision is made by the protocol in force in the receiving State for special ceremonial and formal missions, the exercise of the function of a special mission shall not depend upon presentation of the special mission by the permanent diplomatic mission or upon the submission of letters of credence of full powers."

Article 12

Sub-paragraphs (a) and (b) should be amalgamated and the word "rappel" should be used rather than the word "révocation", which seems too strong.

Reference should also be made to the comment on article 44, paragraph 2.

Article 13

Paragraph 1. The need for the proviso "in the absence of prior agreement" is not readily apparent; for in any case the procedure contemplated consists of a proposal followed by its approval. It should also be noted that in practice the seat of a special mission is always determined by mutual consent.

Article 15

Belgium is of the opinion that the solution adopted in article 20 of the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations should prevail and that the emblem should be used only on the means of transport of the head of the mission.

Article 16

From the point of view of substance, a fundamental question arises, namely, whether the convention will apply in this case or whether on the contrary this article forms a separate entity.

In other words, is the situation with which it deals regulated solely by the terms of the conditions imposed by the host State or is the host State bound by the fact of its consent to apply the articles of the convention, and in particular those which concern privileges and immunities? In the latter case, to what extent can the conditions imposed by the third State derogate from the provisions of the convention?

From the point of view of drafting, it would be desirable to specify that the consent must be prior and may be withdrawn at any time. The text might therefore be amended to read as follows: "1. Special missions may not perform their functions on the territory of a third State without its prior consent.

"2. The third State may impose conditions which must be observed by the sending State.

"3. The third State may at any time and without having to explain its decision, withdraw its consent."

GENERAL REMARKS ON THE FIRST SIXTEEN ARTICLES

The Belgian Government is of the opinion that it would be more practical to regroup these articles in accordance with the following arrangement:

First would come the articles on the sending of a mission: article 5 would become article 2; article 5 *bis* would become article 3; article 16 would become article 4.

Then the task of a special mission: article 2 would become article 5.

Next would come the provisions dealing with the composition of the mission: article 6 will thus keep its number; article 3 (Appointment) would become article 7; article 8 (Notification) would retain its number; article 4 (Persons declared *non* grata) would become article 9; article 7 (on official communications) would become article 10.

In the case of two articles relating to precedence, article 9 would become article 11 and article 10 would become article 12. Article 11 (Commencement of the functions of a mission) would become article 13, and article 12 (End of the functions) would become article 14; article 13 (Seat of the special mission) would become article 15; article 14 (Nationality of the members of the special mission) would become article 16.

Lastly, article 15 on the right to use the emblem of the sending State would become article 17.

Article 19

Paragraph 3. The words "by the organs of the receiving State" might be deleted; they do not appear either in article 22 of the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations or in article 31 of the Vienna Convention on Consular Relations. Furthermore, the term used should be "measure of execution".

Article 22

Paragraph 1. I. With regard to wireless communications, the article provides that the special mission shall be entitled to send messages in code or cipher. But article 18 of the Telegraph Regulations annexed to the 1959 Geneva International Telecommunication Convention states:

"The sender of a telegram in secret language must produce the code from which the text or part of the text or the signature of the telegram is compiled if the office of origin or the Administration to which this office belongs asks him for it. This provision should not apply to Government telegrams." h

The only way to reconcile the provisions of this paragraph relating to secret messages with the provisions of the international Conventions relating to the telegraph service would be for special missions to transmit such messages as Government telegrams.

However, annex 3 of the Geneva International Telecommunication Convention gives a complete list of the persons authorized to send Government telegrams and it refers only to diplomatic or consular agents.

In short, in the present state of international conventional law, special missions would have to be authorized by their diplomatic or consular posts to hand in Government telegrams bearing the seal or stamp of the authority sending them.

^h International Telecommunication Union, Telegraph Regulations (Geneva Revision, 1958).

If there is no such post the problem remains unsolved. This question might well be raised when the time comes to revise the International Telecommunication Convention.

II. With regard to wireless transmitters, it would be desirable to amend the last sentence of the present paragraph to read as follows:

"However, the special mission may install and use a wireless transmitter or any means of communication to be connected to the public network only with the consent of the receiving State."

There are separate wireless telephone devices which can be linked to the public telephone network: if these devices are not in conformity with those approved by the competent technical services, they may cause disturbance in the network.

Paragraph 2. With regard to the postal service, it should be borne in mind that the Universal Postal Convention ¹ does not make provision for any special treatment of diplomatic bags from the point of view of rates. Some postal unions covering a limited area consent to carry such bags post-free, but this is solely because special reciprocal arrangements have been made; all proposals so far submitted for including a provision for their carriage post-free in the Universal Convention have been rejected.

As Belgium does not participate in an arrangement for the post-free carriage of diplomatic bags, this mail is subject to the ordinary postal rates.

Article 23

The Belgian view is that which it upheld in connexion with article 23 of the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations, namely that the head of the mission is exempt from dues and taxes in respect of the premises of the mission only if he has acquired them in his capacity as head of the special mission and with a view to the performance of the functions of the mission. Accordingly, the words "in his capacity as such" should be inserted after "head of the special mission".

Article 24

The Belgian Government is of the opinion that members of missions should be granted only a personal inviolability limited to the performance of their functions.

Article 25

Paragraph 2. It would be as well to introduce, as in article 30 of the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations, a proviso regarding measures of execution on property in cases where immunity from civil and administrative jurisdiction does not apply, and accordingly to begin the paragraph with the words: "Except as provided in article 26, paragraph 4..."

Article 31

Paragraph 1. With regard to sub-paragraph (b), the word "articles" is too vague and is inadequate. The Belgian Government is prepared to grant exemption from customs duties solely in the case of personal effects and baggage.

Article 33

No reference is made to article 28 concerning social security. The following should therefore be added: "as well as the provisions of article 28 on social security".

GENERAL REMARK: ARTICLES 31, 32, 33, 34

There is no reason to refer in the body of these articles to nationality and permanent residence or, as in article 31, to the family. These situations are regulated in articles 35 and 36 of the draft convention.

Article 35

Paragraph 1. The paragraph refers to articles 24 to 31, including article 29; but it is hard to see how a member of the family can enjoy tax exemption on income attaching to functions with the special mission.

Paragraph 2. This paragraph refers to article 32, which itself refers back to the same articles; the comment on paragraph 1 therefore applies equally to this paragraph.

The drafting of this paragraph does not seem adequate; it would be clearer to word it: "Members of the families of the administrative and technical staff of the special mission who are authorized to accompany it shall enjoy the privileges and immunities referred to in article 32 except when they are nationals of or permanently resident in the receiving State."

An anomaly, which in fact exists in article 37, paragraph 1 of the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations, but was corrected in article 71, paragraph 2 of the Vienna Convention on Consular Relations, should be pointed out. If a member of the mission is a national or permanent resident of the receiving State, he loses his immunities; taking the text literally, the members of his family who are not either nationals or permanent residents would enjoy the immunities.

Article 36

Paragraph 1. The word "quo" in the eighth line of the French text should be placed before the words "de l'immunité". This drafting error, which appeared in article 38, paragraph 1 of the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations, was in fact corrected in article 71, paragraph 1 of the Vienna Convention on Consular Relations.

Article 37

Paragraph 1. The word "organ" in the seventh line should be replaced by some more neutral word such as "authority".

Paragraph 2. In the fifth line of the French text "qu'il" should read "qui lui".

Article 39

Paragraph 4. It would be better to say "soit dans la demande de visa", as that wording would bring out better the obligation to inform at the time that the visa application is made.

Article 41

At the end, it would be advisable to use a broader and less controversial listing, for example "such body or person as may be agreed".

If the titles of the articles are retained, the word "authority" should be substituted for "organ".

Article 42

The prohibition against practising any professional or commercial activity would be better rendered by the expression "shall not carry on", as in article 57 of the Vienna Convention on Consular Relations of 24 April 1963.

In addition, the article should be supplemented by provisions similar to those in paragraph 2 of the aforesaid article 57.

Article 44

This article deals only with the action to be taken when a special mission ceases to function.

Accordingly, paragraph 2 would be better placed in article 12. In addition, the word "automatically" in that paragraph should be replaced by "*ipso facto*". Lastly, the words "but each of the two States may terminate the special mission" would become superfluous.

¹ United Nations, Treaty Series, vol. 364, p. 3.

C. Comments on the other decisions⁸, suggestions and observations of the Commission

With regard to the matters raised in paragraphs 46 to 50 of the observations by the International Law Commission,³ the Belgian Government wishes to submit the following comments:

(1) The Belgian Government agrees with the Commission that no provision on non-discrimination should be included in the draft, as special missions are so diverse.

(2) As to the question whether the draft should contain a provision on the relationship between it and other international agreements, two points should be singled out:

(a) If the status of special missions to conferences and congresses convened both by States and by international organizations is eventually covered by this draft convention, the convention should stipulate that it does not prejudice agreements relating to international organizations in so far as they regulate the problems contemplated in the draft;

(b) More generally, the Belgian Government has no objection to the inclusion in the draft of an article similar to article 73 of the Vienna Convention on Consular Relations.

(3) The Belgian Government believes that there should be a provision on reciprocity in the application of this draft.

(4) Lastly, it is hard to conceive that a special mission should receive better treatment than the permanent diplomatic mission of the same nationality established in the receiving State. Privileges and immunities should be granted to a special mission only to the extent to which they are applied in favour of the permanent diplomatic mission of the same nationality, unless otherwise mutually agreed between the States concerned.

4. Canada

Transmitted by a letter of 6 March 1967 from the Permanent Representative to the United Nations

[Original: English]

The Canadian Government wishes first of all to congratulate the International Law Commission of the United Nations on the work it has done on special missions. The draft convention which it has produced so far indubitably signifies an appreciable progress in efforts to codify and develop international law.

The comments of the Canadian Government follow below. They are divided into two parts: A, remarks of a general character; B, observations on particular articles of the draft.

A. GENERAL REMARKS

While expressing general agreement with the principles and rules embodied in the present draft articles, the Canadian Government is of the view that the International Law Commission should not go too far in assimilating the status of special missions to that of permanent missions. It is opposed to the undue extension of privileges and immunities which certain of the draft articles now appear to confer. In its view, the grant of such privileges and immunities should be strictly controlled by considerations of functional necessity and should be limited to the minimum required to ensure the efficient discharge of the duties entrusted to special missions. The following comments have consequently been set out in such a way as to emphasize a somewhat conservative approach to the status to be accorded to special missions. Suggestions have been made to that end under the articles which are considered to be too liberal, with the intention that they be brought closer to Canadian views. However, with regard to so-called High-Level Special Missions, it is the view of the Canadian Government that such missions should receive a more generous treatment, in respect of both privileges and immunities, than those of a more routine character.

B. OBSERVATIONS ON PARTICULAR ARTICLES IN THE DRAFT

Article 4

It would perhaps be desirable to establish at least some maximum duration to the period following which persons declared *personae non gratae* should have left the receiving country. It is noted that the separate question of what might happen if such a person were to stay on in the receiving country is not covered by article 4. Perhaps this should be dealt with as well.

Article 17

This article appears to be too vague. There is obviously some onus on the receiving State to assist special missions in finding accommodation, especially where there is no resident mission nearby.

It is the Canadian view that, logically, this article should follow articles 17-21 (which specify some of the facilities intended) and that it should be reworded either by referring to "all other facilities" or by specifying those other facilities.

Article 19

This article appears to go too far in trying to uphold the inviolability of the offices of the special mission. The qualifications contained in article 31 of the Vienna Consular Convention for entry in the event of fire should be added. The relevant provisions of article 31, paragraph 2, of the 1963 Vienna Convention read as follows: "Such consent may, however, be assumed in case of fire or other disaster requiring prompt protective action".

Article 24

A central problem in respect to this article is whether any of the members of a special mission should enjoy personal inviolability, which, in the Vienna context, has come to mean both special protection from vis injusta and immunity from vis justa, i.e., from arrest and detention in respect of personal acts. It is considered that special protection in the first case is warranted in all cases, i.e., that the international responsibility of the State is involved if it has failed to take reasonable precautions. As far as concerns the second meaning of the term, however, it would be the Canadian inclination that in the draft it should be denied to special missions, since it is equivalent to a virtual immunity from criminal jurisdiction and is thus not a necessary consequence of an immunity which Canada considers should be restricted to cover only official acts by public political agents.

Should it be considered by a majority of the Commission that there should be some safeguard from preventive arrest, although not from detention in execution of a sentence, a compromise formula could probably be based on that which was adopted in the case of consular personnel. It is expressed in article 41 of the Vienna Convention on consular relations as follows:

"Consular officers shall not be liable to arrest or detention preceding trial, except in case of grave crime and pursuant to a decision by the competent judicial authority... Except in the case specified in paragraph 1 of this article, consular officers shall not be committed to prison or liable to any other form of restriction on their personal freedom save in execution of a judicial decision of final effect."

Article 25

If one starts from the view that, in principle, no member of a special mission should be assimilated to a diplomatic agent, the

¹ Yearbook of the International Law Commission, 1965, vol. II, p. 191.

import of the article seems somewhat excessive. It is questionable whether article 24 would not be sufficient, given that it seems rather unrealistic to ask for the special protection of the receiving State over residences which will usually be in hotel rooms: this appears to go beyond the standard requirement that the receiving State should take reasonable precautions. Moreover, even if it is to be retained in its present form, Canada believes this inviolability of the private accommodation should be subject to the same qualification regarding fire, etc. as is mentioned under our comment on article 19.

Article 26

The Canadian Government is of the opinion that this article goes too far in broadening the scope of immunities enjoyed by the members and staff of special missions. Moreover, the provisions of this article seem to spell out in detail those provided by the first two sentences of article 24. Consideration should therefore be given to combining these aspects of the two articles in a single article.

Article 30

As drafted, this article appears acceptable. However the Canadian Government does not agree with paragraph 2 (b) of the commentary, which would confer on locally recruited staff the exemptions from personal services and contributions.

Article 31

This article provides for exemption from customs duties and inspection of not only articles for the official use of the special mission but also of articles for the personal use of the head and members of the special mission, of the members of its diplomatic staff, or of the members of their family who accompany them.

It also provides for exemption from customs duties and inspection of the personal baggage of the head and members of the special mission and of the members of its diplomatic staff, unless there are serious grounds for presuming that it contains articles not covered by the exemptions, or articles the import or export of which is prohibited by the law or controlled by the quarantine regulations of the receiving State. Such inspection shall be conducted only in the presence of the person concerned, of his authorized representative, or of a representative of the permanent diplomatic mission of the sending State.

It is arguable that such exemption should be removed from this article because it should remain a matter of courtesy and reciprocity.

Article 41

While there is no objection to this article itself, Canada considers that emphasis should be placed in the official commentary, on the need for the prior agreement of the receiving State, at least in principle, to the communication by the special mission with other of its own organs than its Foreign Ministry.

Article 42

This article as drafted is restricted to precluding activities for personal profit and does not cover members of special missions who, on behalf of the sending State, might carry on activities not consonant with the mission's terms of reference. Perhaps it would be desirable to relate such activities, on behalf of the sending State, to the provision of paragraph 1 of article 40.

Article 44

This article perhaps ought to be broadened to cover specifically the routine conclusion of functions due to the fulfilment of the objects of a special mission.

5. Chile

Transmitted by a letter of 27 March 1967 from the Permanent Representative to the United Nations

[Original: Spanish]

A. GENERAL

1. For the reasons adduced in the International Law Commission it would appear that the draft articles should take the form of a separate convention, independent of the Vienna Conventions on Diplomatic and Consular Relations.

In order to emphasize this independence, specific references to the Vienna Conventions should be avoided. However, unity of form should be preserved through the use of the same terminology and of analogous definitions wherever possible. 2. The Commission was correct in preparing a draft which includes both missions carrying out political tasks and missions of a technical character.

3. The draft must be as flexible as possible. In view of the widely recognized importance of bilateral agreements on special missions, it should not be unduly rigid since this might make it difficult to adapt the provisions to specific circumstances. It should therefore not restrict too greatly the possibility of States entering into new bilateral agreements, even if the special mission in question might, under such agreements, be accorded juridical treatment in some respects less favourable than that provided for in the draft.

Hence the draft should include a minimum of rules of *jus* cogens, States being free to depart from the provisions which do not fall into that category and which would be regarded as residual. These latter would be applicable only in the absence of an express provision agreed to by the parties. The Commission's decision to delete article 40, paragraph 2, of the Rapporteur's preliminary draft k is therefore correct.

Consequently, and in order to emphasize all of the foregoing, the draft should include among its final clauses a provision similar to that suggested by Mr. Rosenne at the 819th meeting on 7 July 1965 (art. 16 *bis*, paras. 1 and 2), with the stipulation that it would be applicable to the entire Convention and not just to Part II, on Facilities, Privileges and Immunities. It would thus be made clear that the draft regulates the activities of all special missions whether political or technical, and whatever their level, save as expressly provided to the contrary.

B. THE ARTICLES

Article 1

(a) The value of defining a special mission in terms of its specific task will appear to be doubtful, for two reasons. On the one hand, there are political missions whose tasks are general rather than "specific" and have not been defined in advance but are merely exploratory, and there are missions whose tasks are gradually broadened as negotiations proceed. On the other hand, there are missions which have a specific task which are established permanently in the receiving State and which are therefore not covered by the rules set forth in this draft. For these reasons it would seem preferable to define the special mission solely in terms of the temporary nature of its functions. In other words, the task of a special mission may be more or less specific, general, or even undefined in advance, but in all cases the use of the term presupposes that the mission will remain in the receiving State temporarily:

(b) Paragraph 2 should include a provision to the effect that special missions may be sent or received regardless of whether the Governments concerned recognize each other.

^k Yearbook of the International Law Commission, 1965, vol. II, p. 141.

Article 2

It is of the greatest practical importance that a clear distinction should be drawn between the powers of the special mission and those of the permanent mission since this will affect the validity of the special mission's acts. It would not appear to be desirable that the draft should lay down a rigid rule, but there should be some criterion that would serve as a guideline in every case.

As permanent missions frequently co-operate in the discharge of the tasks assigned to special missions, the draft should not, as a general principle, exclude such participation. It could establish a flexible criterion drafted along the following lines: "The competence of the special mission, as distinct from that of the permanent mission, shall be determined by its credentials; if its credentials are silent on this point, the competence of the permanent mission shall not be understood to be excluded."

Article 7

The term "normally" suggests a practice, to which, as such, there may be exceptions, but it can hardly be understood to enunciate a rule of law. This same idea should be expressed as follows: "Save as otherwise provided in its credentials, only the head of the mission shall be...", or: "Save as otherwise determined by the sending State, only the head of the mission..."

Article 8

Notification seems to be unnecessary in the case of paragraph 1 (d) (e.g., typists, chauffeurs), unless such persons are to enjoy diplomatic privileges and immunities, in which case they should be included among the administrative and technical staff of the mission. This is the criterion reflected in the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations, which requires notification only in the case of persons "entitled to privileges and immunities" (art. 10, para. 1 (d)).

Article 9

Paragraph 1. The alphabetical order used in the official diplomatic list of the receiving State cannot be followed, because it would not be applicable to cases in which States do not have diplomatic or consular relations with each other. To give greater precision to the rule laid down in paragraph 1 it should suffice to add the words "in the language of the receiving State" after the words "alphabetical order of the names of the States".

Article 13

Paragraph 1. This provison seems to be self-contradictory, for it would be applied "in the absence of prior agreement", i.e., in the absence of consent, in which case it would be pointless to require again the consent which (to judge by the words "proposed by the receiving State and approved by the sending State") could not be obtained in advance.

It would be more practical to state that "save as agreed to the contrary," (whether or not such agreement is prior) "the special mission shall have its seat at the place in which it is to discharge its task"; this is, in effect, the criterion followed in paragraph 2 for missions whose tasks involve travel to various places. If this criterion should be unacceptable, it could be indicated that, save as agreed to the contrary, the mission should have its seat at the place in which the organ referred to in article 41 of the draft is established.

The considerations set forth in paragraph (4) of the commentary underline the need to include in the draft a more specific provision than paragraph 1 as it stands.

Paragraph 2. To facilitate official contacts between the organ referred to in article 41 and a mission whose tasks involve travel, it would be advisable to add that one of the seats should be con-

sidered the principal seat and should be decided upon in the manner indicated in article 13, paragraph 1.

Article 14

Paragraph 1 calls for the following observations:

(a) The words "should in principle be of...", which are also used in article 8 of the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations, are vague and do not clearly enunciate a rule of law but simply state what is desirable. The same idea could be expressed more accurately as follows:

"Article 14, paragraph 1. The head and the members... may be of any nationality.

"*Paragraph 2.* However, nationals of the receiving State. . . "; (The rest of the article would remain unchanged.)

(b) If the above amendment is not adopted and the present text of paragraph 1 is retained, this provison will be far more rigid than article 8 of the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations, because the latter provides only that the diplomatic staff should in principle be of the nationality of the sending State, whereas the text under consideration extends that provision to administrative and technical staff. On this point the less rigid criterion adopted in the Convention on Diplomatic Relations should be applied;

(c) If the amendment to article 36 which is proposed below is accepted, article 14 should be amended to the same effect.

Article 16

In order to clarify beyond all possibility of doubt the point dealt with in paragraph (6) of the commentary, a provision should be added to this article stating that the third State may at any time notify the special mission that it is withdrawing its hospitality, without stating a reason and even if the conditions which it has imposed have not been violated.

Article 19

Paragraph 1. It should be made clear that the head of the permanent mission may authorize the local authorities to enter the premises of the special mission only when those premises are situated in a building normally occupied by the permanent mission. Such authorization should be granted only by the head of the special mission when the premises of his mission are situated in premises other than those occupied by the permanent mission. Otherwise, the special mission would, in effect, be subordinated to the permanent mission.

Paragraph 2. In order that the function of protection and prevention may be adequately discharged, the paragraph should state that the special mission must inform the receiving State what premises it occupies by means of suitable identification. This problem does not arise when the special mission is established in the premises of the permanent mission, but it may arise if the special mission has its offices on certain floors of a hotel or in different places in the same city. In the absence of such notification, the receiving State might be in a position to claim a lesser degree of responsibility for failure to fulfil this duty, on the ground that it was unaware of the actual circumstances.

Article 27

This provision should follow article 36, once the status of all the persons referred to in article 36, paragraph 1, has been clarified.

Article 28

Paragraph 2. It may happen that persons who are nationals of the sending State but who are permanently resident in the receiving State are members of the diplomatic staff of the special mission. In such a case they should be covered by the provisions of paragraph 1 of this article. Paragraph 2 (a) should therefore

be amended to read: "... to nationals or of the receiving State or aliens domiciled there, unless the latter are members of the diplomatic staff of the mission."

Article 36

We find the principle embodied in this article correct, with one reservation. Newly established States or States which have a small population and lack sufficient technicians or experts may find it imperative to include among the administrative and technical staff of special missions some of their nationals who are resident in the receiving State. In this case, we see no reason to treat them in a manner which would discriminate between them and the other members of the administrative and technical staff of the same mission who are not resident in the receiving State. Therefore, paragraph 1 should be amended to include all members of the administrative and technical staff, wherever they reside.

In return for this extension of privileges and immunities to certain persons who are residents of the receiving State, the receiving State must be given an additional safeguard. For this purpose, it should suffice to add to article 14 a provision requiring the consent of the receiving State to the inclusion among the diplomatic or administrative and technical staff of special missions of nationals of the sending State who are permanently resident in the receiving State.

Article 37

Paragraph 2. The exact moment at which privileges and immunities cease should be determined with the greatest possible exactitude. The phrase "on expiry of a reasonable period", which has simply been copied from article 39, paragraph 2, of the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations, is extremely vague and could give rise to serious problems if the member of the mission remained in the receiving State after his functions had come to an end. In the Vienna Convention of 1961 the problem was solved by the addition in Spanish of the words "que le haya concedido" [the corresponding words in the English text are "in which to do so"] after the words "reasonable period". Article 37 of the draft should include this same clarification or another to the same effect, so that the duration of the "reasonable period" may be clearly indicated.

Article 39

Paragraph 4. Any reference to the ways in which the third State may be informed of the transit of the mission should be eliminated, for any omission might be interpreted to exclude channels not expressly mentioned. The relevant passage should read: "... only if it has been informed in advance of the transit of the special mission, and has raised no objection to it".

Article 41

In view of its content, this article should be included in part I (General Rules), immediately following article 11.

We have no observations to make on the remaining articles.

6. Czechoslovakia

Transmitted by a note verbale of 29 April 1966 from the Permanent Representative to the United Nations

[Original: English]

1. The Government of the Czechoslovak Socialist Republic shares the views expressed by a number of members of the International Law Commission and likewise contained in the report of the Special Rapporteur, namely that the term special missions covers a great number of State organs for international relations which are entrusted with tasks of most diverse character. It also shares the view that the tasks and legal status of special missions (except delegations to international conferences and congresses as well as delegations and representatives of international organizations) should be regulated within the general codification of diplomatic law by one convention. At the same time, however, it is of the opinion that in view of the fundamental difference in the character of the individual special missions it would be necessary to differentiate their legal status according to the functions assumed by them with the agreement of the participating States. (To characterize the individual categories of special missions would be undoubtedly very difficult and moreover they might be outdated by the relatively rapid development.) Proceeding from this fact the Government of the Czechoslovak Socialist Republic is inclined to believe that in the case of special missions of predominantly technical and administrative character privileges and immunities of more limited character emanating from the theory of functional necessity would correspond better to the state of international law and to the needs of States. Therefore, it suggests that it might be purposeful that the Commission when definitively formulating the draft convention should proceed, e.g., from a division of special missions at least into two categories. The first category might include special missions of political character and the second one special missions of predominantly technical and administrative character. The formulation of provisions concerning special missions of political character should proceed from the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations. However, special missions of predominantly technical and administrative character should be granted only such privileges and immunities which are necessary for expeditious and efficient performance of their tasks.

2. The Government of the Czechoslovak Socialist Republic agrees that the status of special missions at the so-called high level ¹ should be regulated in harmony with the prevailing customs and usages. In view of the fact that the proposed regulation is almost identical for all the four categories of special missions of this kind, it seems useful to embody the identical provisions contained in draft rules 2-5 in a general rule covering all the four categories and to stipulate exceptions for the individual categories in a special rule whereby the draft would be substantially shorter. The Government of the Czechoslovak Socialist Republic holds that the draft rules will be further elaborated.

The Government of the Czechoslovak Socialist Republic has been following the International Law Commission's activities in the field of the codification and progressive development of international law concerning special missions which is to be embodied in an international convention and appreciates its present results in this field. In view of the fact that the first version of the draft articles is being considered and that the draft is not so far complete the Government of the Czechoslovak Socialist Republic will submit possible further observations and proposals at an appropriate time.

7. Finland

Transmitted by a note verbale of 2 May 1967 from the Permanent Representative to the United Nations

[Original: English]

The use of special missions is in fact the earliest form of diplomacy the traditions of which go back to a remote past, to a time when there were no permanent missions. In international politics of today the use of special missions is again becoming more frequent as co-operation between States extends to new fields and the scope and activities of international organizations increase. Therefore it is most important that the principles of international law as regards special missions be codified, made more explicit, and completed by such new dispositions as are considered necessary. In the opinion of the Finnish Government, the draft prepared

¹ See foot-note g above.

to this end by the International Law Commission and approved in a preliminary way by the Commission at its sixteenth and seventeenth sessions is essentially to the purpose, and a final text should be drawn up on these lines as soon as possible. The Finnish Government suggest, however, that the following points be considered when giving the draft the finishing touches.

As special missions are increasingly used their character and composition are becoming variable. Prominent delegations negotiating important political matters are paralleled by special missions on an inferior level which may be diplomatic missions or working groups sent out to perform a purely technical task. This category includes delegations to conferences and the representatives of States on the mixed committees and joint commissions frequent in international co-operation of today.

The concept, if it is not to be restricted, should evidently also include single officials who will more or less regularly represent their country at meetings or discussions with organs functioning in their particular line of activity in some neighbour State.

The Commission has brought the dispositions contained in the draft to bear on temporary special missions only. This means that there would still be no general provisions to specify the status and conditions of functioning of such special missions of a permanent character as are not covered by the provisions of the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations; nor would the rules suggested include State representatives on various permanent mixed committees and joint commissions. Furthermore, it is established by the International Law Commission's report on the second part of the Commission's seventeenth session and on its eighteenth session that government delegations to various congresses and conferences would not be within the scope of the draft articles proposed.

The Finnish Government take the view that it is questionable whether the above restrictions, which would leave a considerable group of special missions in a vague position as to international law, are necessary and to the purpose. On the other hand, the restrictions under reference indicate an endeavour, useful in itself, to define the concept of the special mission. For it is evident that, as the use of such missions will increase and their purposes multiply, the concept is no longer neatly outlined. Moreover, one might ask expressly whether all the dispositions contained in the International Law Commission's draft are of a nature to cover all the various categories of special missions. This refers particularly to the facilities, privileges and immunities accorded to the missions and to persons attached to these. The Commission, it is true, suggests that the so-called high-level special missions form a group apart and provides for this group rules that would somewhat differ from those applied to special missions in general, but even so there would hardly be adequate reasons to grant the fairly extensive facilities, privileges and immunities specified in the draft to each of the various single negotiators and delegations making up the "general group" of special missions. The Finnish Government would advocate a further consideration of the Commission's draft with a view to establishing whether special missions on an inferior level, appointed to perform tasks of a mainly technical nature, could be detached, particularly as regards facilities, privileges and immunities, from the rest of the delegations within the concept under reference.

The International Law Commission has not yet taken a definite view of the fact whether it should recommend that the articles concerning special missions be attached as an additional record to the 1961 Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations or whether a separate convention in the matter should be aimed at. The Commission, however, has prepared its recommendation to suit the second alternative. Nevertheless, the draft, particularly its part I, contains a great many dispositions which in view of an eventual convention might be considered to go too much in detail or else to be more appropriate in a "code" to serve for the guidance of the States than in an international convention binding them. In a general way, the articles contained in the draft should be cut down and the text condensed as much as possible. Furthermore, it would be useful to make clear and expressly to state in the text which articles, if any, contain items of law compulsory and binding on the States.

In addition to these general considerations, the Finnish Government will comment only on those articles of the draft which seem to require modification and amplification.

Articles 1 to 4 of the draft, which conform to general practice, seem to be to the purpose. Nevertheless, it would certainly be appropriate to insert at the beginning of the draft (as the International Law Commission seems to have intended to do) a special introductory article in which the main concepts are defined. As for article 5, which deals with the sending of the same special mission to more than one State, it would be useful to limit it to concern the simultaneous accrediting of one special mission to several countries; for the fact that the mission has previously functioned in another country is hardly relevant in this connexion. In any case, the last sentence of the article seems superfluous since it is established by article 1 of the draft that the sending of a special mission requires the consent of the receiving State.

It would seem appropriate to complete article 7 of the draft by adding a provision that the head of a special mission may authorize a member of the mission to perform particular acts on behalf of the mission and to issue and receive official communications. In this context, a reference may be made to article 8, paragraph 2 of which states that certain official notifications may be communicated by members of the mission's staff.

Paragraph 2 of article 9 (precedence) could perhaps be made more explicit by adding a statement that it concerns the precedence of the members of one special mission. The need to specify this arises from the fact that the previous paragraph deals with precedence among several special missions which carry out a common task.

Article 14, concerning the nationality of persons attached to special missions, may seem too strict. Under its paragraph 3, the receiving State may reserve the right not to approve as members of a special mission or of its staff nationals of a third State who are not also nationals of the sending State. Both of the Vienna Conventions, it is true, contain a similar provision, which explains its presence in the article under reference.

In part II of the draft (articles 17-44), concerned with facilities, privileges and immunities of the special missions, the system laid down by the above-mentioned Vienna Conventions is fairly closely followed. The leading principle that the functioning of the mission must be ensured is extended to special missions in addition to which some aspects of the theory of representation have been applied. In a general way the Commission's recommendation grants special missions, their members and staff a juridical position equal to that of permanent missions and persons fulfilling analogous functions in these. This means that in certain instances the juridical position of the persons under reference is more efficiently ensured than that of career consuls and consular officials. In view of the character of the special missions, particularly their temporariness and the varying nature of their tasks, it has been felt that the privileges and facilities granted them and their staffs should be more extensive, or more restricted as the case may be, than those enjoyed by permanent missions and persons attached to these. This proposition seems to require further consideration, with due regard to the above-mentioned views of different types of special missions.

As regards article 22 (freedom of communication), opinions have varied as to whether special missions should be entitled to use code or cipher telegrams and to designate persons not attached to the mission as *ad hoc* couriers. The affirmative conclusion suggested in the draft seems judicious. Also, the courier bags should enjoy unconditional inviolability; in this respect, the principle adopted would be that of the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations, not that of the Convention on Consular Relations.

The juridical position of members of the families of persons attached to special missions is specified in article 35 of the recommendation, partly in accordance with the analogous article (37) of the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations. Members of the families of special mission staff would, however, be entitled to accompany the head of the family to the receiving State only if authorized by the latter to do so. This provision would seem too strict in view of the fact that some special missions will carry on their activities for a considerable period of time.

With regard to the rules proposed for so-called high-level special missions,^m it is evident that the latter cannot in every respect be placed on a par with other special missions, wherefore particular rules for them are appropriate. Yet the necessity of sub-paragraph (a) of rules 2, 3 and 4 seems questionable. The fact mentioned in the sub-paragraph may be ascertained in advance by taking the matter up at the consulations preceding the sending of a high-level special mission. It appears from rules 4 and 5 that when a special mission is led by the Minister for Foreign Affairs or by a Cabinet Minister other than the head of Government he may have his personal suite, the members of which shall be treated as diplomatic staff. An analogous provision is missing from rule 3 which deals with the juridical position of the head of Government.

It would seem that the rules concerning high-level special missions might be a good deal simplified. Rules 2 to 5 could perhaps be condensed into one enumerating exceptions and specifying the category of high-level special mission to which each exception refers. Still, the most convenient way might be to complete the articles of the recommendation concerning special missions by adding particular rules for high-level special missions where needed.

8. Gabon

Transmitted by a letter of 8 March 1967 from the Minister for Foreign Affairs

[Original: French]

A. GENERAL REMARKS

Many African States repeatedly have recourse among themselves to special missions of a political character, in particular, to transmit written or verbal messages from the head of the sending State or its Government, as well as to missions of a technical character, which, because of the growing interdependence in technical matters, tend to increase rapidly in number.

The Gabonese Government accordingly has no doubt that the codification of that topic undertaken by the experts on the International Law Commission will be useful, regardless of the kind of international legal instrument which it produces, and even if that instrument in fact is merely a concise guidebook of procedures which the developing States may use.

(1) Freedom to derogate from the provisions of the proposed instrument. The practice concerning special missions appears to be difficult to inventory and a fortiori difficult to codify; hence, the wisest view, and the one which seems to be accepted, is that provisions of the draft articles on special missions, in principle, should be rules from which States are competent to derogate by agreement between themselves.

This basic principle should be clearly stated at the beginning of the document, it being understood that the future is not being prejudged and that time, experience, and court decisions may in due course modify the present situation. (2) The provisions from which States signing or acceding to the instrument may not derogate would therefore be exceptions, and would be mentioned as such. Such provisions might include, *inter alia*, the articles on:

(a) Inviolability of archives and documents of the special mission;

(b) Inviolability of the premises of the special mission (unless the head of the permanent diplomatic mission of the sending State grants permission to enter them);

(c) Personal inviolability limited to the performance of functions;

(d) Freedom of communication.

The provisions covering inviolability of the private accommodation of the head of the special mission and of the other members of the mission properly so-called (to the exclusion, of course, of the administrative, technical and service staff) might be added to that list, although that is not indispensable since inviolability has already been provided for the premises of the mission (which, moreover, are often combined with the private accommodation of the head and members of the mission) and for the persons concerned.

We should also remember that the inviolability of the premises of a foreign mission or of the private accommodation of its members raises the problem of the right of asylum—a problem so delicate and controversial that it was not mentioned in the Vienna Convention.

In that connexion, it might be advisable to stipulate, in any event, that not only "the premises of the special mission" but also "the private accommodation of all its staff" must not be used in any manner incompatible with the functions of the special mission as laid down in these articles or by other rules of general international law or by any special agreements in force between the sending and the receiving State (draft article 40).

(3) On the other hand, freedom to derogate from the rules established by the instrument on special missions, except where expressly otherwise provided, would make it possible to solve, at least provisionally, the most delicate problems raised by the proposed codification.

That applies, in particular, to the question of *the grant of privileges and immunities* (diplomatic) to the heads and members of special missions, which are increasing in number and growing more diverse and very often are only of a technical character. States should not, through codification, become involved in "inflation" in that respect.

The solution adopted by the International Law Commission, namely, to leave it to the States concerned to restrict the grant of certain privileges or immunities (excluding peremptory provisions) to a given mission or missions on the ground that those privileges or immunities are functionally justified in the cases in question, seems all the more necessary in that it is proving impossible, in an international legal instrument, to divide special missions into distinct and well-defined categories according to whether they are, for example, of a political or of a technical character.

The proposed text should also specify, in its preamble, that it is not intended to assimilate "special missions" to "permanent diplomatic missions", particularly in respect of privileges and immunities, the grant of which should be based entirely on functional needs.

(4) The question of *discrimination* raises a similar problem: although the prohibition of discrimination may prove useful, it cannot be laid down as an absolute rule in the case of special missions, having regard to their diversity and their *ad hoc* character which at times may lead the receiving State to apply to one of them treatment adapted to the circumstances.

The only purpose of prohibiting discrimination appears to be to prevent a delegation of one State from being subjected, under

^m See foot-note g above.

protest, to less advantageous treatment than that accorded to similar delegations as a whole. There is nothing, however, to prevent two States from agreeing between themselves to apply to a given special mission or category of special missions, unilaterally or mutually, less advantageous or more advantageous treatment (and, in the latter case, for specific and valid reasons) than that which similar foreign missions as a whole enjoy (provisions such as those of article 47 of the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations).

(5) As to the form which the juridical instrument on special missions should take, it would follow from the solution adopted with respect to the peremptory character of the provisions of the text that it should remain, at least for the time being, independent of the Vienna Convention of 18 April 1961, which is based on a contrary principle and which will probably have different effects in international law.

The solution of an additional protocol to that Convention should therefore be ruled out.

In that connexion, the International Law Commission's careful avoidance of the slightest reference to that Convention in its draft articles seems very well-advised. Such references are found only in the commentaries.

If the Vienna Convention should be referred to in a preamble placed at the beginning of the draft articles, that reference should be aimed primarily at stressing the wide divergence which exists, provisionally at least, between the two documents, so as not to weaken the effect and peremptory nature of the text referred to.

If such a reference was made, it would be even more necessary to add a provision based on article 73 of the Vienna Convention on Consular Relations, explaining that the rules laid down shall not affect other international agreements in force as between States parties to them, including the Convention on the Privileges and Immunities of the United Nations, the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations, and the Vienna Convention on Consular Relations.

(6) On the other hand, in the preparation of the introductory article, which will contain valuable definitions of the expressions used in the document, an effort should be made to follow as closely as possible the terminology of the Vienna Convention of 18 April 1961.

(7) Concerning the *method of adoption* of the instrument on special missions, which will depend on its juridical content, the Gabonese Government wishes simply to indicate that if the instrument should include peremptory rules in respect of privileges and immunities, it would have to be in the form of an international treaty in order to take effect on Gabonese territory, since the accession of the Republic to the proposed instrument would have to be ratified by the head of the executive branch under authority of a law.

(8) The International Law Commission rightly decided that the annexing of special rules concerning so-called high-level special missionsⁿ was not essential. If the other view was adopted, the proposed provisions would have to be exhaustive and would have to deal also with the case of Vice-Presidents, Deputy Prime Ministers and Ministers of State, which would make the text even longer.

At the most, the case of the head of State who leads a national or governmental mission might be mentioned in general terms with an indication that it was, of course, a special case which entailed adjustments in accordance with the protocol in force in the receiving State for the treatment of heads of State considered as such.

(9) It seems that draft articles 1 to 16 (part I) dealing with the organization and functioning of special missions could be further condensed, whereas the articles dealing with facilities, privileges

and immunities (part II)—a subject in which precision was essential—could not.

B. Observations concerning particular draft articles

Article 1

It might be useful to specify that the sending or reception of a special mission does not imply recognition by one State of another.

Article 6

The clause providing that in the absence of an express agreement as to size of a special mission, the receiving State may require that the size of the staff be kept within limits considered by it to be reasonable and normal, having regard to the tasks and to the needs of the special mission, seems entirely adequate.

Article 15

Authorization to display the flag and emblem of the sending State on "the means of transport of the mission", and not just on the means of transport of the head of the mission as is provided for permanent diplomatic missions, might lead to abuses.

Article 22

In connexion with freedom of communication, it might be advisable to specify that where the sending State has a permanent diplomatic representative in the receiving State, the official documents of the special mission should whenever possible be sent in that representative's bag. In that case, the use of a supplementary bag belonging to the special mission, for which its head is responsible, should be exceptional.

Article 31

Exemption of members of special missions from customs duties is one of the matters in which some discretion should be left, in one way or another, to the authorities of the receiving State.

9. Greece

Transmitted by letter of 3 April 1967 from the Deputy Permanent Representative to the United Nations

[Original: French]

The Greek Government wishes first of all to congratulate the International Law Commission on the valuable work it has done on the draft articles on special missions.

The Greek Government considers it desirable, as a matter of principle, for the question of special missions to be codified. It considers it necessary, however, to make reservations concerning, in particular, the excessive scope of the privileges and immunities granted to special missions and to their members and staff. It is of the opinion that such privileges and immunities should be granted only to the extent strictly necessary for the mission to carry out its task. It must oppose the extension to special missions, as provided in the draft articles of procedures provided for in the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations.

Accordingly, and more specifically, the Greek Government submits the following comments:

1. It is unable to support the wording of articles 19, 22, 24, 25, 26, 29, 31, 33, 34, 35 and 39, which, in various respects, should provide for less extensive privileges and immunities than they now do.

2. Certain terms should be defined quite clearly, particularly such terms as "special mission", "members of a special mission" and "member of the staff of a mission". This is necessary in order that the field of application of the draft articles should be clear. Articles 1, 2 and 6, among others, should be clarified

ⁿ See foot-note g above.

in this regard. Thus, for example, the rank, purpose and duration of the special mission should be taken into consideration. In view of the strictly functional nature of the privileges and immunities, it is questionable whether a special mission with a limited technical task or a short-term special mission responsible for negotiating and signing a treaty really needs, in order to do its work, the privileges and immunities provided for in many of the draft articles (article 15, 18, 19, 20, 22, 23, 25, 28, 29, 30, 34, 42).

3. There should be special regulations for cases where the State sending a special mission has an embassy in the foreign country (the place of work of the special mission being in or near the town where the embassy is situated). The comments made in paragraph 2 above concerning the articles mentioned there would also be applicable here.

On the whole, therefore, the Greek Government is of the opinion that there will be more chance of sucess in codifying the question of special missions if the articles are not given too wide an application and if the privileges and immunities granted are kept within the limits strictly necessary for the work of the mission.

10. Guatemala

Transmitted by a letter of 16 May 1967 from the Permanent Representative to the United Nations

[Original: Spanish]

GENERAL COMMENTS

According to international practice, formal rules applicable to special missions have been laid down in each specific case, with due regard for their characteristics and the purposes they are designed to achieve. It would be somewhat difficult to draw up a set of rules governing every instance in which a special mission is sent. The International Law ommission itself recognized this difficulty and did not discuss the draft provisions concerning so-called high-level special missions.

We feel that a draft Convention such as that proposed should contain provisions which facilitate the operation of special missions and provide them solely and exclusively with the immunities and privileges strictly necessary for the fulfilment of their functions. In particular, it must be borne in mind that the time available to such special missions is generally limited and that they do not need permanent offices to carry out their responsibilities. They may use the premises of regular diplomatic missions, when they exist, and their members do not need to rent housing or to import furniture and other household effects. They will require a series of privileges which relate not to their personal convenience but rather to their legal status in the receiving State.

The draft articles do not contain a definition of a special mission. In studying a draft for the publication of a new law on diplomatic procedure in the Republic of Guatemala, the Legal Department of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs proposed the following definition of a special mission: "A special mission means the representation of an accredited State in a special and temporary manner". The phrase "for the performance of specific tasks", used in draft article 1 of the text adopted by the Commission, could be added to this proposed definition.

We suggest to the International Law Commission that the draft articles should include a definition of a special mission in the terms proposed above or in other terms which fulfil the same purpose.

COMMENTS ON SPECIFIC ARTICLES

Article 1

If it is agreed to include in the Convention a definition of a special mission, mention of "the performance of specific tasks" should be deleted. It is also suggested that the word "acceptance" should be substituted for the word "consent". We offer no comments on article 1, paragraph 2, because we agree that the existence of diplomatic or consular relations is not a prerequisite for the sending and reception of special missions. However, the paragraph might state in addition that the acceptance of a special mission as between States which do not have diplomatic relations or whose diplomatic relations have been broken off does not imply the establishment or re-establishment of diplomatic relations.

Article 5

This article concerns the sending of the same special mission by one State to more than one State. The case may arise in which two or more States send the same special mission to another State. It is therefore suggested that the article should be divided into two paragraphs which make this difference clear and which establish the right of the receiving State to receive a mission appointed by two or more States.

Article 7

We suggest that in paragraph 1 the word "normally" should be deleted.

Article 8

It is suggested that paragraph 1 (a) should be worded as follows: "The composition of the special mission and of its staff, prior to its dispatch, and any subsequent changes."

Article 9

It is suggested that the words "in the language of the receiving State" should be added at the end of paragraph 1.

Article 11

We agree with the comments made by the Commission on the principle of non-discrimination but we feel that the text could be improved since it is a little confusing and uses unusual terminology. For example, it calls the permanent diplomatic mission a "regular" diplomatic mission.

Article 16

We suggest that a third paragraph should be added in order to make clear that the third State has the right to withdraw its authorization from missions at any time to enable them to fulfil another task on its own territory, without having to give explanations of its decision.

Article 17

This article as now drafted gives the impression that the expenses of the special mission must be borne by the receiving State. If this is the intention it should be made clear; otherwise, the article should be redrafted.

Article 19

The rights established in article 19, paragraph 3, are more extensive than those established in the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations because the article also includes property as distinct from means of transport, the logical assumption being that such means of transport will not remain permanently on the premises of the mission.

Article 20

This article lays down that the archives and documents of the special mission shall be inviolable at any time and wherever they may be. However, instead of referring to the place where they are, the article should refer to the person or body guarding them or having custody of them, since it implies the existence of someone who can affirm that the archives and documents belong to a special mission.

Article 22

We suggest that in this article account should be taken of the international agreements at present in force. Paragraph 1 should mention the International Telecommunication Convention of Geneva of 1950 and its relevant regulations.^o The following paragraphs, which concern the official correspondence and the bag of the special mission, should take into account the provisions of the Convention concerning the Universal Postal Union.^p

Article 39

The obligation of a third State would exist only if such a third State is a party to the Convention. Transit authorization is not sufficient to make this article compulsory for a third State which is not a party to the Convention. Moreover, in allowing a special mission to pass through its territory, a third State which is not a party to the Convention may impose the conditions to which such an authorization is subject.

11. Israel

Transmitted by a note verbale of 24 April 1966 from the Ministry for Foreign Affairs

[Original: English]

1. In presenting these observations, the Ministry for Foreign Affairs wishes first to pay particular tribute to the outstanding work done by Professor Milan Bartoš, the Special Rapporteur, in drawing up his two Reports and in contributing so much to the Commission's work on the topic of Special Missions.

The Ministry for Foreign Affairs would also like to express its hope that the Commission will succeed in completing this topic before the expiration of the term of office of its present members. 2. The question of the final form in which the draft articles are to be couched will undoubtedly require careful consideration. An international convention on the lines of the 1961 Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations and the 1963 Vienna Convention on Consular Relations would be an achievement well worth striving for, yet it is felt that it may eventually prove difficult to achieve the codification of this topic by means of a convention drawn up in a conference of plenipotentiaries. It would therefore appear desirable for the Commission to explore any other possibilities that may suggest themselves.

3. It is hoped that it may be found possible, dealing as they do with a closely related subject, to bring the draft articles even more closely into line with the 1961 Vienna Convention (and, where appropriate, with the 1963 Vienna Convention), both with regard to the language used and the arrangement of articles. 4. With this object in mind, it would be most helpful if an article containing definitions of terms frequently used could be drawn up and embodied in the draft, giving those terms the same meanings as employed in the 1961 Vienna Convention, and, whenever possible, by making use of cross-references to the said Convention.

The definitions would probably include such terms as: special missions, head of special mission, members of special mission, staff (diplomatic, administrative and technical, service, personal), premises, etc.

5. It is believed that the draft articles would gain by being shortened, and that this could be achieved by such cross-references and by combining some articles.

Article 4

6. It is suggested to insert the words "as appropriate", between commas, after the word "shall" appearing in the first line of

paragraph 2, so as to make it more adaptable to various situations that may arise, and indeed the expression "as appropriate" is made use of in the corresponding passage in article 9, paragraph 1, of the 1961 Vienna Convention.

Article 6

7. This article distinguishes between "a delegation" and "the staff" (see, for example, paragraph (5) of the Commentary to that article). Paragraph 3 of the article provides for the limiting of the size of the staff, but keeps silent about the size of the delegation. Article 11 of the 1961 Vienna Convention provides for the possibility of limiting the size of "the mission", which in the present article would mean "the delegation", and it would appear that a similar provision would be desirable in the present article. Paragraph 3 would then read:

"In the absence of an express agreement as to the size of a special mission and its staff, the receiving State may require that the size of the special mission and its staff be kept within limits ... etc."

Article 7

8. It would appear that this article could usefully be made to incorporate article 41.

Article 8

9. With regard to the expression "any person" used in paragraph (c) it may perhaps be desirable to include an explanation in the Commentary, such as given by the Special Rapporteur in paragraph 14 of the Summary Record of the 762nd meeting of the Commission.^q

Articles 9 and 10

10. There would seem to be no necessity for applying different criteria in article 9, paragraph 1 and article 10, and it is therefore suggested to combine them as follows:

"Except as otherwise agreed, where two or more special missions meet in order to carry out a common task, or on a ceremonial or formal occasion, precedence among their respective members and staff shall be determined by the alphabetical order of the names of the States concerned."

Article 12

11. It is observed that it may be preferable to group this article together with articles 43 and 44 towards the end of the draft.

Article 13

12. The phrase "in the absence of prior agreement" is used preceding the residual rule, whereas the expression "except as otherwise agreed" is used in article 9, and the expression "unless otherwise agreed" in articles 21 and 26. It is suggested that the same terminology be employed to express the residual rule throughout the draft.

Article 16

13. Although the right of the "third State" concerned to withdraw its consent appears to be implied in the wording of paragraph 1, it may be preferable to accord such an important eventuality a separate paragraph (on the lines of paragraph (8) of the Commentary to that article), which could at the same time provide for an express agreement to the contrary:

"3. Unless otherwise agreed between the third State and the sending States concerned, the third State may at any time, and without being obliged to give any reason, withdraw its hospitality for special missions in its territory and prohibit them from engaging in any activity. In such a case, the sending States shall recall their respective special missions immediately, and the missions themselves shall cease their activities as soon

^o International Telecommunication Union, Telegraph Regulations (Geneva Revision, 1958).

^p United Nations, Treaty Series, vol. 364, p. 3.

^a Yearbook of the International Law Commission, 1964, vol. I, p. 253.

as they are informed by the third State that hospitality has been withdrawn."

With regard to paragraph 2, it is suggested to use the expression "the sending States", as obviously there must be more than one "sending State".

Article 19

14. It would appear desirable, from a practical point of view, to add to paragraph 1 a provision similar to the last sentence of article 31, paragraph 2, of the 1963 Vienna Convention: "Such consent may, however, be assumed in case of fire or other disaster requiring prompt protective action."

Consideration may, perhaps, be given to drawing a distinction between the case of a special mission residing in a town where the sending State has a permanent mission and that of a special mission in a town where there is no such permanent mission, and allowing the aforesaid proposition only in the former case.

Articles 23 to 32 inclusive

15. These articles, which deal mainly with questions of exemptions and immunities, mention alternately "the staff" of the special missions in some places, and the "diplomatic staff" in others, without this distinction being always really justified, especially in view of the provisions of article 32. It is therefore suggested to use the term "staff" throughout the aforesaid articles and to adjust article 32 accordingly.

Article 39

16. Attention is drawn to the use, in paragraph 1, of the expression "in a foreign State"; and it is suggested that it may perhaps be preferable in the context to say "in another State", in view of the fact that except for a person's "own country" (which expression is also used in that paragraph) every other country is a "foreign State", including the "third State" (likewise mentioned in that paragraph).

In respect of paragraph 4, it is suggested to delete the phrase "either in the visa application or by notification" and to substitute the word "notified" for the word "informed", in the third line of that paragraph.

Article 42

17. It is submitted that the wording of the second paragraph of the Commentary is not very clear.

As to the substance of that article, it is suggested that the Commission may wish to reconsider the proposal to include a provision enabling members of a special mission, in particular instances, to engage in some professional or other activity whilst in the receiving State, e.g., by substituting a comma for the full-stop at the end of that article, and adding thereto: "without the express prior permission of that State".

Articles 43 and 44

18. (a) Article 43 speaks of "persons enjoying privileges and immunities" and "members of the families of such persons", instead of referring to "members of the special mission, its staff, families, etc.", which would seem to be more in keeping with the language employed elsewhere in the draft articles;

(b) Article 43 requires the receiving State to place at the disposal of the persons mentioned therein means of transport "for themselves and their property". Article 44, however, which deals with a very similar situation, likewise necessitating the withdrawal of the special mission and all that goes with it, speaks of "its property and archives", but makes no effective provision for the removal of such "property and archives" from the territory of the receiving State;

(c) Article 44, paragraph 1, provides for the permanent diplomatic mission or a consular post of the sending State to "take possession" of the "property and archives", but there may not exist any such diplomatic mission or consular post of the sending State in the territory of the receiving State;

(d) Article 44, paragraph 3 (b), would also not meet the case, as there may not be any mission of a third State in the territory of the receiving State prepared to accept the custody of the "property and archives" of the stranded mission of the sending State.

It would, therefore, appear to be necessary to make express provision for the removal of the aforesaid archives from the territory of the receiving State in the cases envisaged in articles 43 and 44.

CHAPTER III, SECTION C, OF THE REPORT

19. (a) *Paragraph 48.* Whilst expressing full appreciation of the work done by the Special Rapporteur in preparing the draft provisions "concerning so-called high-level special missions",^r it is felt that there is no particular necessity to include this subject in the articles on Special Missions.

(b) *Paragraph 50*. The question of the relationship between the articles on special missions and other international agreements is undoubtedly of great importance, and it is hoped that it will be given further consideration by the Commission in due course.

12. Jamaica

Transmitted by a note verbale of 3 May 1967 from the Chargé d'Affaires a.i. to the United Nations

[Original: English]

Article 2

A rule on the matter of overlapping authority should not be included in the articles. The question as to whether the task of a special mission is to be deemed to be excluded from the competence of the permanent diplomatic mission is one that ought to be left to the particular agreement governing that mission between the sending State and the receiving State.

Article 9

Since the draft articles are to be the basis of an international convention on special missions, the alphabetical order of the names of States should be prescribed for determining the order of precedence of special missions, and for the sake of uniformity the order should be that used by the United Nations.

Article 11

Since any discrimination is contrary to the principles of international law, the inclusion of a rule of this would be unnecessary.

Section C⁸

Because missions led by Heads of State, Heads of Government, Ministers of Foreign Affairs and Cabinet Ministers are perforce conducted at the level of highest consideration, any attempt to draft rules of law to govern such missions would be a retrograde step.

13. Japan

Transmitted by a letter of 27 July 1966 from the Deputy Permanent Representative to the United Nations

[Original: English]

GENERAL REMARKS

1. There is at present no established international practice with respect to special missions, and the matters concerning

Ibid.

r See foot-note g above.

them are left to the solution on the "case-by-case" basis. The Government of Japan sees no need, at the present stage, to formulate a set of special rules governing them, but rather considers it more practical to allow the matter to be handled as each particular case arises. (Therefore, even in case codification be attempted, rules should remain as simple as possible.)

2. The following comments on the International Law Commission draft are submitted on the premise that the work of codification concerning the special mission will be carried out more or less on the line of the Commission's draft. They shall not in any way affect the basic position of the Japanese Government as set forth in paragraph 1 above.

3. Provisions concerning the so-called "high-level" special missions also had better be dispensed with for the same reason as that stated in paragraph 1.

Comments on the draft of the International Law Commission

Definition clause

1. In definition clause it is desirable to specify clearly and precisely the definition of the term "member" and the scope and nature of the term "special missions". It seems imperative, in particular, to define "special missions" clearly so as to confine them to only those which really deserve to enjoy the privileges and immunities envisaged in the present draft articles.

Basic position regarding part I

2. Since the institutional and procedural aspects of the special missions covered in the present part still remain fluid today, it is premature to formulate detailed rules out of them. The codification at the present stage should therefore be carried out in a concise form in which only basic principles are enumerated, so as to allow room for natural development of customary law.

Article 1

3. According to Comment $(3)^*$ the International Law Commission seems to consider it possible to send and receive special missions even in the absence of recognition between the two States concerned. However, paragraph 2 of the present article might be construed to mean that at least the existence of recognition is a prerequisite to sending and reception of special missions. It seems necessary, therefore, to add complementary provisions in accord with the tenor of the Comment cited above.

Article 2

4. With reference to the question raised in Comment (5), concerning whether or not a rule on the relationship between special missions and permanent diplomatic missions with regard to their competence should be inserted in the final text of the articles, the Government of Japan is of the opinion that such a problem as concerns the division of authority and functions had better be left to a settlement between the parties concerned in each individual case, and that no such provisions are necessary.

Article 8

5. As regards paragraph 2 which provides for a direct notification from the special mission to the receiving State, the Government of Japan considers it doubtful whether or not such a practice may well be called "a sensible custom", as it is presumed to be in Comment (8).

Article 16

6. The Government of Japan requests clarification as to the following two points for the purpose of interpretation:

(a) Is it not that "the third State" as referred to in the present article, once it has accorded its consent to the functions of special missions, has the rights and assumes the obligations of the "receiving State" under the present draft?

(b) If the definition of the special mission specified in article 1 of the provisional draft articles of the twelfth session of the International Law Commission is to be adopted, the special missions which are engaged in activities exclusively in the third State may not come under the category of "special missions" as defined. How can this problem be solved?

Basic position regarding part II

7. The Government of Japan accepts, from the standpoint *de lege ferenda*, the basic position of the Commission's draft to accord to special missions, in principle, similar privileges and immunities to those due to permanent diplomatic missions, on the condition that the scope and nature of the special mission be precisely defined as suggested in the present comment on definition clause.

It also admits that it will be necessary to make somewhat detailed provisions in part II, once the fundamental line of thought is taken up, since the part deals with substantial rights and obligations of the States concerned. (This is not the case with part I. The institutional and procedural aspects dealt with in part I would not, even if left to practice alone, seriously affect the interests of the States concerned.)

Relationship to other international agreements

8. It is deemed advisable to adopt the same provisions as contained in article 73 of the Vienna Convention on Consular Relations, which provides:

"1. The provisions of the present Convention shall not affect other international agreements in force as between States parties to them.

"2. Nothing in the present Convention shall preclude States from concluding international agreements confirming or supplementing or extending or amplifying the provisions thereof."

14. Malawi

Transmitted by a note verbale of 20 January 1966 from the Permanent Mission to the United Nations

[Original: English]

The Permanent Mission of Malawi has the honour to inform the Secretary-General that the draft provisions on special missions have been studied with interest by the Government of Malawi and appear to be unexceptionable. The Government of Malawi has no comments or suggestions to make but looks forward to receiving news of the Commission's future work regarding this convention.

15. Malta

Transmitted by a note verbale of 13 May 1966 from the Permanent Representative to the United Nations

[Original: English]

SECTION B OF CHAPTER III: DRAFT ARTICLES ON SPECIAL MISSIONS

Article 2

The question of overlapping authority resulting from the parallel existence of permanent diplomatic missions and special

^{* &}quot;Comment", here and hereafter, signifies comments on each draft article appearing in the report of the International Law Commission on the work of its seventeenth session (A/6009). [Note of the Government].

missions, is of considerable importance and it is felt that a rule on the matter should be included in the final text of the articles. The absence of any such rule could leave open to question the validity of acts performed by the special mission and this is most undesirable. The competence or authority of a mission is a fundamental issue which unless regulated could undermine the essential quality of a mission, namely its authority to function.

As to the nature of the rule that ought to be included in the final text, it is agreed that certain powers are retained by the permanent mission notwithstanding that a special mission is functioning. These functions, however, relate to matters touching the special mission itself: its powers, including their limits and their revocation, certain changes in the composition of the mission, particularly those affecting the head of mission, and the recalling of the special mission. On the other hand, once the sending State has deemed it necessary or expedient to send a special mission, it is to be presumed, in the absence of an express statement to the contrary, that the task of that mission is temporarily excluded from the competence of the permanent diplomatic mission.

Article 11

The question as to whether an appropriate rule should be included to deal with non-discrimination between special missions by the receiving State, appears to be limited in this article to discrimination "in the reception of special missions and the way they are permitted to begin to function even among special missions of the same character"; while the broader question of non-discrimination is referred to in paragraph 49 of the Report (page 38).

It is felt that a special provision in article 11 to deal with nondiscrimination is not appropriate since the scope of any such provision would be either too limited or, if extended to cover non-discrimination in general, out of place. On the other hand it is felt that a new article corresponding to article 47 of the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations and article 72 of the Vienna Convention on Consular Relations should be included in the final text. The fact that the nature and tasks of special missions are so diverse should not justify discrimination as between States in the application of the rules contained in the articles.

SECTION C OF CHAPTER III

Regarding paragraph 48 of the Report, it appears that a distinction should be made between the normal special missions and those headed by a distinguished person. The articles as drafted do call for slight modifications when the mission is led by persons holding certain high offices, and these are reflected in the draft provisions prepared by the Special Rapporteur. It is therefore felt that special rules should be drafted and included in the final text.

Paragraph 49 has been commented upon above but there are no comments to offer on paragraph 50 especially if the comments on paragraph 49 are accepted.

Draft provisions concerning so-called high-level special missions prepared by the Special Rapporteur $^{\rm t}$

It is not understood why paragraph (c) of Rule 2, which is extended to a special mission led by a Minister for Foreign Affairs (paragraph (c) of Rule 4) or by a Cabinet Minister (paragraph (a) of Rule 5) is not also extended to the case of a special mission led by a head of Government.

If it is accepted that a special mission led by any of the distinguished persons mentioned in the draft provisions in question is a high level special mission (and the inclusion of special rules to govern these missions implies such an acceptance), then paragraph (d) of Rule 2 should, *mutatis mutandis*, be applied

t Ibid.

to the other high-level special missions. This is further justified by the rule, which has been proposed in respect of all such missions, that the level of the mission changes as soon as the head of mission leaves the territory of the receiving State.

16. Netherlands

Transmitted by a letter of 13 December 1966 from the Deputy Permanent Representative to the United Nations

[Original: English]

GENERAL REMARKS

Subjects not covered

1. In its comments of March 1958 on the International Law Commission's 1957 draft for "articles concerning diplomatic intercourse and immunities" the Netherlands Government made some remarks (see p. 124 of the Yearbook of the International Law Commission, 1958, vol. II) on the application of the articles in time of war, the functioning of the principle of reciprocity, the possibility of taking reprisals and the administration of emergency law. The same remarks are applicable to the draft articles concerning special missions.

Terms and definitions

2. The Netherlands Government has taken note of the Commission's intention (see para. 46 on p. 38 of report A/6009) to give in an introductory article definitions of some of the terms used in the draft. It seems unnecessary to define terms such as "head of the special mission", which speak for themselves, or "members of the administrative and technical staff", which are used in this draft in the same sense in which they are used in the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations of 1961. Some terms, however, are used in senses differing from those in which they are used in the Vienna Convention. This stands to reason, because the difference in types of missions (some special missions may consist of a number of officials of equal rank, while the permanent diplomatic mission is headed by a single official) must inevitably lead to their terminologies differing in some respects. In such cases definitions would indeed seem desirable.

Sometimes a term is used in different senses in the various articles of the draft. There should be greater consistency of terminology.

Examples:

"Members of the special mission": the term "members of the mission" in the Vienna Convention (art. 1, para. (b)) is used to denote "the head of the mission and the members of the staff". The term is only used in this all-embracing sense in articles 21 and 37 (2) of the present draft. In articles 4 (1), 6 (1) and 18 the term includes the head of mission but not the members of the staff. In other articles the term denotes neither the head of mission nor the members of the staff.

"(Members of) the staff of the special mission": as already observed, the members of the staff and the members of the mission are referred to separately almost everywhere in the draft, in contrast with the Vienna Convention (art. 1, para. (c)) in which the word "staff" is used to denote all the members of the mission except the head. Once, however, the term is used in the same sense in the draft as it is in the Vienna Convention: article 23 (1). "Staff" is used in a third sense in article 6 (3), where it is used as a synonym for "mission" (cf. paras. 6 and 7 of the Commission's commentary), thus including the head. It is not clear in which sense the term "staff" is used in article 6 (2); paragraph 5 of the Commission's commentary is ambiguous on this point: it states that the special mission, even if it consists of more than one member, "may be accompanied by" a staff, though it expressly refers to the definition of "staff" in the Vienna Convention.

"Members of the diplomatic staff": the staff/mission division is consistently maintained with respect to diplomatic staff, so the latter is always referred to in the articles concerning diplomatic staff as a group distinct from the members of the mission (see art. 24 ff.). It is not clear what function and status within the entire special mission the International Law Commission intends to accord diplomatic staff. It should be noted that members of the mission (mission in the restricted sense, as used in the draft) can also have diplomatic ranks (compare paras. 3 and 4 of the Commission's commentary on art. 9), but that all the members of the diplomatic staff do not necessarily have diplomatic ranks (see end of para. 5 of the Commission's commentary on art. 6).

"Premises of the special mission": the corresponding term in the Vienna Convention (art. 1, para. (i)) also covers the official residence of the head of mission. Under article 15 of the present draft the term does not cover the official residence. The fact that this term is used in the restricted sense both in article 19 and in article 40 (2) is acceptable.

"Private staff": this term, which does not occur in the Vienna Convention, is used in the present draft in article 34 and article 36 (2). The use of this term is confusing, because it creates the impression that it indicates part of the mission's staff. It should be replaced by the term "private servants", in conformity with article 8, paragraph 1 (d).

"All persons belonging to special missions": this term, which does not occur in the Vienna Convention, is used in the present draft in article 40 (1).

Scope and legal status of the regulation

3. Although the far-reaching privileges and immunities (codified in the Vienna Convention of 1961) that are extended to permanent diplomatic missions can be explained as being a result of the inclination to respect what history has made conventional, this cannot be said of "ad hoc diplomatic missions". This and the fact that such a variety of inter-governmental activities are covered by the term "special mission"* are arguments in favour of the narrowest regulation possible. Where necessary the Government concerned can always make additional arrangements for each of certain special missions separately, or bilaterally, or regionally in the relations between certain States.

Another argument in favour of narrow regulations is the frequency of special missions.

Next, the Netherlands Government would point out the danger inherent in the creation of precedents. If the present arrangement is raised to the level of that in force for permanent diplomatic missions before adequate assurance has been obtained that each of the rules is a *sine qua non* for the independent discharging of duties, the status of government representatives at international conferences and the status of officers of international organizations might be determined too readily by the same regulations.

Finally, the difference in function between special missions from countries with centrally planned economies and from countries with market economies should be borne in mind. Not only is the number of cases in which the study of commercial possibilities or the establishment of commercial relations figure among the duties of government representatives greater in countries with centrally planned economies than in countries with market economies, but views on the duties of governmental commercial missions in countries where all commerce is a state activity differ from those in countries where commerce is left primarily to private enterprises. To grant privileges and immunities to commercial missions acting on behalf of a State would mean favouring these States more than those that usually leave the sending of commercial missions to trade and industry.

4. Against the arguments in favour of limitations is the fact that in some regions, particularly in the newly independent countries, privileges and immunities for government representatives are valued more highly than in countries with long-standing diplomatic traditions. Some newly independent countries look upon such privileges and immunities not only as means of facilitating the discharge of duties but also as symbols of their recently acquired independence.

Moreover, missions to territories lacking stable governmental control might need additional safeguards to enable them to discharge their duties smoothly and without interruption.

Therefore, the Netherlands Government would not wish to narrow down the regulations by leaving out any rule that cannot be applicable to all categories of special mission. Many of the rules drafted by the International Law Commission, although not applicable under all circumstances, may without doubt be of great value in some situations and constitute a contribution towards the progressive development of international law.

It would be much better if restriction could be secured by giving States greater liberty to depart from the drafted rules whenever it is desirable to do so.

The Special Rapporteur's idea (see para. 26 of the Second Report by M. Bartoš) ^u was that it should be apparent from the text of each of the articles from which rules the parties would be free to derogate. There is evidence of the same idea in expressions such as "except as otherwise agreed" in articles 6 (3), 9 (1), 13 (1), 21 and 41, and in the wording of the articles, e.g., "normally" in article 7, "in principle" and "the receiving State may reserve" in article 14; see also the second sentence in article 34.

Therefore the Netherlands Government suggests that the rules⁴ that will apply to each mission be made narrower than is proposed by the Commission (*jus cogens*) and that on the other hand more liberty be given than is given in the Commission's draft (*jus dispositivum*):

To suspend some rules by mutual consent (i.e., "unless otherwise agreed...") or

To supplement the rules by mutual consent by the simple method of declaring additional rules already drawn up incidentally applicable ("at the request of the sending States, and provided the receiving State does not object...").

Apart from this, additional agreements of greater scope may naturally be entered into, but it is not necessary specifically to provide for this in the present draft.

It is this train of thought that has prompted the Netherlands Government's comments on each article. This arrangement is also better suited to the progressive development of this chapter of international law, much of the substance of which has yet to be moulded and refined in accordance with the dictates of practical experience gained by States.

ARTICLES

Articles 1 and 2

5. These articles do not indicate clearly under what circumstances a mission has the status of "special mission". Although the rules governing special missions cannot be meant to apply to every conceivable group of travelling government representatives, articles 1 and 2 create the impression that every mission charged

^u Yearbook of the International Law Commission, 1965, vol. II, p. 113.

^{*} Cf. the categories enumerated in paragraphs 79 to 117 of the first report by the Special Rapporteur, *Yearbook of the International Law Commission*, 1964, vol. II, pp. 83-88. [Note of the Government.]

with a specific duty and accepted by the receiving State (or possibly accepted tacitly only, as is implied in para. 4 (c) of the Commission's commentary on art. 1) is a "special mission". This imprecision might result in a receiving State that did not wish to object to the announced visit of some mission being caught unawares by the sending State demanding for the mission the status, including the privileges and immunities, of a special mission after the mission's arrival.

The Netherlands Government believes that a mission should only be a special mission if both sending State and receiving State desire to accord it the status of special mission. Accordingly, the Netherlands Government proposes that article 2 be amended to read:

"The task of a special mission and its status as such shall be determined by mutual consent...etc."

6. With reference to the question in paragraph 5 of the Commission's commentary on article 2, the Netherlands Government can see no need for any rule delimiting the special mission's and the permanent mission's competencies. In practice it might be a good thing if Governments were at liberty to consult one another through different channels.

Articles 3 and 4

7. The Netherlands Government believes that, in view of the variety of activities that can be included under the term "special mission", the receiving State should be given the opportunity, except if otherwise agreed, to state before a mission's arrival that a certain person is not acceptable as a member of the mission. The present article 3 does not offer this opportunity, and the present article 4, particularly in view of paragraph 2, only makes it possible for a person to be declared *non grata* after he has arrived in the receiving State.

In the opinion of the Netherlands Government the proposed clause need only apply to the members of a mission and not to the members of a mission's staff.

The contingency could be provided for either by wording paragraph 2 of article 4 more broadly or by deleting the paragraph entirely, or by reversing the provision of article 3:

"Except as otherwise agreed, the sending State must make certain that the agreement of the receiving State has been given for the persons it proposes to designate as head and members of the special mission."

Article 5

8. There is no objection to this article, although it is doubtful whether there is any need for it.

Article 6

9. See comments made on the second example under 2 above.

Articles 9 and 10

10. The Netherlands Government believes that the whole matter of precedence had better be left to the protocol in force in the receiving State, as is done in article 10 for ceremonial missions. There is no need for an internationally applicable precedence regulation, except for multilateral conferences that are not convened by a receiving State. In fact, such conferences are outside the scope of the present articles. Therefore it is suggested that articles 9 and 10 be combined, leaving out paragraph 1 of article 9 and making article 10 applicable to all special missions.

Article 11

11. With reference to the question in para. 12 of the Commission's commentary: it is doubtful whether there is any need for a clause on non-discrimination between special missions.

Article 13

12. The Netherlands Government believes that cases in which no prior agreement is sought and reached as to the location of a special mission's seat are less rare in practice than the International Law Commission states in para. 4 of its commentary. It is not at all customary to consult the receiving State in advance on the matter of the location of a special mission's seat, nor for the receiving State to make or await suggestions on the subject, particularly when the special mission has duties primarily of a political nature that can be discharged within a relatively short period (varying from a few hours to a few days), which is very often the case. It is more customary for this kind of special mission to be housed by the permanent mission of the sending State or to find accommodation themselves, in or in the immediate vicinity of the locality of the seat of Government of the receiving State. In such cases the special mission's address is either care of the permanent mission or an address given beforehand by or on behalf of the sending State to the receiving State, whichever the sending State opts for. As a rule the receiving State will raise no objections against the choice of seat, although it is entitled to do so in exceptional cases.

Even in countries where in these days the movement of foreigners in general and of foreign diplomats in particular is still severely restricted, the receiving State need not necessarily interfere in matters concerning the location of the seat, provided a locality is chosen near that of the Government.

The Netherlands Government proposes that article 13, paragraph 1 be amended to read:

"1. In the absence of prior agreement, a special mission shall have its seat at the place *chosen* by the *sending* State, *provided the receiving* State *does not object*".

Article 15

13. Although in general there need not be any objection to using the flag in the manner laid down in this article, this article does not seem acceptable as a *jus cogens* rule in view of the diversity of the activities included under the term "special mission". The two States concerned should be free in each case to deviate from this article by mutual agreement. Therefore it is suggested that the article open with the words: "*Except as otherwise agreed*". 14. The words "when used on official business" should be added to the phrase "and on the means of transport of the 1963 Vienna Convention on Consular Relations. If it appears desirable in a certain contingency to display flag and emblem on vehicles even when the vehicles are not in official use, some agreement can always be reached on the matter.

Article 17

15. The last phrase, "having regard to the nature and task of the special mission" has little or no effect on the general obligations of the receiving State described in the main clause of this article. In point of fact, the receiving State is also obliged "to have regard to the nature and task" of the permanent diplomatic or consular mission under the terms of article 25 of the 1961 Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations or under the terms of article 28 of the 1963 Vienna Convention on Consular Relations, even though the aforesaid phrase is not included in these two articles.

The fact that the functions discharged by special missions as distinct from those discharged by permanent diplomatic and consular missions are not necessarily in the interests of both the sending State and the receiving State prompts the placing in the present draft article of a somewhat different obligation on the receiving State with respect to special missions. Although maximum obligations, i.e., to provide full facilities, devolve upon the receiving State as regards permanent missions, the receiving State need only give a special mission the minimum of aid it requires to enable it to discharge its mission. The States concerned can always come to some agreement for each special case.

The Netherlands Government suggests that article 17 be amended to read:

"The receiving State shall accord to the special mission such facilities as may be necessary for the performance of its functions."

Article 18

16. When comparing the present article with article 21 of the 1961 Vienna Convention, we see that no mention is made in the present article of aid in the acquisition of land or buildings, an omission of which the Netherlands Government approves. On the other hand, the present article is more categorical: assistance in obtaining accommodation for members of the staff is made obligatory under all circumstances, whereas in the second paragraph of article 21 of the Vienna Convention only "where necessary". The Netherlands Government sees no reason for this extension. The term "special mission" covers so many different situations that no general rule can be laid down to the effect that the receiving State should help any and every kind of special mission. The various diplomatic missions all have comparable functions, all of which are in the interests of both the sending State and the receiving State, but the functions of the special missions vary considerably and occasionally a special mission will fulfil a mission that is only in the interest of the sending State. Therefore it is suggested that paragraph 18 open with the words: "Where necessary....".

17. According to paragraph 14 of the commentary, the last phrase in article 18 refers to special missions whose functions necessitate their having office premises or living accommodation in different or changing localities. This point might be made clearer by replacing "if necessary" by: "...and, if the situation should so require, ensure that such premises...".

Article 19

18. Paragraph 1. It was not without some hesitation that the Netherlands Government concluded that the provision in the first sentence of this paragraph should be accepted. It assumes that the term "premises" does not as a matter of course include the residence of the mission's head or the dwellings occupied by the members of the staff. (Cf. the comment on the fourth example in section 2 of the present document and the end of paragraph 3 of the Commission's commentary.)

Here again the difficulty lies in the great diversity of special missions. Some of them may require a certain degree of inviolability for their office premises to enable them to discharge their duties without let or hindrance; other missions only need the personal inviolability of their members (article 24) and the inviolability of their documents (article 20). The matter is complicated by the fact that, as the Netherlands Government sees it, the minimum of inviolability cannot be determined by rules of *jus dispositivum*, to be settled by the States concerned in each particular case.

Therefore the Netherlands Government approves of the first sentence, but with the specifications and restrictions given in sections 19 and 20 below.

19. By analogy with article 31, paragraph 2 of the 1963 Vienna Convention on Consular Relations the following clause should be added to this paragraph:

"The consent of the head of the special mission may, however, be assumed in case of fire or other disaster requiring prompt protective action."

This addition would seem to be required in view of the frequency with which special missions find accommodation in buildings, such as hotels, where other people live and work. 20. New paragraph. Also for the reason given in the preceding section it would seem advisable to have a new paragraph after paragraph 1, viz., the second sentence of article 19, paragraph 1 of the second report by M. Bartoš:

"2. Paragraph 1 shall apply even if the special mission is accommodated in a hotel or other public building, provided that the premises used by the special mission are identifiable."

21. Paragraph 2. No comment.

22. Paragraph 3. The immunity from search of the mission's means of transport is taken from article 22, paragraph 3 of the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations, but because of its unspecific wording it might also be interpreted so widely in that context as to give far greater immunity than was ever intended. It would be hazardous to give a more detailed description in the draft article of the circumstances under which a means of transport should be "immune from search", since it would foster the placing of a wide interpretation on the corresponding article 22, paragraph 3 of the Vienna Convention. Therefore it is proposed that the word "search" be deleted from paragraph 3 of the draft article. In so far as this word refers to the premises, the furnishings and other objects on the premises such immunity is already given by paragraph 1. In so far as "search" refers to other objects used for the work of the special mission, but located outside the premises (and this is an amplification that goes beyond article 22 of the Vienna Convention), such immunity would seem of no practical importance in view of the immunity of persons (article 24) and of documents (article 20).

Article 22

23. The following introductory clause should be inserted in article 22 and subsequent paragraphs renumbered:

"1. Unless otherwise agreed, special missions shall have freedom of communication to the extent provided in this article."

Article 23

24. It is not clear from the first paragraph why, in addition to the sending State and the head of the special mission, the members of its staff should also be mentioned here; this phrase does not appear in article 23 of the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations. No explanation of this seemingly superfluous addition is given in either the Commission's report or in the reports by M. Bartoš.

25. In the opinion of the Netherlands Government there is virtually no need for the exemption from taxation mentioned in article 23 for any of the special missions in view of their temporary character. This exemption, which to the diplomatic missions is a traditional privilege rather than a necessity, is not required for the due performance of the functions of temporary missions. The granting and registering of the exemption causes the receiving State more trouble than it is worth. Therefore it is suggested that article 23 be deleted.

Article 24

26. This article extends to the members of special missions (and to the members of their diplomatic staffs) the envoy's personal inviolability that has typified diplomatic relations from time immemorial. It is undeniable that personal inviolability is essential if a mission is to perform its functions without let or hindrance, and it should outweigh any interests involving the legal order within the receiving State, at least as regards permanent missions and some special missions. However, these considerations do not apply to all special missions.

Accordingly, the Netherlands Government would join the minority referred to in paragraph 2 of the Commission's commentary and propose that personal inviolability be restricted to acts performed in the fulfilment of the mission's duties. A second paragraph stipulating that "at the request of the sending State, and provided the receiving State does not object, personal inviolability shall be extended to include all deeds" might be added to article 24 modified in the manner described.

If this proposal is accepted, a new article should be inserted after article 24 governing, for cases for which extended personal inviolability has not been agreed upon, arrest and detention for deeds falling outside the scope of the performance of functions proper, in the same way as is done in articles 40, 41 and 42 of the 1963 Vienna Convention for consular officers.

Article 25

27. The *first* paragraph of this article should be deleted. The States concerned can enter upon additional agreements to cover any special cases of private residences or accommodation needing protection.

28. The *second* paragraph is superfluous in view of the provisions of articles 20 and 22. Therefore this paragraph can be deleted, too.

Article 26

29. *Paragraphs 1 and 4.* If the proposal put forward in section 26 is accepted, paragraphs 1 and 4 of article 26 will have to be restricted in the same way as article 24 in so far as immunity from criminal jurisdiction is concerned.

30. Paragraph 2. Apart from the question whether complete or limited immunity from criminal jurisdiction should be granted, it might be considered to what extent members of special missions should be withdrawn from the civil and administrative jurisdiction of the receiving State. The Netherlands Government believes that the legal order, particularly the legal protection of third persons who come into contact with members of the special mission, demands that the liability under civil law of members of a special mission be affected as little as possible by immunity. The opposing interest, viz. the undisturbed performance of the mission's functions, is hardly affected by civil and administrative jurisdiction. It is unnecessary to allow intrusion upon the legal order of the receiving State to the same extent as is required when ensuring personal immunity from criminal jurisdiction. The Netherlands Government subscribes to the view held by the minority and described in paragraph 2 of the Commission's commentary, and therefore suggests replacing paragraph 2 by a rule analogous to the one in article 43 of the 1963 Vienna Convention on Consular Relations.

Article 28

31. The deletion of article 28 is proposed for the reasons given in section 25 for article 23.

Article 30

32. With reference to paragraphs 2 and 3 of the Commission's commentary the Netherlands Government states that it endorses the view that there is no need to supplement this article as proposed by the Special Rapporteur.

Article 32

33. No comments, except for the necessity of formal adaptation to article 26 if the proposal to change this article is adopted.

If the proposal to change article 26, paragraph 2 is not adopted, article 32 should be amended in such a manner that liability for damage resulting from road accidents falls outside the scope of the immunity.

Article 33

34. Liability for damage resulting from road accidents should be excluded from the immunity.

Article 34

35. For the use of the term "private staff" see comment on the fifth example in section 2.

Article 35

36. This article is worded in such a manner that the permission of the receiving State would seem to be required whenever the head or members of the special mission or its diplomatic staff wish to bring members of their families with them. Even though circumstances are conceivable in which the receiving State would advise against bringing members of families or would even feel obliged to forbid it, it does not seem right to make it a general rule that the bringing of members of one's family shall be subject to the granting of permission. It is proposed that, by and large, matters concerning the presence and the status of members of families be omitted from the rules governing special missions. Only if the sending State desired that special status be accorded to the members of the families would the receiving State's permission be required. Therefore the words: "who are authorized by the receiving State to accompany them" should be deleted from article 35, paragraph 1 instead, the following words should be added, at the end of the clause:

"... in articles 24 to 31, in so far as these privileges and immunities are granted to them by the receiving State".

Paragraph 2 should be amended accordingly.

37. If the proposal to amend article 26, paragraph 2 is rejected, article 35 should be amended in such a way that damage resulting from road accidents is not included in the immunity.

Article 36

38. In view of the opinion expressed in paragraph 4 of the Commission's commentary the Netherlands Government believes that article 36 can be dispensed with entirely.

Article 39

39. The last few words of paragraph 4, viz., "and has raised no objection to it", make paragraphs 1, 2 and 3 meaningless. The Netherlands Government is of the opinion that the third State is only entitled to object to the transit of special missions in exceptional cases and after stating its reasons for doing so. There would have to be an objective criterion by which to judge the justifiability of refusals to allow special missions to pass, and that criterion would have to be set down in the present article. Since it is impossible to establish such a criterion, it would be better to dispense with the article altogether.

Article 42

40. Although the Netherlands Government has no objection to this article in its present form, it wishes to endorse the original proposal of the Special Rapporteur that the provision be amplified with the words: "and they may not do so for the profit of the sending State unless the receiving State has given its prior consent." (Cf. commentary on article 37 in the second report by M. Bartoš.) \mathbf{v}

This amplification will become superfluous if the proposal put forward in section 26 to amend article 24 is adopted by the International Law Commission.

HIGH-LEVEL SPECIAL MISSIONS W

41. Purpose of the regulation. The proposed rules are an amplification of the articles on special missions; the articles themselves will always be applicable, in so far as the additional rules do not constitute departures therefrom (see Rule 1).

As the Netherlands Government sees it, the scope of the articles governing special missions is restricted to ensure that they will also be applicable to low-level special missions; con-

v Yearbook of the International Law Commission, 1965, vol. II, p. 140.

^w See foot-note g above.

sequently, there is indeed a need for a special set of rules for high-level missions.

42. Heads of State. The position of a head of State travelling abroad can be disregarded in this regulation, because it has been regulated from time immemorial under the terms of international law. It would therefore seem wrong to lay down special rules for the head of State as head of a special mission, because, as opposed to any other high officer of State, he remains primarily head of State, whether he is is on a state visit (which also comes under the heading "special missions", see article 10) or is on holiday abroad.

It is suggested that Rules 2 and 6 be deleted and that instead it be stipulated that a head of State in charge of a special mission is entitled to his special privileges as head of State.

43. *Ministers.* The differences between the rules proposed by the Special Rapporteur for the Prime Minister (head of Government) (Rule 3), the Minister for Foreign Affairs (Rule 4) and other Cabinet Ministers (Rule 5) are very slight. Assuming that the rules will only be applicable to each of these high officers if the sending State and the receiving State wish to regard a mission headed by one of these officers as a "special mission", the Netherlands Government sees no reason for making these distinctions.

44. Officers of State not covered. Attention is drawn to the report of the Sixth Committee of the twentieth session of the General Assembly of the United Nations (A/6090, para. 73), in which it is pointed out that no rules have been proposed with regard to the Vice-President of a State, the Deputy Prime Minister, etc.

17. Pakistan

Transmitted by a letter of 21 February 1967 from the Acting Permanent Representative to the United Nations

[Original: English]

INTRODUCTORY ARTICLE

1. It is desirable to have an introductory article containing the definition of the expressions used in several Draft Articles on Special Missions. The Special Rapporteur has submitted the Introductory Article provisionally numbered as Article "0" defining the various expressions used. If the Commission adopts this Article, the text of a number of Articles would be shortened because the repetition of descriptive definitions would be avoided.

Article 7

2. Ordinarily, only the Head of Specialized Missions is authorized by virtue of his functions to act on behalf of the Special Missions whereas paragraph 2 of Article 7 seems to provide for the possibility of authorizing some other person as well. This could be spelt out more precisely by the addition of paragraph 3 to Article 7 in the following terms:

"3. Any member of the Special Mission may be authorized to perform particular acts on behalf of the Mission."

Article 17

3. Since Special Missions should be accorded facilities, privileges and immunities on the basis of the nature of their functions and tasks, it would be advantageous to insert paragraph 2 as under in Article 17 to clarify the position as well as to allay the anxieties expressed by certain Governments in their comments:

"2. The facilities, privileges and immunities provided for in Part II of these Articles, shall be granted to the extent required by these Articles, unless the receiving State and the sending State agree otherwise."

DRAFT PROVISIONS CONCERNING THE SO-CALLED HIGH-LEVEL SPECIAL MISSIONS ^x

4. At its sixteenth session, the International Law Commission decided to ask its Special Rapporteur to submit at its succeeding session an article dealing with the legal status of the so-called high-level Special Missions, in particular, Special Missions led by Heads of State, Heads of Governments, Ministers of Foreign Affairs and Cabinet Ministers. The Rapporteur prepared the draft annexed to the report of the Commission's seventeenth session, submitted to the General Assembly at its twentieth session. It is comprised of six rules which are to be appended to the Articles on Special Missions as exceptions thereto whenever the Special Missions are led by Heads of States, Heads of Governments, Ministers of Foreign Affairs and Cabinet Ministers. Inasmuch as these rules seem to pertain to the question of international status of the Heads of States, etc., it is open to doubt whether there is any particular need to include these rules in the Articles on Special Missions.

5. The Draft Articles on Special Missions as finally adopted by the International Law Commission should form the basis of a separate Convention on Special Missions, which would be originally linked with the two Vienna Conventions on Diplomatic Relations (1961) and Consular Relations (1963) without being made an appendix to either of them.

18. Sweden

Transmitted by a letter of 2 May 1966 from the Minister for Foreign Affairs

[Original: English]

The comments of the Swedish Government follow below. They are divided into three parts: (A) remarks of a general character; (B) observations on particular articles of the draft; (C) comments regarding the suggestions, etc. contained in section C of chapter III of the Commission's report.

A. GENERAL REMARKS

1. During the discussion of the Commission's report in the Sixth Committee at the Twentieth session of the General Assembly, the Swedish delegate, in a speech on 8 October 1965, drew attention to the problem of granting immunities and privileges to a great number of people. He pointed out that this problem arises in connexion with special missions, and he continued:

"While the great quantity of these missions makes a codification desirable, it also makes it difficult, for immunities and privileges granted to a few may not meet insurmountable obstacles, but the same immunities and privileges given to many may cause a real problem.

"Now, as Professor Bartos demonstrated in his first report on the subject, a great many different kinds of special missions would come under the new régime: political, military, police, transport, water-supply, economic, veterinary, humanitarian, labour-recruiting and others. Consequently, a great many persons would be immune from jurisdiction, would enjoy exemption from customs control and duties, etc. This group of persons would be further widened at a later stage, when rules in the same vein were introduced for delegates to conferences convened by Governments or international organizations. Yet, we know that in many countries the public and parliaments complain already of the present extent of immunity and privileges. A wide extension would surely meet some resistance. Of course, to the extent such widening is functionally indispensable, we must try to achieve its acceptance and persuade the opponents it will meet. However, it would

^x See foot-note g above.

seem highly desirable that the Commission sought some means of reducing the circle of missions which would fall under the special régime or else of limiting the privileges and immunities granted. It is appreciated that there are great difficulties in distinguishing between missions. Diplomatic or non-diplomatic status cannot alone be decisive; a mission consisting of a minister of defense and generals sent to negotiate military cooperation may have as great a functional need to be under the special régime as a diplomatic delegation sent to negotiate a new trade agreement. Yet, it may possibly be said that special missions, which by definition are temporary, generally have a somewhat more limited need at least for privileges than do permanent missions. In a great many cases the express agreement to send and receive a special mission may also be a guarantee that the receiving State will in all ways spontaneously facilitate the task of the mission, a guarantee that does not necessarily exist for permanent missions."

The Swedish Government is of the opinion that great care should be taken in order to limit the privileges and immunities as much as possible, both with respect to the extent of the privileges and immunities and with respect to the categories of persons who shall enjoy them. This should be observed especially if it is the intention that a considerable part of the provisions regarding privileges and immunities shall be peremptory.

2. The question to what extent the articles of the draft should be peremptory or *jus cogens* was also discussed by the Swedish delegate on the occasion referred to above. He said in that respect:

"My next point on the draft on special missions derives not from the report of the Commission, but from the second report by Professor Bartoš, from which y [in paragraph 26] it appears that States would be free to derogate from such articles only as expressly allow it. The others would be peremptory, jus cogens. In the draft articles submitted to us, some are found, indeed which expressly allow States to derogate, e.g., article 3. However, article 15, which provides that a special mission shall have the right to display its flag and emblem on its premises, on the residence of its head of mission, and on its means of transport, contains no clause expressly allowing two States to derogate from it by agreement in the case of some particular mission. Yet, it would be hard to see why they should be precluded from so doing. The same argument could be adduced with respect to several other articles. Indeed, I wonder if it would not be wiser to accept as basic presumption that States are free to derogate from the rules, by express agreement between themselves, unless the contrary appears.

The Swedish Government considers that as the sending of a special mission in each case depends on an agreement between the sending and the receiving States, it would be natural to let the two States decide not only on the sending and task of the mission but also, in the last resort, on the status of the mission. The status needed by a mission may vary according to the task it shall carry out and already from that point of view flexibility should be allowed. Furthermore, supposing that for some reason the receiving State would be willing to accord to a special mission only a very limited amount of privileges and supposing that the sending State in that case would prefer to accept such very limited privileges for its mission rather than not sending the mission at all, why should the States not be permitted to derogate from the régime laid down in the instrument which in due time may result from the draft? In other words, the ambition to provide through peremptory rules, an effective status for special missions may result in no mission being sent at all. It seems that the sending and the receiving States could be trusted to regulate freely if they so

wish, the status and conditions of work to be accorded to the mission. The purpose of the draft regulation should rather be to provide subsidiary rules which could be applied whenever the sending and receiving States have omitted to settle the matter by agreement.

B. OBSERVATIONS ON PARTICULAR ARTICLES

Article 1

In its commentary to article 1, the Commission says:

"The question whether special missions can be used between States or Governments which do not recognize each other was also raised. The Commission considered that, even in those cases, special missions could be helpful in improving relations between States, but it did not consider it necessary to add a clause to that effect to article 1." z

The Commission's view that special missions can be helpful in improving relations between States or Governments which do not recognize each other is certainly correct. Special missions are sometimes used to remove obstacles to recognition. It is, however, obvious that special missions can be used for these purposes only if it is clear that the mere sending of a special mission does not imply recognition. If it could be successfully argued that a State by sending to or receiving from a State or Government a special mission had recognized that State or Government, a special mission would no longer be a useful instrument for *preparing the way* to recognition. It might be useful further to investigate this problem and, if it is found warranted, include in article 1 a clause stating that sending or receiving a special mission does not in itself imply recognition.

The Commission also states:

"In the case of insurrection or civil war, however, any such movements which have been recognized as belligerents and have become subjects of international law have the capacity to send and receive special missions. The same concept will be found in the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations (article 3, paragraph 1 (a))." ^{BA}

First, if also belligerents have the capacity to send and receive special missions, the term "States" in the text of article 1 is hardly adequate. Secondly, the meaning of the reference to article 3 of the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations is not apparent. Thirdly, supposing that States A and B are both parties to the future instrument on special missions, supposing further that there is an insurrection in State A, that State B recognizes the insurgents as belligerents, and that State A protests against that recognition as an intervention in its internal affairs, supposing finally that State B sends a special mission to the insurgents, would State A be obliged to consider the mission as a special mission under the instrument? If so, is State A to be considered as a third State in relation to the special mission? How would in that case article 16 be applied? If the insurgents were defeated and the mission captured by State A on its territory what is the mission's status? The questions could be multiplied; it therefore seems that, if insurgents recognized as belligerents are to be covered by article 1, the matter should be further explored and that more precise provisions thereon should be drafted. The short reference in the commentary is not sufficient to clarify and settle the question.

Article 3

Should the principle be accepted that all the rules concerning the status of the special mission would be applicable unless the parties agree otherwise, the phrase "except as otherwise

⁹ Yearbook of the International Law Commission, 1965, vol. II, p. 113.

² Yearbook of the International Law Commission, 1965, vol. II, p. 166.

^{aa} Ibid., p. 165.

agreed" in this and corresponding phrases in some other articles would have to be replaced by a more general provision.

The second phrase of the article seems to be superfluous.

Article 5

The article seems to be superfluous as article 1, paragraph 1, sufficiently covers the case. If State A wants to send a special mission to State B whose relations with State C are difficult, State A would certainly in some way or other consult the authorities in State B before sending the mission on to State C. A special rule to that effect is unnecessary and could in any case be easily evaded, e.g., if State A so wishes, it could postpone telling State B about its intention to send the mission to State C until the mission has accomplished its task in State B.

Article 7

The phrase "normally" is a descriptive term and hardly appropriate here. The text should be rephrased. How, would depend upon whether or not the principle of the subsidiary character of the rules is accepted or not.

Article 14

The term "should in principle" is too vague. Paragraph 1 of the article could well be omitted.

If the articles of the draft are given only a subsidiary character, paragraph 3 could also be omitted.

Article 21

Should the principle of the subsidiary character of the articles be accepted the phrase "unless otherwise agreed" can be omitted.

If, on the other hand, the articles are in principle to constitute *jus cogens* the text should at least be reworded along these lines: "In the absence of an agreement on the matter between the sending and the receiving State, the receiving State shall, subject to its laws, etc., ensure, etc.". As now phrased the text seems to assume that the parties might agree not to accord such freedom of movement to the mission as is necessary for the performance of its functions.

Article 31

In view of the fact that there is a special article (article 35) dealing with the families should not, in paragraph 1 (b), the words "or of the members of their family who accompany them" be omitted? Cf. commentary (2) (a) to article 32. There also seems to be a discrepancy between the expression "who accompany them" in article 31, paragraph 1, and the expression "who are authorized by the receiving State to accompany them" in article 35 paragraph 1.

Article 36

The commentary should be revised. As it now stands, it is confusing, in particular because the phrase "This idea is set forth in art. 14 etc." is not exact. As appears from paragraph (3) only part of the idea was incorporated in article 14.

C. COMMENTS ON "OTHER DECISIONS, SUGGESTIONS AND OBSERVA-TIONS BY THE COMMISSION "

1. The Commission would like to know the opinion of Governments on the question whether "special rules of law should or should not be drafted for so-called 'high-level' special missions, whose heads hold high office in their States".^{bb} In the opinion of the Swedish Government such special rules should not be included in the draft on special missions. If the head of a "high level" mission is entitled to a special status, that would not be because he is the head of a special mission but because of his position as Head of State, Head of Government, Member of Government, etc. The rules envisaged therefore do not really pertain to the matter of special missions but to the question of the international status of Heads of State, etc.

2. The Swedish Government agrees with the stand taken by the Commission that a provision on non-discrimination would be out of place with respect to special missions.

3. The question whether the draft "should contain a provision on the relationship between the articles on special missions and other international agreements" is closely connected with the problem whether the articles should have a subsidiary dispositive character or whether some of them should be *jus cogens*. Whatever course the Commission decides to follow in this respect the character of the articles should be clearly defined in the draft.

19. Ukrainian Soviet Socialist Republic

Transmitted by a note verbale of 7 July 1966 from the Permanent Mission to the United Nations

[Original: Russian]

The Government of the Ukrainian SSR recognizes the value and usefulness of the draft articles on special missions drawn up by the International Law Commission and regards them as an important step forward in the codification and progressive development of the principles and rules of international law.

As regards the specific content and wording of the individual articles, the competent organs of the Ukrainian SSR consider that the following changes and additions should be made:

1. Article 1. Replace paragraph 2 by the following:

"Neither diplomatic and consular relations nor recognition is necessary for the sending and reception of special missions."

- 2. Article 5. Delete.
- 3. Article 6. Delete paragraph 3.

Other comments and additions may be submitted after further consideration of the draft articles on special missions.

20. Union of Soviet Socialist Republics

Transmitted by a note verbale of 3 June 1966 from the Permanent Mission to the United Nations

[Original: Russian]

1. In view of modern international practice, article 1, paragraph 2, of the draft should be worded as follows:

"Neither diplomatic and consular relations nor recognition is necessary for the sending and reception of special missions."

2. In view of the tasks which are usually given to special missions, it is unnecessary to include in the draft provisions relating to the possibility of sending the same special mission to more than one State (article 5) and to the size of the staff of a special mission (article 6, paragraph 3). These provisions should therefore be deleted from the draft.

21. United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland

Transmitted by a letter of 26 May 1966 from the Deputy Permanent Representative to the United Nations

[Original: English]

1. The United Kingdom Government have studied with interest the set of 44 draft articles proposed by the International Law Commission as the basis for an international agreement on the status, functions and privileges of Special Missions and wish to express their great appreciation of the care and attention

^{bb} See foot-note g above.

which the Commission has devoted to the examination of this topic.

2. While expressing their general agreement with the principles and rules embodied in the draft articles, and with the desirability of codifying international law and practice on this aspect of diplomacy, the United Kingdom Government feel bound to record their opposition to the undue extension of privileges and immunities which certain articles appear to confer. In their view the grant of such privileges and immunities should be strictly controlled by considerations of functional necessity and should be limited to the minimum required to ensure the efficient discharge of the duties entrusted to Special Missions. The draft articles follow closely the corresponding provisions of the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations and it is the view of the United Kingdom Government that such extensive privileges in the case of Special Missions cannot be justified on functional grounds.

3. The United Kingdom Government consider that it would be highly desirable to include a "definitions" article on the lines of Article 1 of the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations, in which certain of the terms used in the draft Articles should be precisely defined. In their view it is of particular importance to define the term "Special Mission" with precision so that the scope of the draft articles may be made clear. The terms "head and members of the Special Mission", "members of its staff", "permanently resident in the receiving State" and "premises of the Special Mission", in particular, are among those used in the draft articles which should be precisely defined. It seems, for example, unclear whether "members [of the Special Mission]" as used in article 6 (1) does or does not include some or all of the staffs referred to in article 6 (2). A definition of the term "premises of the Special Mission" should exclude living accommodation of all staff.

4. The United Kingdom Government wishes to offer in addition the following comments on certain of the draft articles individually:

Article 1

In paragraph 1 the word "express" should be inserted before "consent" in order to eliminate reliance upon alleged tacit or informal consent as a basis for invoking the special treatment provided for in the draft articles.

In paragraph 2 (d) of the commentary the question of permanent specialised missions is discussed. It is made clear that the Special Missions to be covered by the draft articles are temporary in character. Although permanent specialised missions may in some cases be staffed by members of the staff of the diplomatic Missions of the country concerned and occupy "premises of the mission" in a manner bringing them within the scope of the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations, there will be other cases to which that Convention will not be applicable since the purposes of the permanent specialised mission will not be "purposes of the mission". In some cases a permanent mission is accredited to an international organisation and its status is regulated by an international agreement governing the privileges and immunities of the organisation. The United Kingdom Government believe that permanent missions which do not fall into either of these categories should be brought within the scope of the present draft articles. It appears desirable to regulate their status by international agreement and there seems no reason to do this by a separate code of rules. It is further suggested that the application of the rules laid down in these draft articles to permanent specialised missions might be made subject in each case to the express consent of the receiving State.

With regard to paragraph 7 of the commentary, the United Kingdom Government suggest that a provision should be added to the article to make clear that where members of the regular permanent diplomatic mission act also in connexion with a special mission, their position as members of the permanent mission should determine their status.

Article 2

It appears desirable to limit in some way the purposes for which a special mission qualifying for the treatment contemplated in the draft articles may be constituted—otherwise there is a danger that the provisions of an eventual Convention could be invoked in any case of a visit to one State by a person or group of persons from another on official or quasi-official business, whatever its nature. There may be cases in which the receiving State wishes to permit a mission to come without necessarily according it the full privileges and immunities laid down in the draft articles but as the articles are at present drafted this might be very difficult.

With reference to paragraph 5 of the commentary, the United Kingdom Government see no need for a rule of the exclusion of the tasks or functions of a Special Mission from the competence of the permanent diplomatic mission. The matter seems to be entirely one between the sending State and its two missions and the receiving State should be entitled to presume that either the permanent or the special mission (within the scope of its task) has authority to perform any acts which it purports to perform. If difficulties are likely to arise, they can be dealt with by an *ad hoc* arrangement on the subject.

Article 11

The United Kingdom Government considers with reference to paragraph 12 of the commentary on this article, that it would not be necessary or appropriate to add to this article a reference to the principle of non-discrimination. They support fully the views of the Commission on this question.

Article 17

This article suggests that, for instance, the sending State may have all expenses of its Special Mission defrayed by the receiving State, which is not the case, unless by virtue of a special agreement. Some clarification appears to be desirable.

Article 19

The United Kingdom Government observes that this article accords the property of Special Missions a wider protection than is given to diplomatic missions by the Vienna Convention in that property not on the premises of the mission other than means of transport is covered by the article. The United Kingdom Government doubts whether this distinction is justifiable on functional grounds.

Article 22

It should be made clear that the word "free" as used in paragraph 1, has the sense of "unrestricted".

The United Kingdom Government considers that the bag facilities of Special Missions should be restricted to the minimum and that where the sending State has a permanent diplomatic mission in the receiving State official documents etc. for the use of the Special Mission should be imported in the bag of the permanent mission. In this way the onus of ensuring that improper use is not made of the bag would rest with the Head of the permanent mission who, unlike the Head of the Special Mission, has a continuing duty to the receiving State in this respect. There appears to be nothing contrary to this in paragraph 4 of Article 27 of the Vienna Convention.

Article 23

The expression "taxes in respect of the premises of the Special Mission" in paragraph 1 does not clearly cover capital gains tax on the disposal of the premises. The United Kingdom authorities would not seek to tax a gain accruing to the sending State under these circumstances and they accordingly suggest the addition of the words "including taxes on capital gains arising on disposal" after the words "premises of the special mission".

Articles 24, 25, 26

The scale of immunity and inviolability prescribed in these articles, based on the corresponding provisions of the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations, appears excessive, and inappropriate to the character and functions of Special Missions. While noting the Commission's basic hypothesis that Special Missions should be equated, so far as practicable, with permanent missions, the United Kingdom Government would prefer a restriction of immunity and inviolability to official documents and official acts.

Article 26

There seems to be room for doubt whether the expression "professional or commercial activity" in paragraph 2 (c) is wide enough to cover, for instance, disputes about the ownership of, or liability for calls, etc., on shares in a company registered in the receiving State. The expression has in the case of the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations given rise to difficulty and its scope should be made more clear.

The commentary on this article implies that the phrase "unless otherwise agreed" in paragraph 2 does not contemplate the possibility of excluding all immunity from civil and administrative jurisdiction but only of limiting immunity to official acts. This should be made clear in the text.

Article 29

The article as it stands does not fully carry out the intention of the Commission expressed in paragraph 2 of the commentary, to accord a narrower scale of exemption than is accorded to permanent missions by Article 34 of the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations. Omission of the exceptions has had in some respects the contrary effect—for example, relief appears due from taxes normally included in the price of goods or services.

Moreover, unlike Article 34 of the Vienna Convention on which it is said to be based, the article might be construed as exempting from stamp duty cheques, receipts, etc., given by the head, members and diplomatic staff of a special mission in the course of their duties. It will not be construed in the United Kingdom as having any effect in relation to duties chargeable under the Stamp Act 1891, as amended, on cheques and other instruments issued by the head, members or diplomatic staff of a special mission.

In the matter of income tax, because of the exclusion under Article 36 of United Kingdom Citizens and permanent residents in the United Kingdom from any exemption from United Kingdom tax under this Article, it is only in exceptional cases that United Kingdom law would impose any liability to income tax. In such exceptional cases, the expression "income attaching to their functions with the special mission" is too wide. There is no objection to the exemption of emoluments or fees paid by the sending State or, so long as the mission is for the governmental purposes of the sending State, of emoluments or fees paid by other sources in the sending State. Article 42, however, does not appear to exclude the possibility of members of a special mission deriving income from the sale of goods in the receiving State, or the provision of services, or any other activity of a profit-making nature, if the activity attaches to their functions with the mission. A mission sent to promote the export trade of the sending State or to organise a fair or exhibition on behalf of the sending State might claim that the sale of large quantities of goods was within its functions. Income derived from such activities should not be exempt from tax in the receiving State.

Article 31

The United Kingdom Government would be reluctant to extend full diplomatic Customs privilege to members of special missions: it appears that they would not be alone in disallowing relief from customs duty on articles for the personal use of members of a special mission and they consider that the personal relief provision in the article should be made optional. This would conform more closely with international usage.

Paragraph 2 of the commentary is difficult to understand: it appears to be at variance with the terms of the article.

Article 32

According to paragraph 2 (b) of the commentary, the Commission did not intend the grant of "first installation" Customs privilege to administrative and technical staffs but the article as it stands confers on these staffs full diplomatic Customs privilege, contrary to intention.

Since nationals of, and permanent residents in, the receiving State are excluded from privileges and immunities by article 36, the repetition of the exclusion in this article seems unnecessary and, as it is not repeated in articles 28, 29 and 30, confusing.

Article 33

The formulation of the Commission is preferred to the suggestions of the Rapporteur that service staffs of special missions should be accorded a level of immunity higher than that given in the case of permanent diplomatic missions.

Article 34

The United Kingdom Government oppose the exemption of private servants from income tax on their emoluments.

A private servant who is not himself permanently resident in the United Kingdom would be liable to United Kingdom tax on his emoluments for his services in the United Kingdom if he were in the United Kingdom for six months or more in any one income tax year. In such circumstances it is unlikely that the private servant would be liable to taxation on his emoluments in the sending State: if the receiving State were required to exempt him, he would be free of all taxation. By contrast, the staff of the special mission will normally be taxed by the sending State. If, exceptionally, the sending State should tax the private servant's emoluments, he would qualify for double taxation relief in the United Kingdom.

Article 35

The comment on article 31 above applies equally to families. The provision which appears to accord full diplomatic Customs privilege to families of administrative and technical staff is presumably an error consequent upon that apparently existing in article 32, to which attention has already been drawn.

Article 38

If the possibility of profit-making special missions is to remain (see comment on article 29) the United Kingdom Government would prefer not to give exemption from estate duty to the personnel of such a mission.

Article 39

As drafted this article obliges the third State to grant immunities where it permits transit. The United Kingdom Government would prefer that third States should instead be entitled to permit transit without also granting immunities to a Special Mission.

Article 44

It is desirable to provide a time limit to the continuing inviolability of the premises of the special mission. The addition of a reference to "a reasonable period" would seem to be sufficient.

SECTION C

Paragraph 49. It is agreed that there would be no point in including non-discrimination provisions in draft articles of this character.

Paragraph 50. The United Kingdom Government believe that there would be advantage in adding to the draft articles a provision dealing with their relationship to other international agreements.

22. United States of America

Transmitted by a note verbale of 13 March 1967 from the Permanent Representative to the United Nations

[Original: English]

The United States Government has studied the draft articles on special missions with great interest and wishes to express its appreciation of the thorough study which the International Law Commission has made of this subject. The concern which the United States Government has about certain aspects of the draft articles as they now appear springs from the difficulties inherent in dealing with a subject that covers such a varied sphere of activities.

GENERAL REMARKS

The United States Government believes that a set of definitions is a useful addition to these articles. Most of the definitions proposed by the Special Rapporteur are from the 1961 Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations or the 1963 Vienna Convention on Consular Relations. The definition of "special mission" is new. It is of paramount importance since it necessarily determines the scope of the draft articles.

The United States considers that the abstract nature of the definition of "special mission" presents serious problems. The only limitations expressed in the definition are that the mission be "temporary", between States, and "for the performance of a specific task". The definition can be considered to include almost any official mission in a foreign State except a permanent diplomatic or consular establishment. As a result, any visit of a representative of one State to another on any kind of official business can be, for the purposes of the proposed convention, a special mission which throws into operation the complicated machinery of the draft articles.

The United States considers that a convention so framed would not accord with modern developments in the conduct of foreign relations. The system proposed would look back toward nineteenth century practice rather than to the conduct of foreign relations in the present half of the twentieth century and to the framing of a convention which should lay a basis for the conduct of foreign affairs in the twenty-first century.

The technological explosion of the past twenty years in the fields of communication and transportation has altered the world in many aspects, and the field of diplomacy has not remained untouched. The most striking development has been in the very area which is the subject of this convention. The carrying on of intercourse between States through meetings of specialists in all fields and at all levels has become a customary feature of international life. It is a most promising development from every aspect. This is an increasingly complicated world and the solution of problems on the international level requires increasingly higher levels of competence, training and experience in a broad spectrum of endeavour, and thus a continuing growth in the employment of experts.

Meetings of an expert character are generally marked by an absence of special arrangements, of concern with protocol, of

fanfare and formality. The aims of the meetings are to clear away misconceptions or misunderstandings through face-toface explanations, to work out joint areas of interest through joint discussions and to seek common goals through common endeavours. These aims have been achieved in innumerable meetings of experts and specialists in the past twenty years, and achieved without any special arrangements for privileges and immunities, for inviolability, for pouches, for servants and for deciding who sits at the head of the table.

It appears from the records of the International Law Commission that a good part of the Commission's work in this field has been devoted to modifying and adapting the provisions of the Vienna Diplomatic and Consular Conventions to Special Missions. The approach has been that there need be no basic difference made between permanent and special missions except to take into account the indefinite duration of the latter. The United States suggests that special missions, as they have developed since World War II, have substantially different work patterns, objectives, and procedures than permanent missions. Requirements developed for permanent missions could be a hindrance rather than a help to the efficient and productive conduct of foreign relations. Such requirements should be modified to take into account experiences of States with the operation of special missions and, in particular, the reasons which have led States to increasingly greater reliance upon special missions for the conduct of foreign affairs.

First and foremost is the need for expert knowledge. A glance at the current topics which are the subject of international agreements, beginning with aerospace disturbances, agricultural commodities, air services, air transport, atmospheric sampling, atomic energy, is an immediate illustration of the enormous requirements for technical knowledge which the modern practice of foreign relations calls for. For foreign relations now includes all sorts of efforts in which individual States co-operate to combat disease, to predict the weather, to increase food production, to harness hydroelectric powers, to turn salt water into fresh water. As a result, there is a constant and continuing exchange of specialist missions between co-operating States. The arrangements for these exchanges of experts and for their meetings are generally informal in character, and certainly have little in common with the elaborate procedures and requirements laid down in the draft convention.

The improvement in long-distance communication, especially by telephone, and the blanketing of the entire world with speedy and efficient air-transport systems, have changed special missions between States from elaborate expeditions into routine visits. The trend is more and more to sending the man dealing with an international problem in one State on a quick trip to talk to the man dealing with that problem in the other. The United States believes that this development is a valuable contribution to the conduct of foreign relations. Again it notes that arrangements for missions of this nature are usually informal in character and that this method of diplomacy has flourished in the absence of any special arrangements for privileges and immunities.

Present-day experience does not demonstrate the need to make extraordinary arrangements for the ordinary flow of official visitors between one State and another. Experience does demonstrate, however, that there is a growing concern with and a mounting opposition to further extensions of privileges and immunities in most States in which there are sizable diplomatic communities. It would seem extremely likely that a convention extending privileges and immunities to another substantial class of individuals would not be warmly received. If such a convention were to come into general acceptance, its probable effects will be to undermine the valuable developments in the use of special missions discussed above. States will become less receptive to unqualified acceptance of official visits when every such visit must be treated as that of an envoy extraordinary. The United States recognizes that there are special missions which should be treated specially. Missions which are sent for ceremonial or formal occasions are of a different nature than expert or technical missions, and this difference should be recognized.

The level of the mission should also be taken into account. When the mission is headed by an official of ministerial rank or when the mission is received by an official of ministerial rank, this would evidence that the mission is conducting its activities on a plane which demands special recognition. Finally, there are missions which, even though not headed by an official of ministerial rank, are dealing with matters of such gravity and importance to the States concerned, or which involve unusual considerations, that special protection should be afforded them. In such cases, however, the full range of privileges and immunities afforded by draft articles should become applicable only if the sending State requests the application specifically and the receiving State agrees.

In its remarks on Provisional Article 0, the United States submits language to describe missions which should be treated specially. For such missions, the United States would support, in general, the privileges and immunities proposed in the draft articles.

REMARKS ON SPECIFIC ARTICLES

The following remarks are not intended to be exhaustive, and do not suggest all the drafting changes necessary to satisfy the concerns expressed in the *General remarks* section.

Provisional Article 0

(a) The United States proposes the following definition of "special mission" for the purposes of the draft articles:

A special mission is one:

(1) Which is established by agreement between the sending State and the receiving State for a limited period to perform specifically designated tasks, and is headed or received by an official who holds the rank of Cabinet Minister or its equivalent, or a higher rank; or

(2) Which is specifically agreed by the sending State and the receiving State to be a special mission within the meaning of this Convention.

(g) It is not the practice of the United States to designate as plenipotentiary every official whom it sends to another State to represent it by performing a specific task. If the intention is to exclude from the coverage of the draft articles experts such as those discussed in the *General remarks* above, it is suggested this end is better achieved by a revision of the definition of special mission. The United States doubts that such designation is general practice in most sending States.

(r) This definition appears unduly broad. It is suggested that the word "exclusively" be inserted between the words "used" and "for" in the second line of Provisional Article 0 appearing at page 33 of A/CN.4/189/Add.1. Such amendment would make the definition, except for the final clause, correspond to Article 1 (j) of the Vienna Convention on Consular Relations. In the view of the United States, the final clause should be narrowed by excluding from the definition the residence or accommodation of persons other than the head of the special mission.

Article 2

In answer to the question posed in paragraph 5 of the Commentary, the United States Government believes that a hard-and-fast rule concerning exclusion from the competence of permanent missions of the tasks entrusted to special missions would not be useful, but that a sending State should be free to specify such exclusive competence in those instances it deems such an arrangement necessary.

Article 3

The United States agrees that the prior consent of the receiving State to the composition of a special mission should not be required. However, it is important and desirable that the sending State give advance notice of composition to the receiving State. This may be accomplished by adding the following to the end of the second sentence of Article 3: "but prior notice of the composition of the mission shall be given to it".

Article 5

This Article does not appear to be necessary.

Article 7

Paragraph 2 implies that the sending State does not have full liberty to change the head of the special mission. It would appear desirable to provide merely that a member of the mission may be authorized by the sending State to replace the head of the special mission. In addition, a sentence should be added at the end of paragraph 2 as follows: "The receiving State shall be notified of a change of head of mission."

Article 11

In regard to the question posed in paragraph 12 of the Commentary, the United States Government believes a rule of nondiscrimination in regard to the mode of reception of special missions of the same character is unnecessary and, on balance, undesirable.

Article 13

The fact that a special mission is of a temporary character runs counter to its having a seat. Moreover, this Article is without effect in so far as the remainder of the text is concerned. It is suggested that the Article be deleted.

Article 16

The United States Government is not sure whether the third State assumes the obligations of a receiving State by expressly consenting to permit a special mission to carry on functions in its territory. At all events, it should be provided that a third State's express consent may be conditioned in advance and withdrawn at any time.

Article 17

This Article would be more balanced if it provided:

"The receiving State shall accord to the special mission facilities for the performance of its functions, having regard to the nature and task of the special mission."

Article 19

The inviolability of premises raises special questions because, unless the special mission is housed in a permanent diplomatic mission, it will ordinarily be occupying hotel rooms or office space. Hotel rooms present special difficulties because of the danger of fire or similar catastrophe. The safety of other guests cannot be imperilled by the refusal of a mission to allow entry to firemen or police seeking to deal with an emergency. The same considerations apply, though with lesser force, to an office building. The suggestion that an emergency be handled by negotiations between the Foreign Office and the special mission is unrealistic.

The United States considers that a final sentence should be added to paragraph 1 of Article 19 to have it correspond to Article 31, paragraph 2 of the Vienna Convention on Consular Relations. The sentence would read: "The consent of the head of the special mission may, however, be assumed in case of fire or other disaster requiring prompt protective action."

The exclusion from legal process of furnishings, automobiles, and the like used by special missions raises questions if the property is rented or leased. There does not appear to be any overriding need why normal legal processes should not apply to such property so long as equivalent property is available for use.

Real estate also presents difficulties. If a hotel is being sold under a court order, how would it be possible to exclude the premises of the special mission in the hotel? This type of extraordinary exemption could make it more difficult for the special mission to acquire property for use on a short-term basis.

Article 29

The coverage of the final clause (beginning "and in respect") in this article is unclear. The clause should either be changed or eliminated.

Article 31

The United States Government believes that fiscal and customs privileges granted to special missions should normally be limited to those necessary to enable them to perform the "specific tasks" for which they are sent. It does not favour setting up personal privileges for members of special missions. It is concerned lest the burdens imposed on the receiving State under this and related articles persuade many of the States whose revenues come largely from customs duties that they cannot afford to receive special missions. Such a development would mark a serious step backwards in the conduct of foreign relations.

Article 32

The privileges and immunities provided hereunder are broader than required by the nature of the services rendered. This observation applies with even greater force to paragraph 2 of Article 35, which extends such privileges to members of the families of those covered by Article 32. Given the temporary character of special missions, the question arises whether privileges and immunities of the families of members of permanent missions have any necessary application to families of members of special missions.

Article 39

The scope and effect of this article require further consideration, particularly in light of vehicular accidents which may occur *en route*.

23. Upper Volta

Transmitted by a letter of 23 February 1966 from the Secretary of State for Foreign Affairs

[Original: French]

The Government of the Republic of the Upper Volta wishes first of all to thank the International Law Commission for kindly associating it with the Commission's work on special missions by inviting it to submit its comments on:

(a) The draft articles in section B of chapter III of the Commission's report; and

(b) Section C of chapter III of that report.

The draft articles on special missions, like the other decisions, suggestions and observations by the International Law Commission mentioned in section C, are of definite value and should be taken into consideration by States, for today, when relations between States are complex and regularly maintained at several levels, the special mission, because of its dynamic function, at any level, is seen to be the instrument of active diplomacy.

The Government of the Republic of the Upper Volta accordingly welcomes the opportunity of expressing its views and submitting its comments on the rules of law and other provisions with which special missions are required to comply. The Government of the Republic of the Upper Volta has the honour to submit the following comments to the International Law Commission:

(a) The first point on which the Government of the Upper Volta would like to state its view is mentioned in paragraph (5) of the commentary on article 2. The problem here concerns the parallel existence of permanent and special missions and their respective areas of competence, and, in this context, the question of the validity of acts performed by special missions is raised.

Special missions differ by nature from permanent missions, as is made clear, incidentally, in article 1 and its commentary:

(i) In the first place, States send special missions for specific tasks; their tasks are not of a general nature like those of a permanent mission;

(ii) Special missions are of a temporary nature.

We mention these few facts concerning the nature of special missions in order to stress the difference, which we consider to be fundamental, between them and permanent missions; it is these individual features of special missions that determine the position of the Upper Volta Government with regard to the respective areas of competence of special missions and permanent missions. The Government of the Upper Volta therefore considers that since a special mission is established for a specific task and since it is temporary, it should be able to act independently of the permanent mission and the tasks entrusted to it by the States concerned ought to be regarded as being outside the competence of the permanent diplomatic mission.

(b) Article 11:

The problem raised in paragraph (12) of the commentary on article 11—that of the discrimination to which some special missions may be subjected in practice in comparison with others—is of great importance at the present time.

Such discrimination is contrary to the sovereign equality of States and to the principles which should guide States in their daily relations with each other; the differences in treatment in the reception of special missions and the way in which they are permitted to begin to function may prejudice the chances of success of the mission itself which should be able to develop in an atmosphere of calm and confidence.

The Government of the Upper Volta considers that a provision on non-discrimination should be included in this article.

(c) Article 12, paragraph (4) of the commentary:

The Government of the Upper Volta would like to support the proposal, mentioned in the commentary on this article, which was submitted in 1960 by the Commission's Special Rapporteur, Mr. Sandström.^{cc}

It is desirable to consider that when negotiations between the special mission and the local authorities are interrupted the mission loses its purpose, and that consequently the interruption of negotiations marks the end of the functions of a special mission.

(d) Article 13:

The Upper Volta considers that the compromise suggested by the Commission, namely that the sending State should have a part in choosing the seat of the special mission, might impair the sovereign authority of the receiving State over its own territory. The Government of the Upper Volta is of the opinion that the receiving State is competent to choose the seat of the mission, without the participation of the sending State, provided that the locality chosen by the receiving State is suitable in the light of all the circumstances which might affect the special mission's efficient functioning.

(e) On the question whether special rules of law should or should not be drafted for so-called "high-level" special missions,

^{cc} Yearbook of the International Law Commission, 1960, vol. II, p. 115, art. 4.

whose heads hold high office in their States,^{dd} the Government of Upper Volta submits the following comments:

It is true that in practice no distinction is made, with respect to legal status, between special missions led by a high official of the sending State and other special missions. The draft provisions concerning these so-called high-level special missions, which have been submitted to Governments for their comments, are therefore likely to draw the attention of Governments to this state of affairs in relations between States.

In rule 2, paragraph (f), concerning the end of the functions of a special mission which is led by a head of State, the interruption of the negotiations which are the purpose of the special mission should also be considered as bringing the mission's functions to an end. The views expressed in paragraph (i) of rule 12 relating to the freedom of movement of a head of State also apply in this case. For reasons of security, it is necessary that there should be an agreement between the sending State and the receiving State limiting the freedom of movement of the head of State.

In practice, however, the situation is often different. Many heads of State, for personal reasons, like to have great freedom of movement in order to be in touch with the mass of the people. Others even like to refuse all protection in certain situations. These are cases which bring up the problem of the security of special missions led by a head of State. The Government of the Upper Volta would like to see specific provisions on this subject included in the draft.

24. Yugoslavia

Transmitted by a letter of 9 April 1966 from the Legal Adviser of the Ministry for Foreign Affairs

[Original: French]

A. GENERAL OBSERVATIONS

The Government of the Socialist Federal Republic of Yugoslavia considers that the rules on special missions should be embodied in a separate international convention in the same manner as the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations, 1961, and the Vienna Convention on Consular Relations, 1963.

The convention should be adopted at a special meeting of State plenipotentiaries which might be held at the time of a session of the General Assembly of the United Nations. The convention could thus be adopted either before or after the session.

B. Specific observations

1. The Government of the Socialist Federal Republic of Yugoslavia considers that the preamble to the convention should give a definition of a special mission and emphasize the differences between special missions and permanent diplomatic missions.

2. The Government of the Socialist Federal Republic of Yugoslavia agrees with the International Law Commission's proposal that an article defining the terms used in the Convention should be inserted as article 1 of the future convention.

3. In the opinion of the Government of the Socialist Federal Republic of Yugoslavia, it should be stated, in article 2 of the convention, as an addition to the text already adopted, that a special mission cannot accomplish the task entrusted to it nor can it exceed its powers except by prior agreement with the receiving State. This would avoid any overlapping of the competence of special missions with that of permanent diplomatic missions. The Government of the Socialist Federal Republic of Yugoslavia considers that some wording should be added to the commentary on that article, stating that the task of a special mission should not be specified in those cases where the special mission's field of activity is known and this should be considered as a definition of its task. An example of that would be the sending and receiving of experts in hydro-technology who are sent and received when two neighbouring countries are threatened by floods in areas liable to flooding.

4. In the opinion of the Government of the Socialist Federal Republic of Yugoslavia, consideration should be given to the possibility of adding to article 4 a provision stating that the receiving State may not declare a person *persona non grata* if that State. by prior agreement with the sending State, had already signified its acceptance of that person as head of the mission, assuming that States agree, at the level of ministers for foreign affairs, to send and receive missions and that, between the agreement and the appointment of the special mission, no change of ministers took place.

5. The Government of the Socialist Federal Republic of Yugoslavia considers that, in view of the fact that there is some inconsistency between the provisions of article 7 and the commentary on that article, the words "and a member of his diplomatic staff" should be inserted after the word "mission" at the beginning of article 7, paragraph 2.

6. In the opinion of the Government of the Socialist Federal Republic of Yugoslavia, the commentary on article 8 should be made consistent with the provisions of that article. Whereas article 8, paragraph 1, sub-paragraph (d), provides for the receiving State to be notified of the members of the mission, the private servants of the head or of a member of the mission or of a member of the mission's staff who are recruited from among the nationals of that State or from among aliens domiciled in its territory, it is stated in paragraph (7) of the commentary that such recruitment is in practice limited to auxiliary staff without diplomatic rank. Since some States allow the recruitment of staff with diplomatic rank, the Government of the Socialist Federal Republic of Yugoslavia considers that the following should be inserted in paragraph (7) of the commentary: "In some countries such recruitment is in practice limited to auxiliary staff without diplomatic rank".

7. As regards precedence and the alphabetical order to be applied under draft article 9, the Government of the Socialist Federal Republic of Yugoslavia considers that the alphabetical order to be adopted should be the one in use in the receiving State, or, in the absence thereof, the method used by the United Nations.

8. In the opinion of the Government of the Socialist Federal Republic of Yugoslavia, consideration should be given to the possibility of guaranteeing, in article 22, the immunity of couriers *ad hoc* during their return journey also, if it immediately follows the delivery of the bag to the special mission.

9. The Government of the Socialist Federal Republic of Yugoslavia considers as justified the proposal for the inclusion of a provision forbidding discrimination, as in article 47 of the Vienna Convention on Diplomatic Relations and article 72 of the Vienna Convention on Consular Relations.

10. The Government of the Socialist Federal Republic of Yugoslavia also considers that there should be special provisions applicable to special missions led by heads of State or heads of Government but not to those led by Ministers for Foreign Affairs and Cabinet Ministers.^{ee} The Yugoslav Government takes the view, however, that such provisions should be included in the body of the convention and not in an annex and should therefore be drafted more concisely.

⁴⁰¹

^{dd} See foot-note g above.

ec Ibid.

Articles of the 1965 draft

-

18

19

20

21

Articles of the 1967 final draft

21

23

25

26

27

28

43 48

20, para. 2

Deleted Deleted

Deleted

Additional articles

17 ter

17 quater

_ ----

ANNEX II

Table of references showing the correspondence between, on the one hand, the articles of the draft on special missions adopted by the Commission in 1965 and the additional articles proposed by the Special Rapporteur in his fourth report, ^b and, on the other hand, the articles of the final draft adopted by the Commission in 1967

			21	10000
		Articles of the 1967	22	
Articles of the 1965 draft	Additional articles	final draft	23	
1000 C	Introductory °	1	24	1 <u>1111111</u>
1, para. 1		2	25	
	1000	7 mars 1	26	
1, para. 2		7, para. 1	27	
2 3	2 5125	3	28	
3			29	
4	2000 A	12	30	
5	—	4	31	
	5 bis	5	32	
6		9		
7		14	33	1000
8		11	34	
9	-	16, paras. 1	35	
		and 3	36	
10		16, para. 2	37	
11		13		
12		20, para. 1	38	1
13		17		
14		10	39	
15		19	40	
16		18	÷	40 bis
17	_	22	41	
	17 bis	Deleted	42	
2230	17 045	Deleted	43	
			44, paras. 1	
^a Yearbook of the International Law Commission, 1965, vol. II,			and 3	
document A/6009.			44, para. 2	
^b A/CN.4/194 and Add.1 and 2.				x
e Also called article 0.				Y